
Meeting of:  COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON 

Date/Time:  Tuesday, January 8, 2019 @ 7:00 p.m.   

Location:  Council Chambers (2nd Floor of Public Safety Building) 

   321 South Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin 

Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Matt Bartlett, Sid Boersma, Phil Caravello, Denise 

Duranczyk, Regina Hirsch, Greg Jenson, Kathleen Johnson,  Tom Majewski, 

Pat O’Connor, Lisa Reeves, Timothy Riley  

ATTENTION COUNCIL MEMBERS: TWO-THIRDS OF MEMBERS NEEDED FOR A QUORUM 

(EIGHT). The Council may only conduct business when a quorum is present. If you are unable to attend 

the meeting, please notify the City Clerk’s office via telephone (608)873-6677 or via email 

hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us  

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

1. Roll Call, Communications, and Presentations:  

 

2. Minutes and Reports: 

RDA (11/14/18); Landmarks (11/8/18); Planning Commission (11/12/18); Parks & Rec (11/20/18); 

Tree Commission (11/8/18); Library Board (11/21/2018); CA CP (12/4/2018)  

 

 

3. Public Comment Period:  

 

4. CONSENT AGENDA 

 

A. December 11, 2018 Council Minutes 

B. R- 1-2019- Resolution Authorizing and directing the proper City official (s) to issue Operator 

Licenses  

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

5. R-2-2019- Approving an extra-territorial jurisdictional (ETJ) land division (CSM) request 

by D and J Alme Partnership for property located at 2394 Leslie Road, Town of Dunkirk, 

Dane County, Wisconsin. (Plan Commission approved 4-0 on December 10, 2018) 

 

 

6. O-1-2019-Amending Ordinance Section 2-376 of the Stoughton Municipal Administration 

Ordinance (Plan Commission approved 14-0 on December 10, 2018)   FIRST READING  

 

 

OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Notice is hereby given that Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, will hold a 

regular or special meeting as indicated on the date and at the time and location given below. 

  

 

mailto:hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us


7. R-3-2019- Approving a request by Kevin Yeska of JSD Professional Services to extend 

the Conditional Use Permit for the project located at Kettle Park West-Lot 15 until 

October 8, 2019   

 

8. R-4-2019- Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to approve the 

appointment and hiring of the City of Stoughton Utilities Director salaried at 

$127,150.40.  An increase to $130,145.60 to occur on 1/1/2020.  $130,145.60 will be 

adjusted by the market increase percent, if approved by Council.  If no market 

increase for 2020, salary would be increased to $13145.60 on 1/1/2020.  (Personnel 

meets January 7, 2019)  *** 

***The Common Council may convene in closed session per State Statute 19.85 (1) 

(c) for the purposes of considering employments, promotion compensation or 

performance evaluation data of any public employee over which the government body 

has jurisdiction over. *** 

 

9. R-5-2019- Authorizing and directing the proper city officials to amend the 2019-2023 

City of Stoughton CIP Budget moving the purchase of a $250,000 high efficiency street 

sweeper from 2021 to 2020 to remain eligible for $54,464 in grant funding (Finance 

meets January 8, 2019)  

 

10. R-6-2019- Formally adopting the WisDOT’s procurement and contract administration 

manual and vehicle disposition guidelines as they relate to Stoughton Transit.(Finance 

approved 5-0 on December 11, 2018) 

 

11. Discussion and possible action regarding the aldermanic seat vacancy in District 4 due to 

the resignation of Nicole Wiessinger  

 

12. R-7-2019- Confirming the Mayor’s appointment of Matt Bartlett to the Utilities 

Committee, pursuant to 2-127 of the Stoughton Municipal Code  

 

13 R-8-2019-Consenting to McFarland State Bank’s request to continue their use of the 

drive-up ATM located at 207 S. Forrest Street through the Second Wednesday in March  

 

14. R-9-2019- Approving the Drive-Through Lease between the City of Stoughton 

(“Landlord”) and McFarland State Bank (“Tenant”) at the real property located at 207 S. 

Forrest Street and 216 E. Main Street. (Finance meets January 8, 2019) *** 

 

**The Common Council  may convene in closed session per State Statute 19.85(1)(e) for 

the purposes of deliberating or negotiating the purchase of public properties, the 

investing of public funds, or conducting other specified public business, whenever 

competitive or bargaining reasons deem a closed session necessary. The Common 

Council may reconvene in an open session to discuss and take action on the subject 

matter discussed in the closed session. *** 

 



15. R-10-2019- Approving the Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between 

Junction 138, LLC and the City of Stoughton, WI for the property located at 3201 

McComb Road. (Finance approved 4-1 on November 27, 2018) *** 

 

***The Common Council  may convene in closed session per State Statute 19.85(1)(e) for 

the purposes of deliberating or negotiating the purchase of public properties, the 

investing of public funds, or conducting other specified public business, whenever 

competitive or bargaining reasons deem a closed session necessary. The Common 

Council may reconvene in an open session to discuss and take action on the subject 

matter discussed in the closed session. *** 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 

aids and services. For information or to request such assistance, please call the City Hall at (608) 873-6677.By: 

Mayor Tim Swadley, Council President Tom Majewski  

 





Meeting of:  COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON 


Date/Time:  Tuesday, January 8, 2019 @ 7:00 p.m.   


Location:  Council Chambers (2nd Floor of Public Safety Building) 


   321 South Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin 


Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Matt Bartlett, Sid Boersma, Phil Caravello, Denise 


Duranczyk, Regina Hirsch, Greg Jenson, Kathleen Johnson,  Tom Majewski, 


Pat O’Connor, Lisa Reeves, Timothy Riley  


ATTENTION COUNCIL MEMBERS: TWO-THIRDS OF MEMBERS NEEDED FOR A QUORUM 


(EIGHT). The Council may only conduct business when a quorum is present. If you are unable to attend 


the meeting, please notify the City Clerk’s office via telephone (608)873-6677 or via email 


hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us  


 


CALL TO ORDER 


 


1. Roll Call, Communications, and Presentations:  


 


2. Minutes and Reports: 


RDA (11/14/18); Landmarks (11/8/18); Planning Commission (11/12/18); Parks & Rec (11/20/18); 


Tree Commission (11/8/18); Library Board (11/21/2018); CA CP (12/4/2018)  


 


 


3. Public Comment Period:  


 


4. CONSENT AGENDA 


 


A. December 11, 2018 Council Minutes 


B. R- 1-2019- Resolution Authorizing and directing the proper City official (s) to issue Operator 


Licenses  


 


OLD BUSINESS 


 


 


NEW BUSINESS 


 


5. R-2-2019- Approving an extra-territorial jurisdictional (ETJ) land division (CSM) request 


by D and J Alme Partnership for property located at 2394 Leslie Road, Town of Dunkirk, 


Dane County, Wisconsin. (Plan Commission approved 4-0 on December 10, 2018) 


 


 


6. O-1-2019-Amending Ordinance Section 2-376 of the Stoughton Municipal Administration 


Ordinance (Plan Commission approved 14-0 on December 10, 2018)   FIRST READING  


 


 


OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Notice is hereby given that Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, will hold a 


regular or special meeting as indicated on the date and at the time and location given below. 


  


 



mailto:hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us





7. R-3-2019- Approving a request by Kevin Yeska of JSD Professional Services to extend 


the Conditional Use Permit for the project located at Kettle Park West-Lot 15 until 


October 8, 2019   


 


8. R-4-2019- Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to approve the 


appointment and hiring of the City of Stoughton Utilities Director salaried at 


$127,150.40.  An increase to $130,145.60 to occur on 1/1/2020.  $130,145.60 will be 


adjusted by the market increase percent, if approved by Council.  If no market 


increase for 2020, salary would be increased to $13145.60 on 1/1/2020.  (Personnel 


meets January 7, 2019)  *** 


***The Common Council may convene in closed session per State Statute 19.85 (1) 


(c) for the purposes of considering employments, promotion compensation or 


performance evaluation data of any public employee over which the government body 


has jurisdiction over. *** 


 


9. R-5-2019- Authorizing and directing the proper city officials to amend the 2019-2023 


City of Stoughton CIP Budget moving the purchase of a $250,000 high efficiency street 


sweeper from 2021 to 2020 to remain eligible for $54,464 in grant funding (Finance 


meets January 8, 2019)  


 


10. R-6-2019- Formally adopting the WisDOT’s procurement and contract administration 


manual and vehicle disposition guidelines as they relate to Stoughton Transit.(Finance 


approved 5-0 on December 11, 2018) 


 


11. Discussion and possible action regarding the aldermanic seat vacancy in District 4 due to 


the resignation of Nicole Wiessinger  


 


12. R-7-2019- Confirming the Mayor’s appointment of Matt Bartlett to the Utilities 


Committee, pursuant to 2-127 of the Stoughton Municipal Code  


 


13 R-8-2019-Consenting to McFarland State Bank’s request to continue their use of the 


drive-up ATM located at 207 S. Forrest Street through the Second Wednesday in March  


 


14. R-9-2019- Approving the Drive-Through Lease between the City of Stoughton 


(“Landlord”) and McFarland State Bank (“Tenant”) at the real property located at 207 S. 


Forrest Street and 216 E. Main Street. (Finance meets January 8, 2019) *** 


 


**The Common Council  may convene in closed session per State Statute 19.85(1)(e) for 


the purposes of deliberating or negotiating the purchase of public properties, the 


investing of public funds, or conducting other specified public business, whenever 


competitive or bargaining reasons deem a closed session necessary. The Common 


Council may reconvene in an open session to discuss and take action on the subject 


matter discussed in the closed session. *** 


 







15. R-10-2019- Approving the Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between 


Junction 138, LLC and the City of Stoughton, WI for the property located at 3201 


McComb Road. (Finance approved 4-1 on November 27, 2018) *** 


 


***The Common Council  may convene in closed session per State Statute 19.85(1)(e) for 


the purposes of deliberating or negotiating the purchase of public properties, the 


investing of public funds, or conducting other specified public business, whenever 


competitive or bargaining reasons deem a closed session necessary. The Common 


Council may reconvene in an open session to discuss and take action on the subject 


matter discussed in the closed session. *** 


 


 


ADJOURNMENT 


Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 


aids and services. For information or to request such assistance, please call the City Hall at (608) 873-6677.By: 


Mayor Tim Swadley, Council President Tom Majewski  


 








REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY MEETING MINUTES  
Wednesday, November 14, 2018  
Hall of Fame Room 


 


Present:  Roger Springman, Denise Duranczyk, Regina Hirsch, Carl Chenoweth and Dale Reeves 


Absent and Excused:  Brian Girgen 


Others Present: Mayor Swadley, Finance Director Friedl, Sharon Mason-Boersma, Emily Bahr, Alexander 


Cramer, Alderperson Johnson, Alderperson Riley 


Call to Order: Called to order at 5:30 p.m. by Springman  


Communications:  


Becker provided a brief summary of the Whitewater Park financing/budgeting meeting between Gary 


Becker, Finance Director Friedl, Parks and Recreation Director Glynn and Mayor Swadley immediately 


preceding the 11/14/18 RDA meeting. Major topics included financing of the proposed 2019 RDA 


projects and confirmation that efforts were not being duplicated between the RDA and the City of 


Stoughton Parks and Recreation Department. 


Springman provided an update on the information presented at the 11/13/18 City Council meeting. 


Springman informed the members that Peggy Veregin communicated concerns related to stabilizing the 


Blacksmith Shop and that she wishes to allow the RDA and potential developers to determine the future 


of the Blacksmith Shop.  


Springman provided a DCHI forum summary including a video produced by DCHI. Further discussion was 


held related to the available options for providing affordable housing in future. 


Public Comments:  


Emily Bahr commented on the discussion held related to affordable housing and the ability to make 


smaller lot sizes available to make houses/properties more affordable. She would like to see the City to 


allow for deviation from the existing standards. Duranczyk pointed out that the Southern properties in 


the Nordic Ridge development are smaller to allow for smaller/more affordable homes. The intent when 


approving this design was to create more affordable homes.  


 


Alderperson Johnson discussed experiences with contacts in La Crosse which ultimately led to a tour 


with the Local Historical Society. She was notably impressed with the Main Street Program in La Crosse 


and would like to see additional development in Stoughton’s Downtown area.  


Approval of October 10, 2018 Minutes 


Motion by Duranczyk to approve the October 10th minutes, second by Chenoweth. Motioned passed 6 


to 0. 


Finance Report  


Director Friedl provided a brief overview of the year-to-date October 31st financial statements for the 


RDA and TIF No. 5. 







Old Business items  


a.  Marathon site update 


Springman noted that Nelson has not yet signed the Mutual Release Agreement, but 


has committed to do so. The RDA is entitled to keep the $5,000 in earnest money. 


Hirsch inquired if there is anyone else interested in the site. Springman noted a 


change in the status of the Cenex Station (sold) has changed a potential buyer’s 


mind. Discussion related to the clean-up of the site and the challenges associated 


with it due to the current ground water level followed. Chenoweth inquired if the 


ground water level has been confirmed other than simply taking Nelson’s word for 


it. Recommendation was made that City staff review the report and what type of 


property can be placed on the site (basement/no basement). 


 


Motion by Chenoweth to have City staff review all available environmental reports 


on the Marathon site to ascertain what level of contamination or issues exist that 


could impede future development, second by Duranczyk. Motion passed 6 to 0. 


 


b. Demolition process and Blacksmith Shop stabilization updates  


Becker noted that the HWY building is down, the Milfab buildings are down, and a 


large pile of crushed concrete aggregate remains on-site. Chenoweth noted this will 


be disposed of off-site. Discussion followed on the RDA's October meeting dealing 


with recommendations on the crushed aggregate. No cost savings were obtained 


due to other ongoing issues with the contractor and the contract provides the 


contractor with first right to use the crushed material. It was also confirmed that the 


DNR approved the plan related to laying crushed aggregate near the river bank to 


create a base due to the ground water levels/spring being so high. 


Springman informed the members that the brick wall came down on the NW corner 


of the building in late October. Kurt Straus from Structural Integrity was on-site the 


following Monday to provide analysis. Earth Construction is prepared to walk away 


from the building as he felt he did what was required in the contract. Springman 


noted that Director Gillingham agrees with the RDA that he appears in breach of 


contract and recommended filing a notice of contract default with the bonding 


company (sent last week).  


Chenoweth would like an opinion from the City Attorney and Director Gillingham 


related to moving forward with stabilizing and repairing the building.  It was 


determined that either Springman or Chenoweth will discuss with Director 


Gillingham on 11/15 to receive further direction.  


Motion by Hirsch to have Straus prepare a plan to take essential steps to stabilize 


the Blacksmith Shop through the next year as a follow up to his initial plan taking 


into consideration the recent damage. This is pending further discussions with 


Director Gillingham and City Attorney to determine if anything is preventing the 


RDA from moving forward with bracing/repairing the Blacksmith Shop. If it is 


determined the RDA can move forward the costs associated with bracing/repairing 







the Blacksmith Shop shall not exceed $30,000. Second by Reeves. Motion passed 6 


to 0.  


c. Phase II work plan update for demolition area  


 


Becker noted that AECOM is currently working on the Phase II study and will deliver 


a soil management plan for the area. The final report should be available Mid-


December. 


 


d. RFEI progress update  


Becker provided a handout of highlights of the Request for Expressions of Interest 


(RFEI) conversation held with Jason Gilman, Planner, City of La Crosse on November 


6th. 


Becker and Springman provided a brief summary of the key items contained in the 


handout and other relevant parts of the conversation.  


Becker discussed the Table of Contents of the proposed RFEI and plans to bring a 


draft document to the December RDA meeting. Submittal and evaluation criteria 


will also be developed as part of this process. 


The proposed RFEI will include the fact that the final use of the Blacksmith Shop has 


not yet been determined, but leave open for developers to express interest in 


inclusion/exclusion. 


Hirsch inquired as to how properties the RDA does not yet own will be handled. 


Becker noted that those issues will be addressed at the time the RFEI is issued and 


documented accordingly.  


e. Parcel Transfer process update and possible action for Phase II work at Public 


Works garage site  


 


The City wants to see that the Powerhouse is protected or parceled off as part of 


the development. The City wants to retain control of the property until they know 


the Powerhouse will be protected. Scheel will work with the City Attorney to 


develop language to transfer the Public Works building and address the Powerhouse 


at a later date. Transfer of the Public Works building property would take place 


immediately following the Public Works Department’s departure and the 


environmental assessment would commence thereafter.  


 


Becker described the challenges related to the WEDC SAG grant and the City’s 


ownership of the property.  


 


 







Motion by Hirsch requesting the Mayor to meet with the State Historical Society to 


determine the impact of the raceway on the historic tax credit potential of the 


Powerhouse, second by Duranczyk. Motion passed 6 to 0. 


 


Motion by Chenoweth to move forward with the partial transfer of the Public Works 


parcel separate from the Powerhouse parcel to expedite its transfer to the RDA, 


second by Hirsch. Motion passed 6 to 0. 


New Business 


a.  Proposal for downtown master planning process and possible action  


 


Duranczyk provided a draft resolution related to creating a Master Plan for the 


Central Business District and was joined by Sharon Mason-Boersma. The initial plan 


is to encompass vacant upper level suites as well as the Railroad Corridor and East 


Main Street properties. Duranczyk proposed a committee would be formed to 


include RDA members, Council members, Planning Commission members, 


Downtown business owners and a consultant to develop the Master Plan. Mason-


Boersma provided a summary of her interactions with downtown business owners 


and experiences with what other area municipalities are doing.  


 


Duranczyk will draft the language for consideration at the December Council 


meeting. 


 


Motion by Chenoweth to broadly accept the resolution provided in the packet 


following proper formatting to direct the RDA to move forward with developing a 


Master Plan for the Central Business District, second by Trow. Motion passed 6 to 0. 


 


b.  Revolving Loan Fund update and possible action to change/update program  


 


Trow provided an update related to the status of the existing revolving loan fund 


program. Trow noted that business owners are concerned with the confidentiality of 


their financial information and the fact that the information is provided to the RDA 


for review. Option could be to simply rely on the underwriter’s opinion. Another 


hurdle is the 50% of funding match requirement. Option is to leave the ceiling but 


lift the matching requirement. It was noted that the March 2018 minutes reflected 


reducing the interest rate to 0%. Trow recommended charging a lower flat fee to 


cover administrative costs. Trow also believes that a business plan and detailed 


projections for any project is overkill and should not be required with the exception 


being start-ups. Trow also recommended changing the repayment structure of the 


loan which is currently interest only with a balloon payment of principal at the end 


of the term.   


 


Motion by Trow to change program to remove the 50% project cost match 


requirement with a maximum loan of $50,000, change to amortization of P&I for a 







term of up to 60 months, charge a 3% flat interest rate, require existing businesses 


to provide 2 years of financial information to the underwriter, require new 


businesses to provide business plans and detailed projections to the underwriter 


and allow the underwriter to approve all future loans, second by Chenoweth. 


Motion passed 6 to 0.  


 


c.  Preliminary discussion on Riverfront Restoration process  


Becker noted that Director Glynn has a plan in place for the Whitewater Park and 


riverbank needs. Glynn will work with Gary Lacey to categorize the costs and 


provide more clarification related to the order the projects should be completed. 


Chenoweth confirmed the RDA should go forward with planned work on the 


riverbank for 2019 along with all design work (including the pedestrian bridge). 


Chenoweth also recommended one firm design the work needed on both sides of 


the river along with the pedestrian bridge. The RDA work would need to be 


downstream of the powerhouse and the Mandt Park side work would be from the 


Fourth Street Bridge down. It was suggested the RDA wait to determine land 


dedication to the trail system until further into the design phase. Additional 


discussion is planned for the December RDA meeting.  


Motion by Chenoweth to allow the Parks and Recreation Department to solicit 


engineering/design firms for the trail system, green space and riverbank 


restoration for work to be done in calendar year 2019, second by Duranczyk. 


Motion passed 6 to 0. 


 


Agenda items for December 12, 2018 meeting  


Continued discussion related to Riverfront Restoration Process 


Chenoweth recommended having an individual come to the January RDA meeting to discuss the PACE 


WI Program 


WAM Grant application for HWY Trailer Phase II Study 


 


Adjourn 


Motioned by Duranczyk to adjourn the meeting, second by Trow, Motion passed 6 to 0 to adjourn at 


8:42 p.m. 


 


 


 







 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\LANDMARKS\2018\Landmarks Minutes 11-8-18.doc 


Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 


Thursday November 8, 2018 – 6:30 pm 


City Hall, Hall of Fame Room, Lower Level, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI. 
 


Members Present:  Alan Hedstrom, Vice-Chair; Greg Pigarelli, Secretary; Tom Majewski; Kimberly 


Cook; and Todd Hubing, Kristy Panthofer 


Absent: Peggy Veregin, Chair 


Staff: None 


Guests: None  


 


1. Call to order.  Hedstrom called the meeting to order at 6:34 pm. 


 


2. Consider approval of the Landmarks Commission meeting minutes of October 11, 2018.   


Motion by Hubing to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Cook.  Motion carried 6 – 0. 


 


3. Status update for the Power Plant building. 


Discussed dam and raceway removal. 


 


4. Status update for Highway Trailer / Moline Plow building redevelopment. 


The October 10, 2018 RDA minutes are provided in the packet. 


 


Thirty feet of north side of blacksmith building wall blew in during high winds last week. 


Council talked of lifting demolition moratorium.  The project might be beyond saving.  


 


5. Discuss Linderud photo collection. 


Hubing - historicstoughton.org.  Hubing provided an example of screen print with watermark. 


Commission discussed watermark to satisfy the Stoughton Historical Society requirements for 


website use.  Example photo was 800 pixel wide and low resolution. Dave Kalland will be 


speaking about the collection at the next Our Old House meeting on November 15 at Learn EMC. 


  


6. Discuss Community Outreach. 


Hedstrom - farmers market outreach table discussion.  


Panthofer - logo, banner design & content marketing with social media on hold for personal 


reasons. 


 


7. Discuss 2018 Preservation Award. 


Veregin plans to write a letter for the preservation award.  A presentation is anticipated at a future 


Council meeting.  


 


2018 award to Badger Theater.  Future award possibly dragon house upon completion.  


 


8. Status of 2017 and 2018 local landmark grants. 


A spreadsheet summarizing the grants is provided in the packet. 


Next Tuesday the city budget will be approved with landmarks funding intact. TIF funding will 


have excess monies to distribute. 


 


9. Discuss 2019 Budget. 


The 2019 budget will be known by November 13th. 


 







Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 


11/8/18 


Page 2 of 5 


 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\LANDMARKS\2018\Landmarks Minutes 11-8-18.doc  


10. Discuss Historic Preservation Conference - Elkhart Lake. 


Hedstrom gave an overview of the historical preservation conference including a presentation by 


the City of Superior & “Buffalove” which were highlights of the conference.  Both presentations 


dealt with the importance of small scale development and how it can take advantage of vacant 


buildings and prevent needless demolition. Notes from the Superior presentation are attached. 


 


11. Commission Reports/Calendar.  


Nothing discussed  


 


12. Future agenda items. 


Preservation awards; TIF - funding available for main Street projects; Outreach; Grants program 


out to a broader market 


 


13. Adjournment. Motion by Majewski to adjourn at 7:38 pm, 2nd by Cook.  Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 


 


 


Respectfully Submitted,  


 


Gregory Pigarelli 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 


11/8/18 


Page 3 of 5 


 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\LANDMARKS\2018\Landmarks Minutes 11-8-18.doc  


Historic Preservation & Vacant Housing in Superior:  From Liabilities to Assets 


by Jim Paine, Mayor of Superior  


Brian Finstad, Planning Commission member, City of Superior 


Jeff Skrenes, Housing Coordinator, City of Superior 


 


 


Jim Paine said he became Mayor of Superior, WI, by talking about housing.  For several years, historic 


district houses had been falling into disrepair.  And people had been talking about demolishing them.  


People used a line, “We have the oldest housing stock in Wisconsin” to criticize that.   But he also 


knew that people had pride in place.  He started talking about making it better, and trying to change 


talk about the “the oldest housing stock“ to “the most beautiful housing stock”. But he knew he 


couldn’t do that by himself, and that he needed friends.  At this point, he introduced his “fixers”: Plan 


Commissioner Brian Finstad and Housing Coordinator Jeff Skrenes. * 


 


Brian and Jeff took turns talking about their experiences working with distressed housing in 


Minneapolis, and the process they came up with to save blighted buildings instead of just demolishing 


them, which had been the modus operandi. 


 


 During the foreclosure crisis in 2008, almost every other house in some neighborhoods of Minneapolis 


was boarded up. But the rehab $ estimate was too high to interest anyone in doing that.  At the same 


time, they figured that the numbers used for demolition estimates were upside down, and that private 


guys could do rehab for half that price.  But the bureaucracy of city government was such that 


demolition was the preferred solution.  They figured they had to tell the City that their numbers were 


wrong. This is how they figured the cost of demolition: 


 


$10K - $25K : cost to tear down 


$1K    per year to mow 


$1.5K   per year, lost prop tax revenue 


$30K - $70K  subsidy for new construction 


 


In other words, each demolished house cost taxpayers an average of ~ $100K 


This is also the money saved by not doing a demolition. 


 


So, they were able to turns things around gradually, and get some houses renovated. But progress was 


slow, as they were having to fight the bureaucracy to save each vacant or blighted house for someone 


to renovate.  They figured there had to be a better way than fighting the city bureaucracy to save every 


blighted house from demolition, as this takes a lot of time and energy that could be better spent 


actually renovating the houses.  


 


What they decided they needed was a system, and a quasi-government entity, to acquire and save the 


houses until they could be put up for sale, sold and then renovated. 


 


They came up with the Vacant House Process.  The following steps of that process list how they get 


from Before to After, without fighting the bureaucracy to save and eventually renovate every house. 


 
I. Acquisition 


a. Donated from private party 


b. Sale 







Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 


11/8/18 


Page 4 of 5 


 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\LANDMARKS\2018\Landmarks Minutes 11-8-18.doc  


c. Tax forfeiture & Transfer from County (needs clear, marketable title) 


II. Public Notice of Sale (how to get word out that homes are for sale) 


a. Statutory requirement (e.g. City website) 


b. MLS 


c. Demandstar or similar 


d. Targeted to underserved groups (e.g., Spanish radio stations or print media) 


e. Direct Outreach 


III. Standards (for RFPs of potential buyers) 


a. End use description (e.g. homeowners) 


b. Feasibility in proposal 


c. Track record of applicant (e.g., slumlord? ) 


d. Design 


IV. Review (of applicant proposals) 


a. By task force or neighborhood group 


b. City staff 


c. City Council 


d. Timeline should be as close to market process as possible 


 


It’s an example of what can happen when you let market come in. 


 


Arguments against this new approach (and counter-arguments) include: 


 


- Have never done it before   (doesn’t mean it will fail) 


- Did it before and didn’t work (may have been administered poorly) 


- Abused by slumlords  (this is why you have standards) 


- Nobody wants these houses  (maybe they didn’t know were available) 


- Costs too much to repair  (let small scale developer decide) 


 


Gave example that used new process – “blue tarp house” 


- Bought for $1 


- Small scale developer put $120K into rehab 


- Was listed for $176K 


- Sold for (same?) 


 


What creates value? 


- Demand 


- Utility 


- Scarcity 


- Transferability 


In other words, let the market decide, instead of letting someone say it needs demolition. 


 


Making available for $1, instead of paying $20K to demolish.  Almost everyone who buys a vacant 


house for $1 will find a way to rehab it. 


 


Have to keep in mind utility (usefulness).  Need a change in mindset – old houses are assets, not a 


liability.   Because when the utility of a house has expired, that’s an opportunity.  Then it’s at a point 







Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 


11/8/18 


Page 5 of 5 


 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\LANDMARKS\2018\Landmarks Minutes 11-8-18.doc  


where it can be offered for $1 (or modest amount), and it’s also at that point where a small scale 


developer is willing to take it on.  


 


Moral of the story:  “There were many who thought that they had a blighted houses problem.  What 


they didn’t realize was what they actually had was a ‘bureaucracy dealing with a blighted houses’ 


problem.  They just needed a more creative approach.” 


 


“You have no better ally than the market.” 


 


For more info on this topic, you can google “Vacant House Recycling Program in Minneapolis”.  Here 


are also pertinent links: 


 


https://nextdoor.com/agency-post/mn/minneapolis/city-of-minneapolis/learn-about-the-citys-vacant-


housing-recycling-program-tour-2207-16th-avenue-south-on-friday-feb-19-21637155/ 


 


http://www.minneapolismn.gov/cped/housing/MinneapolisHomes 


 


* Brian Finstad is from the Superior area originally, but had moved to Minneapolis about a decade ago, 


where he earned much of his housing experience before moving back to Superior.  Jim said he 


appointed Brian to the Plan Commission immediately after his election.  As a member of the mayor’s 


housing task force, Brian recommended that a position be created in their planning department 


dedicated to housing issues. He also highly recommended hiring Jeff Skrenes, whom he had gotten to 


know in Minneapolis. Jeff worked there as a mortgage originator and what Jim said can only be 


described as a “housing activist.” After Jeff was hired, he moved to Superior and bought a distressed 


house in a distressed neighborhood. 
   


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 



https://nextdoor.com/agency-post/mn/minneapolis/city-of-minneapolis/learn-about-the-citys-vacant-housing-recycling-program-tour-2207-16th-avenue-south-on-friday-feb-19-21637155/

https://nextdoor.com/agency-post/mn/minneapolis/city-of-minneapolis/learn-about-the-citys-vacant-housing-recycling-program-tour-2207-16th-avenue-south-on-friday-feb-19-21637155/

http://www.minneapolismn.gov/cped/housing/MinneapolisHomes





Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 


Monday, November 12, 2018 at 6:00 pm 
Public Safety Building, Council Chambers, Second Floor, 321 S. Fourth Street, Stoughton, 
WI. 
 


Members Present:  Mayor Tim Swadley, Chair; Matt Bartlett, Vice-Chair; Todd Barman; Phil 


Caravello; Greg Jenson; and Tom Robinson 


Members Absent: Tom Selsor 


Staff:  Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning & Development  


Press: None 


Guests: Kathy Kamp; Nicholas McCullough; Ariya Indalecio – Yellow Bird; Amanda Venturino; 


Cindy Thompson, Linda Mueller, Sid Boersma, Emily Bahr, Jordan Tilleson and Bobbi Fons. 


 


1. Call to order.  Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 


 


2. Consider approval of the Plan Commission meeting minutes of October 8, 2018.   


Motion by Bartlett to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Jenson.  Motion carried 6 – 0. 


 


3. Council Representative Report. 


Bartlett reported that Council approved the RHD Annexation of the Granrud Farm and several 


ETJ actions.  The Council appreciated the Commission’s work on the Downtown Design Overlay 


Zoning District regulations.  He reported the second reading on the ordinance will be on 


November 14, 2018. 


 


4. Staff Report - Status of Current Developments. 


Scheel gave an overview of the status of current developments as outlined in the packet.  He 


highlighted the new Public Works Facility is planned to be completed by the end of 2018 and 


discussed the solar component of the project. 


 


5. Request by Kathy Kamp, Wisconsin Partnership for Housing Development to rezone the 
property at 1125 W. Main Street from SR-4 Single Family Residential to MR-10 – Multi-


Family Residential. 
Scheel gave an overview of the request. 


 


Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 


 


Kathy Kamp reported the project is planned to include 4 affordable rental units in one building.  


They anticipate the units will be two 2 bedroom units and two 3 bedroom units.  START will 


provide support to the tenants and will be the organization referring tenants for placement in the 


building. 


 


Cindy Thompson of the START spoke in favor of the rezoning. 


Linda Mueller spoke in favor of the rezoning. 


Sid Boersma spoke in favor of the rezoning. 


Jordan Tilleson owns the Doggy Daycare next door and requests that a sound barrier be part of the 


project.  He reported their Dog Daycare facility has been in place for 3 years with no noise 


complaints. 


Bobbi Fons spoke in favor of the rezoning. 


 


Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 







Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 


11/12/18 


Page 2 of 2 


 


Motion by Jenson to recommend the Common Council approve the rezoning as presented, 2nd by 


Bartlett.  Motion carried 6 – 0. 


 


6. Request for design approval by Nicholas McCullough for new sign at 135 W. Main Street. 
Staff had previously been informed the business is no longer planning to move to this location so 
there is no need to take action on this item.   


 


7. Request for design approval by Ariya Indalecio – Yellow Bird for new sign at 208 W. Main 


Street. 
Scheel introduced the request and indicated the applicant is present to answer questions.  Barman 


asked for clarification on the colors of the sign. 


 


Motion by Bartlett to approve the resolution as presented, 2nd by Caravello.   


Motion carried 6 – 0. 


 


8. Discuss potential ordinance amendments. 


Scheel explained there are many amendments to consider.  The Commission discussed the 


magnitude of the project and recognized it will take some time to work through them.  Bartlett 


acknowledged there is significant staff time involved in processing revisions.  The Commission 


discussed trying to prioritize them.  The Commission acknowledged Amanda Venturino’s request 


to increase the number of chickens allowed.  They suggested that we work to address bee 


regulations first since it is in the works with the City Attorney already.  In the first batch they 


suggested it may be possible to consider chicken regulations, Plan Commission secretary 


appointment, and electrical licensing regulations.  They would like to see these 4 items at the 


December meeting if possible. 


 


9. Future agenda items. 


Ordinance revisions. 


 


10. Adjournment. 


Motion by Bartlett to adjourn at 6:45 pm, 2nd by Caravello.  Motion carried 6 – 0. 


 


Respectfully Submitted, 


 


Rodney Scheel 


  


 


  


 


 


 


 


 
T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Planning Commission\2018\Planning Minutes  11-12-18.docx 







PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 
November 20, 2018 
6:00 PM 
Stoughton City Hall – Ed Overland Room  
 
Present: Alderpersons: Phil Caravello, Denise Duranczyk, Regina Hirsch, Nicole Wiessinger, 
Mayor Tim Swadley, and Parks & Recreation Director Dan Glynn 
Guests: None  
 
1. Call to Order 
Meeting called to order at 6:00 pm.  
 
2. Approval of the Minutes from October 29, 2018   
Motion to approve the minutes as presented by Wiessinger and seconded by Caravello. Motion 
carried unanimously.  
 
3. Communications 
 
Director’s Report  
Duranczyk had questions about Gazebo Music Series and sponsorship.Caravello had question 


about River Bluff trail feasibility. 


Work Load & Prioritization  
Swadley and Glynn reviewed efficiencies including meeting minutes, delegation of duties and 
participation.  
 
Old Business 
 
4. Open Space Plan Update (Discussion & Possible Action) 
Motion by Duranczyk and seconded by Wiessinger to approve plan with changes submitted by 
Hirsch & Duranczyk. Motion carried unanimously.  
 
5. Chalet Court Parkland  
Discussion occurred, no action was taken. 
 
6. Whitewater Park Update (Discussion & Possible Action)  
This item was moved up in case Gary Lacy was needed to participate by phone. The Timeline 
PowerPoint was reviewed. 
 
Motion by Hirsch and seconded by Duranczyk to direct staff to write a RFP for Dam Removal 
Feasibility Study with three phases;  
 
Phase I- Sediment sampling and analysis 
 
Phase II-Hydrologic, including Baseline, Dam out, and Whitewater Park Features. 
 
Phase III-Feasibility 
 
and bring results to Whitewater Steering Committee and Park & Recreation Committee for 
approval. 
 
Motion carried unanimously.  
 
7. Future Agenda Items  
Mandt Park Master Plan 
Chalet Court Park 
Economic Impact Study of Whitewater Park. 
 
Adjournment 
Motion at 7:13 to adjourn by Duranczyk and seconded by Caravello. Motion carried unanimously. 
 


 







 


 


Tree Commission Meeting Minutes 


Thursday, November 8, 2018 at 5:00 PM 


Ed Overland Room, 381 E Main St, Stoughton 
 
Members Present:   Dean Tangeman, Mike Point, Kevin Short and Sid Boersma   


Absent & Excused:    Mitch Bergeson and Nick Yuknis 


Guest:   


Staff:   City Forester John Kemppainen and Street Department Secretary Vickie Erdahl  


Call to order:  Tangeman called to order @ 5:05 PM  


 
1)   Communications:   


Kemppainen stated: 


 A tree was struck by lightning @ 116 S Madison St. on 11/4/18 which took out power and is now 
removed. 


 Spoke with Brian Wahl of the DNR regarding our 2017 Growth Award which was never received by 
him.  He has agreed that we can resubmit the information along with our 2018 information for 
consideration. 


 Tangeman stated that Dane County will not let us borrow their equipment for a tree climb which was a 
thought for an Arbor Day Event in 2019 (separate discussion on the agenda under new business) 


 Bergeson requested that the committee review updated city web site as “tree” information was never 
carried over from the old site 


 Boersma informed the committee that a program to provide housing (4plex) for the homeless was being 
reviewed for the spring of 2019.  If this housing is built, Boersma, was asking if we could help with 
supplying a tree(s) to help offset costs per the new city tree planting ordinance. 
 


 
2) October Forestry Reports:  Kemppainen stated : 


 Tree planting was completed during the last week of October.  In total, 136 trees were planted (5 of 


which were under warranty). 


 Road construction projects are completed and trees have been planted to counter the tree losses. 


 Ash tree stump removals in Racetrack Park were completed. 


 The Yahara River Trail ash tree removals were completed.  Over one hundred twenty (120) ash trees 


were removed in total. 


 Review of private hazard tree ordinance legality for upcoming EAB issues is ongoing. 


 In house crews removed approximately 30 tree stumps in terraces in October. 


 The remaining kiln-dried ash lumber was cut down to the proper size for the Virgin Lake Park trail 


boardwalk project.  Installation of the boardwalk is now tentatively scheduled for spring of 2019. 


 Assisted with brush collection program (entire week of 10/22/18). 


 Attended meeting at Madison College to help advise on structuring a new Urban Forestry Associates 


Degree program.  I will now serve on a committee to steer purchases for the new program as well. 


 Met with woodshop instructor at Stoughton High School regarding future work with the Ag students 


(FFA and woodshop).  They would like the solar kiln to be dropped off at the high school soon for a 


project.  A small amount of cedar lumber was also sold to and delivered to the High School woodshop. 
 


 







 


 


3) Discussion and Possible Action on Wood Inventory Sales Plan:  Kemppainen generated pricing per 
board foot that will be charged when the boards are sold. Hebert is talking with the city attorney regarding 
whether we have to charge sales tax when the wood is sold to the public. The committee is thinking of 
having a time for open sales to the public and the wood is considered to be a city asset. 


A $20.00 donation was received at the Senior Center for the sale of a piece of cherry wood and brought to 
the meeting to be deposited to the tree commission funds. 


4) Discussion on Tree City USA Categories – Selection:  After a short discussion Category A 5 was 
selected to use to obtain our Tree City USA Growth Awards.   


5)  Approval of minutes from October 11, 2018 Meeting:  Motion by Boersma seconded by Point to 
approve the minutes.  Carried 4-0. 
 


6)  Discussion regarding Tree City USA Event for 2019 – Youth Education /Tree Climbing:  Tangeman 
spoke with Adan Alves and was made aware that Madison cannot loan us the equipment to use here in 
the city and is checking into other options. A time and location will need to be chosen along with ways to 
advertise.  Tangeman is checking into a waiver form that we could use. 


 
7)  Discussion and Possible Action on Wood Utilization Plan: Kemppainen is still revising the document.  


Previous minutes were obtained with instructions for the Senior Center Director, McGlynn and Erdahl to 
work on a split of the funds which the committee feels we could use as a template at the point and to set 
up a meeting to discuss. 


 
8)  Future Agenda Items:  Website, Update Wood Inventory Plan and Wood Utilization Policy and 2019 


Arbor Day Event, Review planting specs 
 


 
Motion by Short, seconded by Tangeman to adjourn the meeting at 6:00 p.m.  Respectfully submitted 11/15/18, Vickie 
Erdahl - Staff  







STOUGHTON PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 


MEETING MINUTES 


November 21, 2018 @ 6:30 P.M. 


CARNEGIE ROOM, STOUGHTON PUBLIC LIBRARY 


 


PRESENT: Ken Axe, Dane County Representative; Sam Baughn, Student Representative; Sid 


Boersma, City Council Representative; Heather Danielson;  Petra Horst, Library Board President; 


Jean Ligocki; Linda Schaefer; Mike Vienneau, Library Board Vice-President  


ABSENT: Sandra Black; Jeff Fimreite, Stoughton Area School District Representative 


ALSO PRESENT: Richard MacDonald, Library Director; Sarah Monette, Library Administrative 


Assistant; Jeff Russell, Russell Consulting 


 


I. CALL TO ORDER. President Horst called the meeting to order at 6:30 P.M. Five voting Board 


members, Axe, Danielson, Horst, Ligocki, Schaefer, were present, constituting a quorum. 


 


II. REVIEW OF AGENDA. Horst moved Item VIII to III. 


 


III. BOARD IN-SERVICE: Presentation from Russell Consulting 
Russell went over the results of the community needs survey. 


 


[Boersma arrived 6:33 P.M.] 


[Vienneau arrived 6:35 P.M.] 
 


Schaefer asked the Planning Committee to present a plan for using this data sometime early in 


2019. Ligocki suggested February. 


 


[Russell left 7:30 P.M.] 
 


IV. REVIEW/APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF OCTOBER 17, 2018. Moved by Axe, second 


by Vienneau, to approve the minutes as presented. Motion carried 7-0. 


 


V. RECOGNITION OPPORTUNITIES. None. 


 


VI. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD. None. 


 


VII. CORRESPONDENCE. Correspondence was passed around. 


 


VIII. EDUCATION UPDATES. None. 


 


IX. REVIEW/APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR OCTOBER 2018. 


MacDonald presented. 


A. Fund 215. Moved by Schaefer, second by Ligocki, to approve the September 2018 financial 


statements for Fund 215 as presented. Motion carried 7-0 


B. Fund 217. Moved by Ligocki, second by Danielson, to approve the September 2018 


financial statements for Fund 217 as presented. Motion carried 7-0. Schaefer noted an 


apparent discrepancy in the financial report. MacDonald and Monette promised to look 


into it. 







C. Stoughton Area Community Foundation. The Board reviewed the financial statements for 


the SACF's pass-through account for the Library. The statements were accepted by 


consensus. 


 


X. REVIEW/APPROVAL OF BILLS FOR NOVEMBER 2018. 


MacDonald presented. 


A. Fund 215, Moved by Vienneau, second by Ligocki, to approve the September 2018 bills for 


Fund 215 as presented. Motion carried 8-0. 


B. Fund 217. Moved by Ligocki, second by Danielson, to approve the August 2018 bills for 


Fund 217 as presented. Motion carried 8-0. 


 


XI. DIRECTOR’S REPORT. 
A. MacDonald presented the statistics for October 2018. 


B. In addition to his written report, MacDonald informed the Board of SCLS’s ongoing 


digitization project; some articles which volunteer Eloise Christensen put together about a 


WWI display at the library around Armistice Day, 1919; a number of upcoming events; 


the books MacDonald is judging for the Ben Franklin Award. He told them that the 


Library’s Craft Club was mentioned in School Library Journal; the Verona and Fitchburg 


libraries are ending fines; the Volunteer Appreciation Breakfast is Tuesday, December 18; 


John Montgomery, the City’s IT Director, is arranging for all departments in the City of 


Stoughton to share one Amazon Prime account, which will significantly cut the amount the 


Library pays for Amazon Prime. 


 


XII. COMMITTEE REPORTS. 
A. Finance Committee: did not meet. 


B. Personnel Committee: did not meet. 


C. Planning Committee: has action items on tonight’s agenda 


D. Policies Committee: has action items on tonight’s agenda 


 


XIII. FRIENDS OF THE LIBRARY REPORT. 
MacDonald reported that the Friends are planning to give $12,000 to the Library in 2019; they 


have an opening for someone to write their newsletter; they still intend not to have Pie Place on 


the Friday of Syttende Mai; they will be recognizing Priscilla Flood as Friend of the Year. 


 


XIV. OLD BUSINESS. 
A. Gift, Donation, Bequest Policy. Schaefer presented. Moved by Vienneau, second by Axe, 


to approve the policy as presented. Motion carried 7-0. 


B. Special Gift Fund Policy. Schaefer presented. Moved by Vienneau, second by Ligocki, to 


approve the policy as presented. Motion carried 7-0. 


  


XV. NEW BUSINESS. 


A. Patron Registration/Library Card Use Policy, MacDonald presented. Ligocki noted a 


correction. Moved by Axe, second by Danielson, to approve the policy as corrected. Motion 


carried 7-0. 


B. Library Materials Use Policy. MacDonald presented. Moved by Boersma, second by 


Ligocki, to approve the policy as presented. Motion carried 7-0. 







C. Appropriate Library Behavior Policy. Schaefer presented. Moved by Axe, second by 


Ligocki, to accept the policy as presented. Motion carried 7-0. After the motion, an error 


was noted in the policy. It was agreed by consensus to send the policy back to committee 


and discuss it again as an old business item in December. 


D. Unattended Children Policy. Schaefer presented. Ligocki noted a series of proofreading 


errors. At Schaefer’s request, the Board agreed by consensus to table this policy until the 


December meeting. 


E. Social Media Policy. Schaefer presented. Moved by Ligocki, second by Vienneau, to 


approve the policy as presented. Motion carried 7-0. 


F. Review 2019 Board Calendar of Work. Vienneau presented. Moved by Vienneau, second 


by Ligocki, to approve the Calendar of Work as presented. Motion carried 7-0. 


G. Expenditures for refreshments at December Library Board meeting. Vienneau announced 


that the December meeting will be held at Wildwood Café. Moved by Ligocki, second by 


Vienneau, to approve the expenditure of up to $225 on refreshments. Motion carried 7-0. 


 


XVI. PENDING AGENDA ITEMS. 
Boersma suggests a photograph with MacDonald. Ligocki promises to include in activities 


for the December meeting. 


 


XVIII. ADJOURNMENT. Moved by Schaefer, second by Ligocki, to adjourn the meeting at 8:23 


P.M. Motion carried 7-0. 


 


Minutes taken by Sarah Monette 







COMMUNITY AFFAIRS/COUNCIL POLICY MEETING MINUTES 


Tuesday, December 4, 2018 @ 6:00 p.m.  


Hall of Fame Room, City of Stoughton, WI  


Present:  


Alderpersons Nicole Wiessinger, Lisa Reeves, Tim Riley, and Mayor Tim Swadley  


Absent and Excused: 


Regina Hirsch 


Also Present: 


City Clerk Holly Licht, IT Director John Montgomery 


Call to Order:  


Chairperson Wiessinger called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m.  


Communications: 


None 


OLD BUSINESS 


R-123-2018 Resolution authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to adopt a policy relating to 


attend City meetings via remote access 


Motion by Reeves, second by Riley to recommend that council approval of the policy relating to 


attending City meetings via remote access. Motion carried 4-0. 


Discussion and possible action regarding goals/objectives for the 2018-2019 Council term 
The committee decided that they would wait until 2019-2020 to make a new set of goals. The 
committee many items that they are currently working on.  
 
Discussion and possible action regarding community survey 


Mayor Swadley said that leadership did not want to use operational monies to fund the survey.  The CIP 


Committee said that the survey should be funded by contingency in 2019. He added the total costs 


would be around $15,000.  


Reeves said that she thought that the survey was a good idea in order to prioritize projects within the 


City. She added that she would like to see the results of the surveys that the departments had already 


done.  


Motion by Reeves, second to Riley to recommend that Finance allocate up to $15,000 for the 


community survey from the 2019 contingency.  


Discussion and possible action regarding Policy Updates for IT Media Updates 


Motion by Reeves, second by Riley to recommend that the council approve the IT Media Policy Updates. 


Motion carried 4-0. 


Motion by Reeves, second Riley to recommend that the HR policies be recommended to personnel.  


Motion carried 4-0. 


 







Discussion and possible action regarding comprehensive Plan Goals and Objectives 


Mayor Swadley said that he would like the committee to prioritize the goals within the comp plan. The 


committee decided that they would come back next meeting with 3-5 recommendations of priorities.  


Approval of the October 2, 2018 CA CP Minutes  


Motion by Reeves, second by Riley to approve the October 2, 2018 CA CP Minutes. Motion carried 4-0. 


Discussion and possible action regarding Charitable Donations Policy 


Wiessinger and Reeves expressed concerns about the selection process.  The committee decided that 


they would like to draft a policy that would prohibit charitable donations. We could collaborate different 


ways rather that monetarily.  


Discussion and possible action regarding decreasing the size of the Common Council  


Mayor Swadley said that he would suggest that if the City would decrease the size of the council, it 


should be done during the census.  The committee recommended that the City revisits after the next 


census.  


Future Agenda Items 


Opera House  


Social Media Policy 


Downloading Packets 


Adjournment 


Motion by Reeves, second by Riley to adjourn at 7:23 p.m. Motion carried 4-0. 


 


 


 





		01-11-14-2018 RDA Minutes.pdf

		02-Landmarks Minutes 11-8-18.pdf

		03-Planning Minutes  11-12-18.pdf

		04-PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 11-20-18.pdf

		05-TC Min November 8, 2018.pdf

		06-2018 11 21 Library Board minutes.pdf

		07-12-4-2018 CACP Minutes.pdf






OPTIONS FOR FILLING A VACANCY IN THE OFFICE OF CITY ALDERPERSON 
(where Alders are elected for a 3-year term)  


 
 


 YEAR ONE YEAR TWO YEAR THREE YEAR FOUR 


  
 
 
 
 
           


 
 
 
 
 


Successor shall be elected in April of 
Year 2 


         


 
Successor 
shall be 
elected in 
April of 
Year 3 


        


 Successor shall be elected in April of 
Year 3 


      


 Successor 
shall be 
elected in 
April of 
Year 4 


     


The Common Council may order a special election to be held on the Tuesday after the first Monday in November following the date of the 
Council’s order  


   


  
 
 


Ap
ril


 E
le


ct
io


n 


If 
a 


va
ca


nc
y 


oc
cu


rs
 …


  








 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Matt Bartlett to the Utilities Committee, pursuant to 2-127 of 


the Stoughton Municipal Code 
 
Committee Action: 


 
N/A 


 
Fiscal Impact: $-0- 
 
File Number: 


 
R-7-2018 


 
Date Introduced:  


 
January 8, 2019  


 


WHEREAS, Amy Nicole Wiessinger has resigned from the Stoughton Common Council and the 


Mayor has submitted his appointment to fill the vacancy in the Utilities Committee for a term 


ending in 2019; and  


 


WHEREAS, the appointment is as follows: 


 


Utilities Committee  


Matt Bartlett  


 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city 


official(s) confirm the Mayor’s appointment of Matt Bartlett to the Utilities Committee  


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor     Date 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     


 








CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMOM COUNCIL 


Approving the Drive-Through Lease between the City of Stoughton (“Landlord”) and McFarland State 


Bank (“Tenant”) at the real property located at 207 S. Forrest Street and 216 E. Main Street. 


 


Committee Action:   Finance Committee meets January 8, 2019 


 


 
Fiscal Impact:   Rental Revenue TBD 


  


File Number: R-8-2019 Date Introduced: January 8, 2019 


  


 


WHEREAS, the McFarland State Bank (“Tenant”) conveyed to the City of Stoughton 


(“Landlord”), the real property commonly known as 207 S. Forrest Street and 216 E. Main Street 


in the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin; 


 


WHEREAS, the building on Landlord’s Property (the “Building”), was used by Tenant 


prior to Tenant’s conveyance of Landlord’s Property to operate its banking business; 


 


WHEREAS, Tenant now wishes to lease from Landlord, and Landlord wishes to lease to 


Tenant, a portion of the Building for purposes of providing drive-through banking services; 


 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the City of 


Stoughton enter into the Drive-Through Lease with McFarland State Bank.  


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     
 


 


 
 


 



















SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 1 


DRIVE-THROUGH LEASE 
 


This Drive-Through Lease (“Lease”) is dated effective as of January _____, 2019 
and entered into between the CITY OF STOUGHTON, a municipal corporation (the 
“Landlord”) and MCFARLAND STATE BANK, a Wisconsin banking corporation (the 
“Tenant”). 
 


RECITALS 
 


A. Landlord owns the real property commonly known as 207 S. Forrest Street 
and 216 E. Main Street in the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin, 
which is more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto (the 
“Landlord’s Property”). 


 
B. The building on Landlord’s Property (the “Building”) contains drive-through 


facilities suitable for Tenant to operate its banking business. 
 
C. Tenant wishes to lease from Landlord, and Landlord wishes to lease to 


Tenant, a portion of the Building more particularly described in Section 2 for 
purposes of providing drive-through banking services. 


 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth in 


this Lease, the parties agree as follows: 
 


TERMS 
 


1. Recitals.   The foregoing recitals are hereby incorporated into this Lease as 
if fully set forth in this Section 1. 


  
2. Premises.  Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases from 


Landlord, on the terms and provisions and subject to the conditions hereinafter set forth in 
this Lease, the portion of the Building and two drive-through lanes shown on Exhibit B 
(the “Premises”). The Premises’ address is 205 East Washington Street, Stoughton, 
Wisconsin. 


 
3. Term of the Lease.  
 


a. Commencement Date.  The date of commencement of the term of this 
Lease shall be the first to occur of: (1) the date upon which Tenant 
occupies the Premises; or (2) April 1, 2019 (the “Commencement 
Date”) or on an alternative date agreed upon by the parties in writing.  


 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 2 


b. Term.   The term of this Lease shall begin on the Commencement Date 
and continue for a period of Five (5) Lease Years (as defined in 
Section 4 below) (the “Term”). The Term of this Lease shall expire 
on the last day of the last full Lease Year of the Term, unless sooner 
terminated or extended pursuant to any of the provisions of this Lease. 


 
c. Option to Terminate After the Second Lease Year.  Tenant shall have 


an option to terminate this Lease on the last day of the second Lease 
Year if Tenant determines that it is commercially unreasonable to 
continue its drive-through banking services and further provided that 
Tenant gives Landlord ninety (90) days’ prior written notice of its 
intention to terminate. 


 
d. Extension.  Provided that Tenant is not in default, following the Term, 


Tenant shall have two (2) consecutive options to extend the Term of 
this Lease upon all terms and conditions set forth in this Lease for an 
additional five (5) Lease Years (“Extension Terms”). Upon Tenant’s 
election of one or both of the Extension Terms, such Extension Terms 
shall be deemed included within the word “Term” for all purposes 
under this Lease. Tenant’s option to extend this Lease shall be 
exercised by giving written notice to Landlord no less than ninety (90) 
days’ prior to the end of the initial Term or the first Extension Term, 
as applicable.  If Tenant fails to timely exercise its option to extend 
the Term as provided herein, this Lease shall terminate at the end of 
the initial Term or the Extension Term, as the case may be, and 
Tenant’s rights to thereafter extend the Term shall be of no further 
force or effect. 


 
4. Lease Year.  “Lease Year” shall mean each period of twelve (12) 


consecutive calendar months, with the first Lease Year beginning on the Commencement 
Date and ending on the day before the first anniversary of the Commencement Date 
provided, however, if the Commencement Date is other than the first day of a calendar 
month, the Commencement Date shall be deemed to be the first day of the first calendar 
month following the actual Commencement Date for purposes of defining Lease Year. 


 
5. Rent.  Commencing on the Commencement Date and continuing for the 


entire Term, the Tenant shall pay to the Landlord the annual “Rent” amounts set forth in 
the attached Exhibit C, payable in advance on or before the first day of each calendar month 
in the monthly Rent installments set forth therein, without any setoff, counterclaim or 
deduction whatsoever or any prior demand.  Rent for any period during the Term which is 
less than a full calendar month shall be a pro rata portion of the monthly installment based 
on the number of days of the term falling within such month. Tenant shall pay Rent 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 3 


promptly at the address designated for notices in Section 26, or such other place or places 
as the Landlord may designate from time to time in writing. Notwithstanding anything in 
this Lease to the contrary, Landlord agrees to abate payments of Rent for the first month 
of the first Lease Year. 


 
On the first day of each Lease Year after the first Lease Year, annual Rent shall 


increase to reflect the change in the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) during the previous 
year. Such increase in annual Rent shall be calculated by multiplying the last previous 
Lease Year’s annual Rent by the percentage increase in the CPI occurring between 
December 1 of the Lease Year preceding increase and December 1 of the Lease Year of 
the increase date. The annual Rent shall not be reduced from the last previous annual Rent 
by reason of any decrease in the CPI. If there is such a decrease, then annual Rent shall 
remain the same for that Lease Year. The CPI to be used for this calculation shall be the 
CPI-U published by the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics for All Urban 
Consumers, U.S. City Average, For All Items, (1982-1984=100), or its successor/substitute 
index. Following each adjustment of the annual Rent as above provided, the term “Rent” 
as used in this Lease shall be amended to mean Rent as adjusted by this Section. 


 
6. Intentionally Omitted.  
 
7. Alterations. Tenant shall not, without Landlord’s prior written consent, 


which shall not be unreasonably withheld, make any alterations to the Premises including, 
without limitation, install any trade fixtures, utility installations, exterior signs, floor 
coverings, interior or exterior lighting, plumbing fixtures or mechanical equipment, or 
make any changes to its store front (except for minor nonstructural alterations or 
improvements and decorations).  The term “utility installations,” as used herein, shall 
include, without limitation, power panels, space heaters, fluorescent fixtures, conduits and 
wiring. Tenant shall be responsible for the cost of all alterations to the Premises that it 
made, or that were made at its direction. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties 
acknowledge and agree that the Tenant wishes to make alterations to the Premises, at its 
expense, at the outset of the Lease, and that Exhibit D contains an estimation of those 
alteration plans. The Tenant shall not begin to make such alterations until the Director of 
Planning and Development of the City of Stoughton approves the Tenant’s alteration plans 
in writing. Tenant will not be required to remove such alterations at the termination of this 
Lease. 


 
8. Use.  
 


a. Operation of Business.  Tenant shall use the Premises solely for the 
purpose of providing walk-up and drive-through banking services to 
its customers, and for general office, banking, and financial services 
purposes; but shall not use the Premises for any other purpose without 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 4 


the prior written consent of the Landlord, which consent Landlord 
shall not unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay.  


 
b. Compliance with Rules. Tenant shall comply with all reasonable rules 


and regulations which Landlord may from time to time establish for 
the use and care of the Premises and other facilities and buildings that 
comprise the Landlord Property, so long as they do not prevent Tenant 
from the use described in Section 8(a). 


 
c. Compliance with Laws.  Tenant shall, in the use and maintenance of 


the Premises, comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, 
regulations, and codes of all governmental authorities having 
jurisdiction over Tenant or the Premises, or having jurisdiction over 
Landlord with regard to leasing the Premises to Tenant, and shall hold 
Landlord harmless from any and all loss or damage, including any 
fines or penalties, due to any failure of Tenant to so comply. 


 
9. Utilities and Services.  Landlord shall provide heat and air conditioning to 


the Premises via mechanical systems that serve the entire Building, which shall be 
sufficient to create inside conditions during the cooling season of 72 degrees F. dry bulb 
when the outside conditions are 95 degrees F. dry bulb, and during the heating season 
maintain not less than 70 degrees F. dry bulb when the outside conditions ranging down to 
minus 10 degrees F (Tenant hereby acknowledging that the present heating, ventilating, 
and air conditioning systems are sufficient to do so).  Subject to the foregoing, Landlord 
shall maintain the heat and air conditioning for the comfortable occupancy of the Premises 
in Landlord’s sole discretion. Landlord shall also provide electricity to the Premises, in 
amounts sufficient to serve Tenant’s demands.  The cost of all of the foregoing services are 
included in Rent.  Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for any failure to provide any of 
those services.  Subject to the foregoing, Tenant shall be responsible for any and all other 
services to the Premises at its sole expense, including, without limitation, telephone, data, 
internet, janitorial, and the disposal of shredded documents. 


 
10. Common Areas.  Landlord hereby grants to Tenant for the benefit of Tenant 


and its employees, customers, and invitees during the Term of this Lease (collectively, the 
“Common Areas”): (a) the nonexclusive right to use the area labeled as “Common Areas” 
on Exhibit B, which constitutes a hallway and two restrooms; and (b) the nonexclusive 
rights of access, ingress, and egress, over paved driveways and sidewalks as befit the use 
of the walk-up and drive-through lanes and banking equipment and facilities on the 
Premises. Landlord shall be responsible for maintaining and managing the Common Areas. 
Landlord may alter the Common Areas, construct additions, change the dimensions or 
change the area and location of the Common Areas, but may not diminish the use by Tenant 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 5 


of the walk-up, or the two restroom facilities and a second exterior exit on the interior, 
without Tenant’s prior written consent.  


 
11. Tenant’s Rights of Access.  Tenant and Tenant’s employees, agents, and 


invitees shall enter and exit the Premises only through the door located on the Premises 
(the “Premises Door”) or via the Common Areas. Tenant and Tenant’s employees, agents 
and invitees shall have a right to access the portion of Landlord’s Property leading to the 
Premises Door or via the Common Areas, and shall do so in a direct fashion. Tenant shall 
provide Landlord with a copy of the key to the Premises Door and the door located in the 
Common Areas, and upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall 
provide Landlord with all of the keys and/or fobs in its possession to such doors.  


 
12. Security.  Landlord shall not be responsible for maintaining a system 


security on or for the Premises.  Tenant may do so at Tenant’s expense. 
 
13. Parking. Tenant and Tenant’s employees, agents, invitees, contractors, and 


customers shall not use any of the parking stalls located on Landlord’s Property.  
 
14. Landlord’s Obligations.  Landlord shall keep the exterior of the Building 


and the foundations, roof, and structural portions of the demising walls of the Premises in 
good condition and repair, except for repairs required thereto by reason of the acts or 
omissions of Tenant, Tenant’s employees, agents, invitees, licensees or contractors.  
Landlord shall also be responsible for the maintenance and repair of the Building, including 
plumbing, electrical, sewer, heating, air conditioning and ventilation, but excluding 
Tenant’s equipment, fixtures and mechanicals tied into the building systems and 
exclusively serving the Premises.  If Landlord is required to make exterior or structural 
repairs by reason of Tenant’s acts or omissions, Landlord shall have the right, but shall not 
be obligated, to make such repairs or replacements on behalf of and for the account of 
Tenant, which shall be paid for in full by Tenant upon receipt of a bill.  The provisions of 
this Section shall not apply in the case of damage or destruction by fire or other casualty, 
in which events the obligations of Landlord shall be controlled by Section 16. Landlord 
shall maintain Landlord’s Property including snow removal and landscaping. 


 
15. Tenant’s Obligations. Except for Landlord’s obligations set forth in 


Section 13, Tenant shall keep the Premises, and every part thereof, and any fixtures, 
facilities or equipment contained therein (whether installed or owned by Landlord or 
Tenant), in good condition and repair including, but not limited to, any of Tenant’s 
equipment, fixtures and mechanicals (whether or not tied into the building systems) 
exclusively serving the Premises—whether heating, air-conditioning, and ventilating, 
electrical, lighting, plumbing or sewer systems—floor coverings, exterior doors, window 
frames and all portions of the drive-through area, columns, nonstructural walls, and 
partitions, and shall make any replacements thereof and of all broken and cracked glass 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 6 


which may become necessary during the term of this Lease.  Tenant shall provide all 
maintenance, replacements and repairs necessary to keep the Premises in the condition 
required by this Lease.  Tenant shall be responsible for all exterior and interior window 
washing and maintaining the drive-through stalls on the Premises.  If Tenant refuses or 
neglects to maintain, replace or repair promptly and adequately after written demand, 
Landlord may make the maintenance, replacement or repairs without liability to Tenant for 
any loss or damage that may accrue to Tenant’s stock or business by reason thereof and 
upon completion thereof, Tenant shall pay Landlord’s costs (together with a charge of 
fifteen percent (15%) of the costs for administration) upon receipt of bills therefor.  All 
maintenance, replacement or repairs shall be done in a first class manner and shall be of 
materials equal in quality and class to the original work. 


 
16. Damage or Destruction.  If the Premises or Landlord’s Property is damaged 


by fire, explosion or other casualty then either party may terminate this Lease by giving 
written notice of termination within ninety (90) days after the happening of the event 
causing the damage.  If neither party exercises its right to terminate this Lease as provided 
above, Landlord shall promptly repair and replace the exterior of the Building and the 
foundations, roof, and structural portions of the walls of the Premises (except interior, non-
demising walls) to the condition existing immediately preceding such fire, explosion or 
other casualty.  Tenant shall promptly repair or replace all portions of the Premises not 
required to be repaired or replaced by Landlord and repair or replace all furniture, fixtures, 
and equipment to the condition existing immediately preceding such fire, explosion or 
other casualty.  Rent or other sums payable under this Lease shall be abated during the 
period of such repair and restoration if the Premises are not tenantable.   


 
17. Right of Entry.  Landlord and its authorized representatives, agents and 


employees shall have the right to enter the Premises at all reasonable times upon at least 
48 hours’ prior notice (which may be telephonic), or otherwise upon such reasonable prior 
oral or written notice to Tenant as may be possible in an emergency, to inspect the Premises 
or to show the Premises to prospective purchasers or tenants or to abate nuisances, to cure 
dangerous conditions, repair waste and to make repairs, alterations, improvements or 
additions to the Premises, as Landlord may reasonably deem necessary, including those to 
be performed by Tenant, erect scaffolding and temporary barricades and take into, upon or 
through the Premises, materials required perform the same.  Landlord shall take reasonable 
steps to minimize any interference with Tenant’s business when entering the Premises for 
the purposes provided in this Section, and so long as Tenant is able to conduct business 
from the Premises, such entry or actions shall not constitute an eviction of Tenant and Rent 
shall not abate as a result of such entry.  Nothing herein shall impose any duty upon 
Landlord to do any work, or perform any other act, which Tenant may be required to 
perform under this Lease, and the performance thereof by Landlord shall not constitute a 
waiver of Tenant’s default in failing to perform it.  During the six (6) months prior to the 
expiration of the term of this Lease, Landlord may place upon the Premises notice “To Let” 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 7 


or “For Rent.”  If Tenant is not present to permit entry into the Premises, Landlord may, in 
case of emergency, enter by master key or by forcible entry, without rendering Landlord 
liable therefor.  


 
18. Assignment.  Tenant shall not assign or in any manner transfer or sublet this 


Lease or any estate or interest therein without Landlord’s prior written consent, except that 
Tenant may assign this lease to any successor to Tenant by merger or to the purchase of all 
or essentially all of Tenant’s assets. In the event Landlord consents to an assignment of the 
Lease, rental and all other charges due shall be paid to Landlord. An assignment of this 
Lease shall not relieve Tenant from any obligations of this Lease, including, without 
limitation, Tenant’s obligation to pay rent hereunder. Any attempted assignment without 
Landlord's prior written consent in accordance with this Section shall be void and shall 
constitute a default under this Lease. 


 
19. Signs.  Tenant shall not paint or install any signs, lettering, placards, 


advertising media or window or door lettering without the previous written consent of the 
Landlord. Tenant may display an electronic message on the sign at the intersection of 
Forrest and Main Streets (the “Corner Monument”), subject to the Landlord’s prior 
approval of the content of the message. Tenant acknowledges that its use of the Corner 
Monument is nonexclusive. If the Landlord removes the Corner Monument during the 
Term of this Lease, Tenant may maintain at Tenant’s expense a sign at the intersection of 
Forrest and Main Streets, on the condition that any message displayed on such sign shall 
be approved by the Landlord. Upon expiration or termination of the Lease, Tenant shall 
remove any signs which Landlord permitted it to install and shall promptly restore any 
damage caused by the removal and return the applicable surfaces to the condition which 
existed prior to the installation.  Any signs erected or installed shall be at Tenant’s sole cost 
and expense.  


 
20. Insurance.   Beginning no later than the Commencement Date and continuing 


until the termination or expiration of this Lease, Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall 
maintain the following insurance coverages:  


 
a. General Commercial Liability. A policy of general commercial 


liability insurance naming Landlord, Tenant and any other party 
Landlord designates as the insured (“Landlord’s Insureds”), with 
minimum limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 in the 
aggregate, in connection with Tenant’s business conducted on the 
Premises.  
 


b. Personal Property.  A personal property insurance policy sufficient to 
cover the loss or damage to Tenant’s personal property and all 
improvements, installations or alterations to the Premises made by or 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 8 


on behalf of the Tenant (whether performed by Tenant, Landlord or 
others). Landlord shall maintain Premises liability. 
 


c. Notice of Cancellation; Certificate of Insurance. All of such policies 
required by this Section shall contain a clause that the insurer will not 
cancel the insurance coverage without at least thirty (30) days prior 
written notice to Landlord. Tenant shall provide Landlord, on or 
before the Commencement Date and at such other times as may be 
reasonably requested by Landlord, with evidence of the additional 
insured status of Landlord and Landlord’s Insureds and the existence 
and amounts of the insurance required by this Section by way of a 
certificate of insurance.  


 
21. Indemnification.  
 


a. Tenant’s Indemnification Obligation.  Subject to Section 22, to the 
extent permitted by applicable laws and regulations, Tenant shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless Landlord from and against any 
and all claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees) arising from Tenant’s use or occupancy of 
the Premises, or from or related to: (a) any occurrence in the Premises 
or the conduct of Tenant’s business or from any activity, work or 
things done, permitted or suffered by Tenant in or about the Premises 
or elsewhere; (b) any breach or default in the performance of any 
obligation on Tenant’s part to be performed under the terms of this 
Lease; or (c) any negligent or willful acts or omissions of Tenant, or 
any of Tenant’s sublessees, agents, customers, invitees, contractors, 
occupants, or employees.   


 
b. Landlord’s Indemnification Obligation. Subject to Section 22, 


Landlord shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Tenant from and 
against any and all claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses 
(including reasonable attorney’s fees) arising from or related to  (a) 
any occurrence in or about the Common Areas or Landlord’s Property 
other than the Premises not resulting from the negligent or willful acts 
or omissions of Tenant or Tenant’s sublessees, agents, contractors, 
occupants or employees; or (b) any breach or default in the 
performance of any obligations on Landlord’s part to be performed 
under the terms of this Lease. 


 
c. Notice of Indemnification.  In case any action or proceeding be 


brought against Landlord or Tenant which is covered by the foregoing 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 9 


indemnifications to be provided by Landlord or Tenant to the other, 
the indemnifying party, upon notice from the indemnified party, shall 
defend the same, at the indemnifying party’s expense, by attorneys 
satisfactory to the indemnified party. 


 
22. Waiver of Recovery and Subrogation.  Landlord and Tenant each agree 


that they shall not have any claim against the other for any loss, damage or injury which is 
covered by the insurance required to be carried by either party under this Lease (regardless 
of the failure of either party to maintain such insurance) or any insurance otherwise carried 
by either party (whether this Lease requires the party to carry such insurance), regardless 
of the negligence of either party in causing the loss, damage or injury.  This release shall 
be valid only if the applicable insurance policy expressly permits waiver of recovery and 
subrogation, or if the insurer agrees in writing that such waiver of recovery and subrogation 
will not affect coverage under the applicable insurance policy.  Each party agrees to use its 
best efforts to obtain such an agreement from its insurer if its policy does not expressly 
permit a waiver of recovery and subrogation. 


 
23. Default.  The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall 


constitute a default and breach of this Lease by Tenant: 
 


a. Failure to Pay.  The failure of Tenant to make any payment of Rent or 
any other payment required to be made by Tenant under this Lease, 
when due, and such failure shall continue for a period of seven (7) 
days. 


 
b. Failure to Observe Other Covenants.  The failure by Tenant to repair 


any waste or to observe or perform any of the terms, covenants or 
conditions of this Lease to be observed or performed by Tenant where 
such failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written 
notice thereof from Landlord to Tenant.  Except as otherwise provided 
herein, if a breach of a term, covenant or condition of this Lease which 
requires more than the payment of money to cure and which cannot 
because of the nature of such default be cured within said thirty (30) 
days, then Tenant is deemed to be complying with said notice if, 
promptly upon receipt of such notice, Tenant immediately takes steps 
to cure the default as soon as reasonably possible and proceeds 
thereafter continuously with due diligence to cure the default within a 
period of time which, under all prevailing circumstances, shall be 
reasonable.  Failure to send a notice shall not be construed as a waiver 
of such breach or as to any subsequent breach. 


 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 10 


24. Landlord’s Remedies.  Landlord has the following remedies, in addition to 
all other rights and remedies provided by this Lease or at law or in equity, to which 
Landlord may resort cumulatively or in the alternative in the event of Tenant’s default or 
breach of this Lease: 


 
a. Late Payment Fee; Interest. If Tenant has not paid Landlord Rent on 


or before the seventh day of the month, Tenant shall pay Landlord a 
Fifty ($50) Dollar late fee in addition to the Rent owing. If Tenant has 
not paid Landlord Rent on or before the seventh day of the month, 
such unpaid amounts shall bear interest from the due date thereof to 
the date of payment at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum. 
 


b. Termination of the Lease. Landlord may terminate this Lease by 
giving Tenant written notice of termination.  On the giving of the 
notice, all further obligations of Landlord under this Lease shall 
terminate, Tenant shall surrender and vacate the Premises in a broom 
clean condition, and Landlord may reenter and take possession of the 
Premises and eject all parties in possession, or eject some and not 
others, or eject none.  Termination under this paragraph shall not 
relieve Tenant from the payment of any Rent then due to Landlord or 
from any claim for damages previously accrued or then accruing 
against Tenant. Landlord shall be entitled to collect from Tenant all 
Rent accruing to the date of termination and all Rent payable for the 
remainder of the Term (notwithstanding the termination) plus rental 
losses, less any amounts actually collected by Landlord from reletting 
the Premises. The term “rental losses” shall include, but shall not be 
limited to, all repossession costs, brokerage commissions, legal 
expenses, reasonable attorneys’ fees, alteration costs and expenses of 
preparation of the Premises or parts thereof for reletting. 


 
c. Landlord May Perform.  Landlord shall have the right at any time, 


after ten (10) days’ notice to Tenant (or without notice in case of 
emergency or a hazardous condition or in case any fine, penalty, 
interest or cost may otherwise be imposed or incurred), to make any 
payment or perform any act required of Tenant under any provision 
in this Lease, and in exercising such right, to incur necessary and 
incidental costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney fees.  
Nothing herein shall obligate Landlord to make any payment or 
perform any act required of the Tenant, and this exercise of the right 
to so do shall not constitute a release of any obligation or a waiver of 
any default.  All payments made and all costs and expenses incurred 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 11 


in connection with any exercise of such right shall be reimbursed to 
Landlord by Tenant. 


Tenant shall pay for all attorney fees and other costs and expenses 
incurred by Landlord in enforcing any of Tenant’s obligations under 
this Lease. 


 
25. Right to Mortgage. The Landlord reserves the right to subject and 


subordinate this Lease at all times to the lien of any mortgage or mortgages now or hereafter 
placed upon the Landlord’s leasehold interest in the Premises and on the land of which the 
Premises form a part.  The Tenant covenants and agrees to execute and deliver upon 
demand such further instrument or instruments, including an instrument subordinating this 
Lease to the lien of any such mortgage or mortgages as shall be desired by the Landlord 
and/or any mortgages or proposed mortgages.  


 
26. Notices.  Whenever under this Lease a provision is made for notice, it shall 


be deemed sufficient notice and service if such notice is in writing and if either delivered 
personally or if mailed by U.S. mail, postage prepaid, certified or registered mail with 
return receipt required: 


 
If to the Tenant:  McFarland State Bank 
   Attn: Mike Moderski 
   5990 US Highway 51 
   McFarland, WI 53558 
   mmoderski@msbonline.com 
 
With a copy to: Boardman & Clark LLP 
   Attn: John P. Starkweather 
   1 S Pinckney St. Ste. 410 
   P.O. Box 927 
   Madison, WI 53701-0927 
 
If to the Landlord: City of Stoughton 
   Attn: Holly Licht 
   City Hall 
   381 East Main Street 
   Stoughton, WI 53589 
   hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us 
 
With copies to:         Rodney J. Scheel 


City Hall 
   381 East Main Street 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 12 


Stoughton, WI 53589 
rjscheel@ci.stoughton.wi.us 
 
Stafford Rosenbaum LLP 


   Attn: Matthew P. Dregne 
   222 W Washington Ave. Suite 900 
   P.O. Box 1784    


Madison, WI 53701-1784 
   mdregne@staffordlaw.com 


 
27.  Waiver.  One or more waivers of any covenant or condition of this Lease 


by the Landlord shall not be construed as a waiver of a further breach of the same covenant 
or condition, and the consent or approval by the Landlord to or of any act by the Tenant 
requiring the Landlord’s consent or approval shall not be deemed to waive or render 
unnecessary the Landlord’s consent or approval to any subsequent similar act by the 
Tenant. 


 
28. Estoppel Certificate.  Tenant shall within ten (10) days of receiving written 


notice from Landlord, execute, acknowledge and deliver to Landlord or to such person 
designated by Landlord, a statement in writing (i) certifying that this Lease is unmodified 
and in full force and effect (or if modified, stating the nature of such modification and 
certifying that this Lease, as so modified, is in full force and effect), (ii) the date to which 
the Rent and other charges are paid in advance, if any, (iii) acknowledging that there are 
not, to Tenant’s knowledge, any uncured defaults on the part of Landlord hereunder, nor 
any offsets, counterclaims or defenses to the Lease on the part of Tenant, or specifying 
such defaults if any are claimed, and (iv) certifying as to any other matters as may be 
reasonably requested by Landlord.  Any such statement may be conclusively relied upon 
by any prospective purchaser or encumbrancer of the Premises. 


 
If Landlord desires to sell Landlord’s Property, or any part thereof, Tenant shall 


deliver to any purchaser designated by Landlord such financial information concerning 
Tenant as may be reasonably required by such purchaser.  Such statements shall include, 
but shall not be limited to, the past three (3) years’ financial statements of Tenant.  All such 
financial information shall be received by Landlord in confidence and shall be used only 
for the purposes herein set forth. 


29. Tenant Holdover.  Tenant shall vacate and surrender the Premises upon the 
expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.  If Tenant shall remain in possession of all 
or any part of the Premises after the expiration or earlier termination, Tenant shall pay 
Landlord monthly Rent in an amount equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the 
amount of monthly Rent payable for the last month of the Term and shall also be 
responsible for the full amount of other costs and expenses due under this Lease.  Any hold 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 13 


over of Tenant shall be subject to all other terms and conditions of this Lease, provided, 
however that Tenant shall be deemed to be a Tenant from month-to-month and no hold 
over shall entitle Tenant to an extension of the Term.  Landlord’s acceptance of Rent under 
this Section shall not be construed as a waiver by Landlord of its rights and remedies for 
Tenant’s default of this Lease in holding over and failing to vacate and surrender the 
Premises. 


 
30. Requests of Landlord. Tenant shall, upon demand, reimburse Landlord for 


all reasonable expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees, incurred by 
Landlord in connection with all requests by Tenant for consents, approvals, or other 
requests related to this Lease, including, without limitation, costs incurred by Landlord in 
the review and approval of Tenant’s plans and specifications in connection with proposed 
alterations to be made by Tenant to the Premises, requests  by Tenant for Landlord to assign 
its interest in the Lease, or the execution by Landlord of estoppel certificates requested by 
Tenant.  


 
31. Declaration of Use Restrictions. Tenant acknowledges that this Lease 


technically violates the terms of (but not the intent of) the Declaration of Use Restrictions 
dated December 28, 2016, and recorded on January 9, 2017 as document number 5297961 
in the Dane County Register of Deeds Office (the “Declaration”), that it placed on the 
Landlord’s Property. Tenant, its officers, directors, employees, affiliates, agents and 
representatives hereby release and any all claims, rights, demands, and causes of actions 
against Landlord, its officers, employees, agents and representatives relating to, arising out 
of, or in connection with, the violation of the Declaration by this Lease. Tenant covenants 
that it will neither commence nor cause to be commenced any lawsuit or proceeding against 
the other based on any of the claims released in this Lease. Tenant shall indemnify and 
hold Landlord harmless from any costs or expenses incurred as a result of any breach of 
this covenant, including but not limited reasonable attorneys’ fees. Landlord agrees that 
nothing contained in this Lease is intended to waive, release, or abrogate the effect of the 
Declaration against any party other than Tenant. 


 
32. Cumulative Remedies.  All rights and remedies provided under this Lease 


shall be cumulative and the exercise of any one right or remedy shall not exclude the 
simultaneous exercise of any or all other rights or remedies.  The rights and remedies 
permitted by this Lease shall be in addition to all other rights and remedies available at law 
or in equity. 


 
33. Governing Law.  This Lease shall be governed by the laws of the State of 


Wisconsin, with regard to choice of law principles, and shall be binding on the parties 
hereto and their successors and permitted assigns. 


 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 14 


34. Relationship of the Parties. The parties have no power or authority to 
assume or create any obligation or responsibility on behalf of each other. This Lease shall 
not be construed to create or imply any partnership, agency, joint venture or employer-
employee relationship between the parties. 


 
35.  Headings.  The section headings contained in this Lease are for reference 


purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Lease. 
 
36. Severability.  If any term, provision, covenant or condition of this Lease is 


held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder 
of such term, provision, covenant or condition, and the remainder of the Lease shall remain 
in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated, unless 
giving such effect would materially undermine the rights and benefits of either party to this 
Lease, in which case such party can declare this Lease void. 


 
37. Entire Agreement. This Lease sets forth all the covenants, promises, 


agreements, conditions and understandings between Landlord and Tenant concerning the 
Premises and there are no covenants, promises, agreements, conditions or understandings, 
either oral or written, between them other than are set forth herein. 


 
38. Amendment.  Except as herein otherwise provided, no subsequent alteration, 


amendment, change or addition to this Lease shall be binding on either party unless reduced 
to writing and signed by both parties. 


 
39. Authority.  Each individual executing this Lease on behalf of Landlord and 


Tenant represents and warrants that he/she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this 
Lease on behalf of Landlord or Tenant, as the case may be, in accordance with the 
governing documents of Landlord or Tenant or a duly adopted resolution of Landlord’s or 
Tenant’s Board of Directors, and that this Lease is binding upon Landlord and Tenant in 
accordance with its terms. 


 
40. Binding Effect.  This Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of 


the parties and their respective heirs, successors and permitted assigns. 
 


  







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 15 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Lease to be executed 
personally or by a duly authorized representative effective as of the date first set forth 
above. 
       


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 
a municipal corporation 
 
 
______________________________________ 
By:  Timothy Swadley 
Title:  Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
By:___________________________________ 
      Holly Licht, City Clerk 


 
 
MCFARLAND STATE BANK,  
a Wisconsin banking corporation 
 
 
______________________________________ 
By:  Michael Moderski 
Title: President 


 
Sufficient funds are in the treasury to meeting the expense of this contract or provision has 
been made to pay the liability that will accrue thereunder. 
 


______________________________________ 
By: Jamin Fiedl, Director of Finance 
 


 
Approved as to Form: 
 
STAFFORD ROSENBAUM LLP 
Attorneys for the City of Stoughton 
 
______________________________  
By:   Matthew P. Dregne 
 
 
  







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 16 


EXHIBIT A 
 


Legal Description of Landlord’s Property 
 


 


 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 17 


EXHIBIT 
B 


 


 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Premises 


Common Areas 







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 18 


 
Exhibit C—Rent Schedule 
 
Lease Year: Annual Rent: Monthly Installment: 
1 $25,700.00 $2,141.66, except the first 


monthly payment shall be 
$2,141.74 


2 Year 1 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


3 Year 2 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


4 Year 3 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


5 Year 4 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


6 Year 5 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


7 Year 6 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


8 Year 7 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


9 Year 8 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


10 Year 9 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


11 Year 10 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


12 Year 11 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


13 Year 12 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


14 Year 13 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


15 Year 14 annual Rent plus CPI increase calculated in 
accordance with Section 5 


 
  







SR DRAFT 1/4 
 


L:\DOCS\005649\002594\LEASE\3IS002002.DOCX 
0104191555 
 19 


Exhibit D—Estimated Plans 
 


 





		13a-R-8-2019 - McFarland State Bank Lease Agreement.pdf

		13b-DTO LETTER TO THE MAYOR 12182018.pdf

		13c-Form 8283.pdf

		13d-Lease (clean 1-4).pdf

		If Landlord desires to sell Landlord’s Property, or any part thereof, Tenant shall deliver to any purchaser designated by Landlord such financial information concerning Tenant as may be reasonably required by such purchaser.  Such statements shall inc...








CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMOM COUNCIL 


Approving the Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between Junction 138, LLC and the 


City of Stoughton, WI for the property located at 3201 McComb Road. 


 


Committee Action:   Finance Committee recommends approval 4 to 1 on November 27, 2018 


 


 
Fiscal Impact:   Profit from sale of property 


  


File Number: R-9-2019 Date Introduced: January 8, 2019 


  


WHEREAS, Junction 138, LLC proposes to purchase certain real property as described 


(the "Property") in the Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement between Junction 138, LLC and 


the City of Stoughton; 


WHEREAS, the Finance Committee recommends the City of Stoughton enter into the 


Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement with Junction 138, LLC; now therefore  


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the City of 


Stoughton enter into the Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement with Junction 138, LLC.  


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     
 
 


 


 


 







T:\PACKETS\PLANNING COMMISSION\2018\12-10-18\Planning Info\McComb Sale Memo.doc


CITY OF STOUGHTON RODNEY J. SCHEEL


DEPARTMENT OF DIRECTOR


PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT
381 East Main Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589


(608) 873-6619 www.ci.stoughton.wi.us


Date: November 30, 2018


To: Plan Commissioners and Common Council


From: Rodney J. Scheel
Director of Planning & Development


Michael P. Stacey
Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner


Subject: Agenda Item for the December 10, 2018 Plan Commission Meeting and
Common Council Meeting of December 11, 2018.


Request to approve the sale of City owned property at 3201 McComb Road for future
development.
This request is to approve the sale of city owned lands for future development. The resolution and
location map is provided.







mstacey

Oval











Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO, USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance Survey, Esri Japan,
METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), swisstopo, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS User Community, Parcels


3201 McComb Road


Tax Parcels
November 30, 2018


 
 


0 500 1,000250 Feet
1 inch = 400 feet



mstacey

Arrow







REAL ESTATE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 


THIS REAL ESTATE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is 


entered into by and between Junction 138, LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company (“Buyer”) 


and the City of Stoughton, a municipality in the State of Wisconsin  (“Seller”), as of the date of 


the last of the parties’ signatures hereto (the “Effective Date”). 


RECITALS: 


A. Seller owns fee simple title to certain real estate located in the City of Stoughton, 


Dane County, Wisconsin, described herein. 


B. Buyer desires to purchase from Seller and Seller desires to sell to Buyer such 


property in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein. 


AGREEMENT:  


1. Agreement to Purchase.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 


Seller shall sell to Buyer, and Buyer shall purchase from Seller certain real property located in 


the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin, as more fully described on Exhibit A attached 


hereto, consisting of approximately 10.683 acres, together with all other rights and interests 


appurtenant thereto (collectively, the “Property”). 


2. Purchase Price.  The purchase price (the “Purchase Price”) for the Property shall 


be Four Hundred Eighty Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($480,000.00). The Purchase Price shall 


be payable as follows: 


(a) Deposit.  Within Ten (10) business days of the Effective Date, Buyer shall 


deposit the sum of Five Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($5,000.00) (“Deposit”) with the 


Madison, Wisconsin office of First American Title Insurance Company (the “Title Company”).  


The Deposit shall be held in an interest bearing escrow account, with all interest accruing to 


Buyer, pursuant to the escrow agreement attached hereto as Exhibit B.  The Deposit shall be 


credited to the Purchase Price at the Closing (as hereinafter defined) and shall be nonrefundable 


and paid to Seller if the Closing does not occur, unless the Closing does not occur due to Seller’s 


default, in which case the Deposit shall be returned to Buyer. 


(b) Balance.  Buyer shall pay the balance of the Purchase Price, subject to the 


adjustments and prorations set forth in Section 8 below, on or before the Closing Date by 


depositing with Title Company the balance of the Purchase Price in cash, or by certified or 


cashier’s check or federal wire transfer.  


3. Property Documents.  Within ten (10) business days following the Effective Date, 


Seller shall deliver to Buyer for Buyer’s review, copies of all documents in Seller’s possession or 


control which a reasonable person may deem material in evaluating whether to proceed to 


purchase the Property, including, without limitation: (i) all title reports, surveys, environmental 


studies, geotechnical studies, and appraisals reports; (ii) all leases affecting the Property (iii) any 







-2- 


notices received by the Seller from any applicable governmental authority concerning the 


Property; and (iv) any other information in Seller’s possession reasonably requested by Purchaser 


in connection with the acquisition of the Property (all of the above, collectively, the “Property 


Documents”). Seller shall not be responsible for obtaining, or paying the cost of, a survey of the 


Property. If Buyer fails to consummate the transaction contemplated by this Agreement, Buyer 


shall return all Property Documents to Seller upon Seller’s request. 


4. Buyer’s Access to the Property. From and after Seller’s acceptance of this 


Agreement, up to and including the date of Closing, Buyer shall have full and complete access to 


the Property at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice for the purpose of making such 


investigations, studies, assessments and the like that Buyer deems necessary or desirable, 


consistent with good commercial practice.  Buyer agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Seller 


harmless from and against claims, loss, damage or expense resulting from damage to property or 


injury or death to persons directly caused by actions of Buyer or Buyer’s agents at the Property, 


except as may arise from discovery of a preexisting condition at the Property and/or the 


negligence or wrongful act of Seller. 


5. Buyer’s Investigation Period.  Buyer’s obligations under the Agreement are 


contingent upon the satisfaction or waiver, in the exercise of Buyer’s sole discretion, of the 


contingencies set forth in this Section 5 within Three Hundred (300) days of the Effective Date 


(the “Investigation Period”).  During the Investigation Period, Buyer shall be permitted to 


investigate the Property for Buyer’s intended development (“Buyer’s Intended Use”), including 


the rights to: (i) enter upon the Real Property to perform inspections and a geotechnical 


evaluation of the Property; (ii) make investigations with regard to zoning, road access and other 


legal requirements; (iii) perform environmental site assessments; (iv) make or obtain market 


studies and real estate development analyses; (v) analyze the financial feasibility of ownership of 


the Property; (vi) analyze the Property Information; (vii) confirm that the Property is within the 


Urban Service Area or seek an amendment to include the Property within the USA; (viii) explore 


any necessary amendment to the existing comprehensive land use plan concerning the Property; 


(ix) completing a roadway design and obtaining preliminary and final plat approval for Buyer’s 


Intended Use; (x) completing a stormwater management plan and construction documents for any 


public and private infrastructure necessary to implement Buyer’s Intended Use; (xi) entering into 


a municipal development agreement for the installation of such infrastructure, as reasonably 


determined by Buyer, in the exercise of Buyer’s sole discretion; and (xii) obtaining financing, the 


terms of which are acceptable to Buyer. Seller shall not be responsible for paying any costs 


relating to or associated with Buyer’s investigation pursuant to this Section. 


If by the expiration of the Investigation Period the contingencies stated in this Section 5 


are not satisfied or waived by Buyer, Buyer may elect to extend the Investigation Period for two 


(2) additional periods of Sixty (60) days, provided Buyer: (i) delivers written notice to Seller of 


Buyer's intent to exercise any such extension prior to the expiration of the Investigation Period, 


as may be extended, and (ii) deposits with the Title Company, simultaneous with Buyer's written 


notice to Seller, an additional deposit of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00).  The additional 


deposit for any extension shall be added to and become part of the Deposit and shall be credited 


to the Purchase Price at closing. If the Closing does not occur, the additional deposit for any 







-3- 


extension shall be nonrefundable and shall be delivered to Seller, unless the Closing does not 


occur due to Seller’s default, in which case the additional deposit shall be returned to Buyer. 


If the contingencies are not satisfied or waived by Buyer on or before the expiration of the 


Investigation Period, as determined by Buyer in the exercise of Buyer’s sole discretion, Buyer 


shall have the option of terminating this Agreement by delivering written notice of termination to 


Seller on or before the expiration of the Investigation Period, in which event this Agreement shall 


be terminated and of no further force and effect and the De shall be immediately delivered to 


Seller.  In the event that Buyer does not elect to terminate this Agreement prior to the expiration 


of the Investigation Period, all items set forth in this Section 5 shall be deemed satisfied and/or 


waived. 


6. Utility and Access Easements.  Seller will need an easement interest in the 


Property that will give Seller access to a Stoughton Utilities substation located on land adjacent 


to the Property.  Seller may also need other easement interests in the Property to accommodate 


existing or possible future utility infrastructure.  Seller’s obligation to convey the Property to 


Buyer under this Agreement is contingent upon Buyer granting to Seller, effective on the date of 


Closing, such access and utility easement interests in the Property that the City deems necessary 


and that are satisfactory to the City. 


7. Title Insurance.  Within fifteen (15) days following the Effective Date of this 


Agreement, Seller shall deliver to Buyer a commitment (“Commitment”) prepared by the Title 


Company to issue a standard form ALTA owners’ policy of title insurance, including gap 


coverage, for the Property in the amount of the Purchase Price naming Buyer as the insured, 


showing all liens, encumbrances and other matters of record.  The Commitment shall be 


delivered to Buyer together with legible copies of all documents that appear as exceptions to title. 


 Within thirty (30) days of Buyer’s receipt of the last of: (i) the Title Commitment, and (ii) copies 


of all underlying documents, Buyer shall notify Seller, in writing (“Buyer’s Title Notice”), of any 


objections to the Title Commitment or to a survey.  Seller shall use diligent good faith efforts to 


remove any objections Buyer has with respect to the Title Commitment and for survey if buyer 


obtained one.  If one or more of such objections cannot be removed, Seller shall notify Buyer in 


writing (“Seller’s Notice”), within fifteen (15) days after Seller’s receipt of Buyer’s Title Notice, 


of which objections cannot be removed.  Buyer shall elect, in writing within ten (10) days 


thereafter, either to:  (i) terminate and cancel the Agreement, in which case the initial, refundable 


Deposit shall be returned to Buyer and, except as set forth in this Agreement, neither party shall 


have further obligations hereunder; or (ii) waive the title and/or survey objections and proceed to 


Closing. . If Buyer does not timely give notice to terminate this Agreement, then the uncured 


defects shall become Permitted Exceptions and Buyer shall be deemed to have waived its right to 


terminate this Agreement. If Seller fails to timely deliver Seller’s Notice, Seller shall be deemed 


to have elected not to cure any of Buyer’s objections. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 


contained herein, Seller shall be obligated to remove all monetary encumbrances from title at or 


before Closing.  Exceptions to title approved by Buyer hereunder shall be deemed to be 


“Permitted Exceptions.” 







-4- 


8. Closing.   


(a) Closing Date.  Except as otherwise set forth herein, the “Closing” shall 


occur at the offices of the Title Company within thirty (30) days following the satisfaction or 


waiver of Buyer’s contingencies set forth in Section 5, on a date to be designated by Buyer (such 


date, the “Closing Date”). 


(b) Closing Documents.  On or prior to the Closing Date, the parties shall 


execute the following documents:  (i) Seller will execute and deliver to Buyer a general warranty 


deed (the “Deed”) conveying the Property to Buyer subject only to the Permitted Exceptions; 


(ii) both parties will complete a Wisconsin Real Estate Transfer Return in the form that is 


required by state statute in order to record the Deed; (iii) both parties will execute and deliver a 


closing statement setting forth the Purchase Price and any adjustments thereto as provided for in 


this Agreement; (iv) Seller will execute and deliver to Buyer a Non-Foreign Person Affidavit 


confirming that Seller is not a foreign person subject to certain federal withholding requirements; 


(v) both parties will execute and deliver any other documents that are necessary to consummate 


the transaction contemplated by this Agreement, including such documents as are necessary to 


cause title to be conveyed to Buyer in the form approved by Buyer pursuant to the terms of this 


Agreement; (vi) Buyer will execute and deliver to Seller such access and utility easement 


agreements as Seller may require pursuant to Section 6 of this Agreement. 


(c) Costs and Expenses.  Seller shall be responsible for paying the Wisconsin 


real estate transfer fee, the cost of providing title insurance to Buyer and any recording fees 


related to satisfying any existing mortgages against the Property.  Buyer will pay any recording 


fees related to recording the Deed and to record any mortgages it grants on the Property.  Seller 


will pay any recording fees related to recording any easements granted to Seller.  The parties 


shall evenly share any cost of the Title Company to act as the closing agent.  Each party will be 


solely responsible for paying its respective attorney’s fees. 


(d) Prorations and Adjustments. The following items shall be prorated and 


adjusted between Buyer and Seller as of 12:01 a.m. on the date of Closing as follows: 


(i) All rents and charges payable under any leases affecting the 


Property, if any. 


(ii) All utility charges, including, but not limited to, electricity, gas, 


water, sewer, steam and telephone shall be determined by actual meter readings, if available; 


otherwise they shall be estimated on the basis of the last billing available from the respective 


utilities.  Any utility deposits, standby charges or other prepayments, if assignable, shall be 


assigned to Buyer, who shall reimburse Seller therefor. 


(iii) General real estate taxes levied against the land.  The proration 


shall be based on the net general real estate taxes for the year of Closing, if known, otherwise on 


the net general real estate taxes for the year prior to Closing. 







-5- 


(iv) Assessments, either general or special, for improvements 


completed prior to Closing, whether matured or unmatured, shall be paid in full by Seller 


(including all principal and interest).  Buyer shall pay all other assessments.   


(v) As between Seller and Buyer, Seller shall be responsible for all 


operating expenses for the Property allocable to the period prior to the date of Closing, and shall 


pay all such expenses when due; and Buyer shall be responsible for all operating expenses for the 


Property allocable to the period on and after the date of Closing. 


(vi) Such other items as are required to be prorated pursuant to the 


terms hereof, or as are customarily prorated upon the transfer of ownership and possession of real 


estate in Dane County. 


(vii) Any penalty for converting agricultural land to non-agricultural use 


(the “Use-Value Penalty”), as set forth in Wisconsin Statutes Section 74.485, imposed on the 


Property as a result of a change in use prior to Closing or which will be imposed on the Property 


after Closing due to Buyer's intended change in use of the Property, shall be paid in full by Seller 


at Closing or, in the event the Use-Value Penalty is not known or due and payable at Closing, an 


amount equal to the Title Company's estimate of the Use-Value Penalty shall be escrowed from 


Seller's proceeds at Closing and Title Company shall pay the Use-Value Penalty using the 


escrowed funds when such penalty becomes due and payable.  If the aforementioned escrowed 


funds exceed the actual Use-Value Penalty, the excess funds shall be refunded to Seller and if the 


escrowed funds are insufficient to pay the Use-Value Penalty, then upon written notice to Seller 


by Buyer or Title Company, Seller shall provide such additional funds, in a timely manner, as, 


together with the escrowed funds, are sufficient to pay the Use-Value Penalty. 


The parties agree to make such post-closing adjustments and readjustments as may be 


required due to errors and omissions in the closing adjustments.  If information is not available or 


if the parties agree that it is impracticable to make a particular adjustment on the date of Closing, 


that adjustment shall be made as soon as practicable after such information is available. 


9. Seller’s Representations and Warranties.  In order to induce Buyer to submit this 


Agreement, Seller hereby makes the following representations and warranties to Buyer, each of 


which shall be deemed to be independently material and relied upon by Buyer, regardless of any 


investigation made by, or information known to, Buyer, and upon which Buyer has relied and 


without which Buyer would not have submitted this Agreement.  Seller covenants and agrees that 


each of the representations are true and correct on the date hereof and, as a condition precedent to 


Buyer’s obligation to close, Seller shall affirm that each of these representations continue to be 


true and correct on the date of Closing, and that such representations and warranties shall survive 


Closing: 


(a) Authority.  The sale of the Property pursuant to this Agreement is not in 


violation of any provision of any agreement to which Seller is bound. Seller has complete power 


and authority to enter into and perform the transaction contemplated by this Agreement according 


to its terms, and the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation thereof 


have been duly authorized by all required action.   







-6- 


(b) Litigation, Court Orders.  There are no legal actions, condemnation 


proceedings, suits or other legal administrative proceedings, pending, or to the knowledge of 


Seller, threatened, against the Property, and there are no governmental agency or court orders 


requiring repairs, alterations or corrections of any existing conditions on the Property. 


(c) No Commitment to Governmental Authority.  Except as described in 


Section 12 of this Agreement, Seller has made no commitment to any governmental authority, 


utility body, neighborhood association or other organization, group or individual relating to the 


Property which would impose an obligation upon Buyer to install or maintain any improvements 


of a public or private nature on or off the Property, or which would limit or adversely affect the 


permitted uses of the Property.  Except as described in Section 12 of this Agreement or as 


specifically identified on the title commitment to be furnished to Buyer, Seller has no knowledge 


or notice of any planned or commenced public improvements which may result in special 


assessments or which may otherwise directly and materially affect the Property. 


(d) Hazardous Wastes.  To the best of Seller’s knowledge, no portion of the 


Property has been used for the generation, storage, transportation, disposal or treatment of 


hazardous or toxic wastes and there exists no groundwater or soil contamination upon the 


Property resulting from such wastes. This Section 9(d) shall expire and terminate three (3) years 


after the Closing Date. 


(e) Environmental Compliance.  To the best of Seller’s knowledge, Seller and 


the Property have been and are in compliance with all Environmental Laws applicable to the 


Property.  Seller has not received any communication (either written or oral) from any party that 


alleges that Seller or the Property are not in compliance with any applicable Environmental 


Laws.  Seller has not received any notice of any past, present or future event, condition, 


circumstance, activity, practice, incident, action or plan that may interfere with or prevent 


continued compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws.  To the best of Seller’s 


knowledge, with respect to the Property, Seller is not under investigation for the failure to 


comply with any Environmental Laws.  To the best of Seller’s knowledge, with respect to the 


Property, Seller is not required to take any remedial action by any governmental authority or 


Environmental Laws.  With regard to the Property, Seller has not made any statements, 


warranties, or representations in any documents containing any untrue statement of material fact 


or omitting any statement of material fact that would render the statements made misleading in 


connection with any Environmental Laws. This Section 9(e) shall expire and terminate three (3) 


years after the Closing Date.  


As used herein, “Environmental Laws” mean any legal requirement that relates to or 


otherwise imposes liability, obligations, responsibility, or standards with respect to, pollution, or 


the restoration, repair, remediation or protection of natural resources, human health or the 


environment (including ambient air, surface water, groundwater, land surface, subsurface soil 


strata), including without limitation, any legal requirement relating to the presence, use, 


manufacture, processing,  distribution, production, generation, handling, transport, storage, 


disposal, labeling, discharge, release, threatened release, treatment, control or cleanup of any 


Environmental Materials.  “Environmental Materials” means, collectively, any material, 


substance, chemical, waste, contaminant or pollutant which is regulated, listed, defined as or 







-7- 


determined to be hazardous, extremely hazardous, toxic, dangerous, restricted or a nuisance, or 


otherwise harmful to human health or the environment, under any Environmental Laws. 


10. Seller’s Covenants.   


(a) Access.  Prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall give Buyer and its agents 


and representatives reasonable access to the Property during normal business hours.  Seller 


agrees to furnish to Buyer such additional and further information in Seller’s possession 


concerning the ownership, management, operation and condition of the Property as Buyer may 


reasonably request. 


(b) Cooperation.  Upon the execution of this Agreement by both parties, 


Buyer may commence any proceedings that are necessary to obtain any government approvals 


necessary for Buyer to develop the Property for Buyer’s Intended Use.  Seller agrees that it will, 


in its capacity as the current owner of the Property, cooperate with Buyer to the extent necessary 


for Buyer to apply for governmental permits or approvals.  However, nothing in this Agreement 


is intended to relieve, nor shall it be construed as relieving, or in any way satisfying other 


obligations, procedures or requirements pertaining to the future zoning, division or development 


of the Property.  This Agreement does not bind Seller to approve any land division, zoning or 


other application or development activity for the Property.  Buyer agrees to comply with all 


applicable City of Stoughton plans, policies and ordinances relating to applications for zoning, 


land division, development or other approvals.   


(c) Continued Operation.  Following the Effective Date and up to and 


including date of Closing, Seller shall maintain the Property in good condition and repair, 


reasonable wear and tear excepted and shall continue to operate the Property in its ordinary and 


normal course of business, provided, however, Seller shall not, without Buyer’s prior written 


consent: (i) amend, extend, renew or enter into any new leases affecting the Property; (ii) permit 


any additional liens or encumbrances to be recorded against the Property, (iii) enter into or modify 


any service contracts or other agreement with respect to the Property, or (iv) initiate or consent to 


the change in any zoning and/or any other governmental law, permit, license, ordinance or 


regulation applicable to the use, occupation or operation of the Property. 


(d) Condemnation.  If, between the Effective Date and the Closing Date, any 


proceeding (judicial, administrative or otherwise) is instituted or commenced, which relates to 


the proposed taking of all or any portion of the Property by condemnation or eminent domain or 


otherwise, or the taking or closing of any right of access to the Property, Seller shall furnish 


Buyer with written notification of such proceeding within forty-eight (48) hours after the earlier 


of Seller’s receipt of such notice or Seller’s actual knowledge of such proceeding.  In such event, 


Buyer shall have the option to terminate this Agreement by giving Seller written notice of 


termination within thirty (30) days after Buyer’s receipt of such notice from Seller, in which case, 


this Agreement shall be null and void and all Deposit shall be returned to Buyer immediately.  If 


Buyer does not terminate this Agreement, Seller shall give Buyer a credit for or assign all of 


Seller’s rights to any proceeds therefrom on the Closing Date. 







-8- 


(e) Casualty.  Seller assumes all risks and liability for damage to or injury 


occurring to the Property by fire, storm, accident, or any other casualty or cause until the Closing 


has been consummated.  If, prior to Closing, the Property suffers any damage from fire or other 


casualty equal to or in excess of One Hundred Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($100,000.00), 


Buyer may either at or prior to Closing (a) terminate this Agreement, in which event the Deposit 


shall be refunded to Buyer, and neither party shall have any further right or obligation hereunder, 


or (b) consummate the Closing, in which latter event all of Seller’s right, title and interest in and 


to the proceeds of any insurance covering such damage, and including any and all rent loss 


insurance proceeds relating to the period from and after the Closing Date, shall be assigned to 


Buyer at the Closing and Buyer shall receive a credit against the Purchase Price in an amount 


equal to the sum of (i) Seller’s deductible under its insurance policy and (ii) the amount of any 


uninsured loss.  If the Property suffers any damage less than the applicable aforesaid amount 


prior to the Closing, Buyer agrees that it will consummate the Closing and accept the assignment 


of the proceeds of any insurance covering such damage, including any and all rent loss insurance 


proceeds relating to the period from and after the Closing Date (plus receive a credit against the 


Purchase Price in an amount equal to the sum of (i) Seller’s deductible under its insurance policy 


and (ii) the amount of any uninsured loss) and there shall be no other reduction in the Purchase 


Price. 


11. Buyer’s Representations and Warranties.  Buyer covenants and agrees that the 


Buyer is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in current status under 


the laws of the State of Wisconsin.  The purchase of the Property pursuant to this Agreement is 


not in violation of any provision of Buyer’s articles of organization, operating agreement or any 


other agreement to which Buyer is bound.  Buyer has complete power and authority to enter into 


and perform the transaction contemplated by this Agreement according to its terms, and the 


execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation thereof have been duly 


authorized by all required company action.  The person (or those persons) signing below on 


behalf of Buyer personally warrant that they have the authority to act as Buyer’s agent or agents 


in the sale, transfer and conveyance of the Property from Seller. Buyer’s representations and 


warranties shall survive Closing.  


12. Memorandum of Agreement. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that Seller is a party 


to the Memorandum of Agreement Regarding Changes in Access to STH 138 in the City of 


Stoughton and the Town of Rutland, among the Town of Rutland and the Wisconsin 


Department of Transportation and effective July 12, 2018. Buyer further acknowledges and 


agrees that such agreement contains terms, conditions and restrictions binding Seller with 


respect to its ability to make changes to access to STH 138, including access to and from the 


Property.  


13. Notices.  All notices or directions desired or required to be given under this 


Agreement shall be in writing and personally delivered, sent by commercial overnight 


courier, email or confirmed facsimile transmission and directed as follows: 


If to Buyer:  Forward Development Group, LLC 


161 Horizon Drive, Suite 101A 


Verona, Wisconsin 53593 







-9- 


Attention:  David M. Jenkins 


Telephone: 608.848.9050 


Facsimile:  608.848.9051 


Email: dmj@forwarddevgroup.com 


 


With a copy to: Forward Development Group, LLC 


161 Horizon Drive, Suite 101A 


Verona, Wisconsin 53593 


Attention:  Dennis Steinkraus 


Telephone: 608.848.9050 


Facsimile:  608.848.9051 


Email: dgs@forwarddevgroup.com 


 


With a copy to: Forward Development Group, LLC 


161 Horizon Drive, Suite 101A 


Verona, Wisconsin 53593 


Attention:  Reijo Wahlin 


Telephone: 608.848.9050 


Facsimile:  608.848.9051 


Email: rhw@forwarddevgroup.com 


 


If to Seller:  City of Stoughton 


381 East Main Street 


Stoughton, WI 53589 


Attn: Tim Swadley 


Telephone: 608.873.6677 


Email: tswadley@ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 


With a copy to: Stafford Rosenbaum, LLP 


222 West Washington Avenue, Suite 900 


Madison, Wisconsin 53701-1784 


Attention:  Mathew Dregne 


Telephone: 608.259.2618 


Email: mdregne@staffordlaw.com 


 


Notices personally delivered shall be deemed received when given.  Notices sent by email 


or confirmed facsimile transmission shall be deemed received when given, if prior to 5 PM, 


recipient’s local time, on a business day, otherwise on the next occurring business day.  Notices 


or demands sent by commercial overnight courier shall be deemed received on the next business 


day following deposit. 


14. Default and Remedies.  In the event the transaction contemplated herein is not  


consummated due to default by Seller, the Deposit and interest shall be returned to Buyer, and 


Buyer may pursue any remedy available to Buyer at law or in equity, including an action for 


specific performance of this Agreement.  In the event the transaction contemplated herein is not 







-10- 


consummated due to default by Buyer hereunder, then the Deposit shall be delivered to Seller, 


and Seller may (i) sue for specific performance; or (ii) sue for actual damages; or (iii) terminate 


the Agreement.  


15. Brokers.  Seller acknowledges that an affiliate of Buyer, Forward Development 


Group, LLC, is a licensed real estate broker in the State of Wisconsin.  Buyer and Seller 


represent and warrant that neither Buyer nor Seller have retained the services of any real estate 


broker or agent, with the exception of Forward Development Group, LLC, which shall be owed a 


commission of three percent (3%) of the purchase price, paid by Buyer at Closing.  The Parties 


agree to indemnify and hold the other harmless from and against any and all liability or damages, 


including costs and attorney’s fees, resulting from any claim brought by any other real estate 


broker or agent for any real estate commission or finder’s fee due, or alleged to be due, as the 


result of the actions of such person. 


16. Adequacy of Consideration.  Buyer and Seller acknowledge that Buyer will 


expend material sums of money in reliance on Seller’s obligations under this Agreement, in 


connection with negotiating and executing this Agreement, conducting the investigation activities 


contemplated by this Agreement and preparing for Closing, and that Buyer would not have 


executed the Agreement without the availability of the contingencies for Investigation Period 


activities described herein.  Buyer and Seller, therefore agree that adequate consideration exists 


to support each of the party’s obligations under this Agreement, and Seller and Buyer each waive 


any and all rights to challenge the enforceability of this Agreement on the basis that any of the 


conditions or contingencies set forth herein are at Seller’s or Buyer’s sole discretion or that any 


of the agreements contained herein are illusory. 


17. Miscellaneous.   


(a) Dates and Deadlines.  Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, in 


the computation of any period of time which shall be required or permitted hereunder or under 


any law for any notice or other communication or for the performance of any term, condition, 


covenant or obligation, the day from which such period runs shall be excluded and the last day of 


such period shall be included unless it is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, in which case the 


period shall be deemed to run until the end of the next day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or 


legal holiday. 


(b) Assignment.  Buyer may assign its rights and obligation under this 


Agreement at any time to an entity that is related to, and/or controlled by, Buyer.  This 


Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their permitted 


successors and assigns. 


(c) Modifications.  This Agreement may only be modified in writing signed by 


both Seller and Buyer. 


(d) Further Assurances.  The parties each agree to do, execute, acknowledge 


and deliver all such further acts, instruments and assurances and to take all such further action 


before or after the Closing as shall be necessary or desirable to fully carry out the terms of this 







-11- 


Agreement and to fully consummate the transaction contemplated hereby.  This Agreement does 


not bind Seller to approve any land division, zoning or other application or development activity 


for the Property. 


(e) Captions.  The captions at the beginning of the several paragraphs and 


subparagraphs, respectively, are for convenience in locating the context only, and are not part of 


the text. 


(f) Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with 


the laws of the State of Wisconsin without giving effect to principles of conflicts of law thereof. 


(g) Severability.  In the event any term or provision of this Agreement shall be 


held illegal, invalid or unenforceable, or inoperative as a matter of law, the remaining terms and 


provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby but each such term and provision shall 


be valid and shall remain in full force and effect. 


(h) Attorney’s Fees.  If either party commences an action to enforce the terms 


of, or to resolve a dispute concerning, this Agreement, the substantially prevailing party in any 


such action shall be entitled to recover from the substantially non-prevailing party all costs and 


expenses incurred in connection with such action, including, but not limited to, reasonable 


attorney’s fees and court costs. 


(i) Counterparts; Facsimile.  This Agreement may be executed in any number 


of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all such counterparts together 


shall constitute one original instrument.  Signatures transmitted by facsimile or PDF by electronic 


mail (i.e., email) shall be deemed to be original signatures for all purposes. 


 [Signature page follows.] 







-12- 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective 


Date. 


BUYER: 


 


JUNCTION 138, LLC 


 


By:       


      David M. Jenkins, Manager 


 


Date:      ______ 


 


 


SELLER: 


 


CITY OF STOUGHTON 


 


By:       


Tim Swadley, Mayor 


Date:      ______ 


 


Attest: 


 


 


By:__________________________________ 


Holly Licht, City Clerk 


 


 


 


 







 


EXHIBIT A 


PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 


Part of Parcel Address: 3201 MCCOMB ROAD 


City of Stoughton, Dane County, WI 


Acreage: approximately 10.683 acres 


Parcel No: 281/0510-121-8105-2 


 


 


 


 


 
 







 


EXHIBIT B 


EARNEST MONEY ESCROW AGREEMENT 


 


THIS EARNEST MONEY ESCROW AGREEMENT (this “Escrow Agreement”) is 


made by and among Junction 138, LLC (“Buyer”), the City of Stoughton (“Seller”); and First 


American Title Insurance Company (“Escrowee”) as of the date of final signature to this Escrow 


Agreement. 


RECITALS 


A. Seller and Buyer are the parties in interest in and to a Real Estate Purchase and 


Sale Agreement effective ___________________ (“Contract”) concerning the purchase and sale 


of approximately 10.683 acres located in the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin 


(“Property”), as more fully described therein. 


B. Escrowee desires to provide title insurance on this transaction and has offered to 


hold the earnest money in trust to be paid by Buyer against the purchase price for the Property 


upon the terms and conditions of this Escrow Agreement. 


AGREEMENT 


NOW, THEREFORE, Seller, Buyer and Escrowee agree as follows: 


1. Deposit.  On or about the date of execution of this Escrow Agreement, Buyer shall 


deposit with Escrowee the sum of Five Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($5,000.00) 


(“Deposit”), representing the nonrefundable deposit provided for under the Contract. 


2. Receipt.  Upon Escrowee’s receipt of the Deposit, Escrowee agrees to be 


responsible for holding, investing and disbursing the Deposit, and Escrowee agrees to accept 


such appointment and hold the Deposit in trust, subject, however, to the terms and conditions 


of this Escrow Agreement. 


3. Interest.  Escrowee shall place the Deposit in an account with a federally insured 


bank at interest.  All interest earned upon the Deposit shall be added to and included in the 


principal sum of the Deposit. 


4. Disbursement.  At closing on the sale of the Property from Seller to Buyer, 


Escrowee shall deliver the Deposit to become part of the proceeds due Seller, unless 


otherwise directed by joint written instruction, signed by both Buyer and Seller.  If the 


transaction contemplated by the Contract fails to close, Escrowee shall disburse the funds as 


directed in a joint instruction signed by both Seller and Buyer.  If, at any time prior to closing, 


Escrowee shall receive a demand for Deposit (“Demand”) by either Seller or Buyer, 


Escrowee shall immediately transmit a copy of such Demand to the other party to this Escrow 


Agreement.  If Escrowee does not receive an objection (“Objection”) to the release of Deposit 


to the party making Demand from the other party within ten (10) business days, commencing 







 


 


on such other party’s deemed receipt of a copy of such Demand, Escrowee shall remit the 


Deposit to the party making Demand and this Escrow Agreement shall terminate and no party 


shall have further obligations hereunder.  If during the ten (10) business day period, the other 


party objects to disbursement of Deposit to the party making Demand, Escrowee shall have 


an election to either:  (i) continue to hold the Deposit at interest pending Escrowee’s receipt 


of joint instructions from Seller and Buyer or Escrowee’s receipt of an order of a court of 


competent jurisdiction directing disbursement or (ii) deliver the Deposit, including interest, to 


a clerk of court of competent jurisdiction. 


5. Reliance.  In performing its duties hereunder, Escrowee shall be entitled to rely, in 


good faith, on written notice or direction received from either or both of Buyer or Seller and 


without duty of inquiry as to authenticity of signature or authority of the person or persons 


acting or purporting to act on behalf of either Seller or Buyer.  Escrowee shall not be liable 


for acts or omissions taken in good faith and in conformance with the terms of this Escrow 


Agreement.  Prior to any disbursement of the Deposit or its application to the purchase price 


at closing, Escrowee shall be entitled to collect its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 


incurred by Escrowee in accordance with this Escrow Agreement.  Except for such out-of-


pocket expenses, Escrowee acknowledges that it will not charge a fee for serving as the 


holder of the earnest money escrow under the Contract. 


6. Notices.  All notices or directions desired or required to be given under this 


Escrow Agreement shall be in writing and personally delivered, sent by commercial 


overnight courier or facsimile transmission and directed as follows: 


 


If to Buyer:  Forward Development Group, LLC 


161 Horizon Drive, Suite 101A 


Verona, Wisconsin 53593 


Attention:  David M. Jenkins 


Telephone: 608.848.9050 


Facsimile:  608.848.9051 


Email: dmj@forwarddevgroup.com 


 


with a copy to:  Forward Development Group, LLC 


161 Horizon Drive, Suite 101A 


Verona, Wisconsin 53593 


Attention:  Dennis Steinkraus 


Telephone: 608.848.9050 


Facsimile:  608.848.9051 


Email: dgs@forwarddevgroup.com 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


with a copy to:  Forward Development Group, LLC 


161 Horizon Drive, Suite 101A 


Verona, Wisconsin 53593 


Attention:  Reijo Wahlin 


Telephone: 608.848.9050 


Facsimile:  608.848.9051 


Email: rhw@forwarddevgroup.com 


 


If to Seller:  City of Stoughton 


381 East Main Street 


Stoughton, WI 53589 


Attn: Tim Swadley 


Telephone: 608.873.6677 


Email: tswadley@ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 


With a copy to: Stafford Rosenbaum, LLP 


   222 West Washington Avenue, Suite 900 


Madison, Wisconsin 53701-1784 


Attention:  Mathew Dregne 


Telephone: 608.259.2618 


Email: mdregne@staffordlaw.com 


 


If to Escrowee: First American Title Insurance Company 


Attn: Cathleen Heath 


10 W. Mifflin St., Ste 302  


Madison, WI  53703 


Telephone: 608.204.7409   


Facsimile: 608.204.7414 


 


 Notices or Demands personally delivered shall be deemed received when given.  Notices 


or Demands sent by confirmed facsimile transmission shall be deemed received when given, if 


prior to 5 PM, recipient’s local time, on a business day, otherwise on the next occurring business 


day.  Notices or Demands sent by commercial overnight courier shall be deemed received on the 


next business day following deposit. 


7. Counterparts.  All parties agree that this Escrow Agreement may be signed in one 


or more counterparts, all of which when taken together, shall constitute one and the same 


instrument.  The parties agree that signed facsimile transmissions of this Escrow Agreement 


shall be valid and binding. 


[Signature page follows.] 







 


 


This Escrow Agreement shall be deemed made as of the date of final signature hereto. 


BUYER: 


JUNCTION 138, LLC 


 


By:       Date:      


Name: David M. Jenkins 


Title: Manager  


 


 


 


SELLER: 


CITY OF STOUGHTON 


 


By:       Date:      


Name:        


Title:        


 


 


ESCROWEE: 


FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 


 


 


By:       Date:      


Name:        


Title:        


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







Comparables ACRES PRICE PRICE/ACRE Urban Service  Area Location Points to Consider


Subject Property - Independent 


Appraisal conducted for this 


property that is owned by the 


City/Utilities - 10.68 480,000 44,944$          Not in Urban Sevice Area


McComb Road - Vacant City Owned 


Land next to the Sub Station property


This property is not in the Urban Service 


Area.  Appraisal incorrectly considers 


the site as serviced with all necessary 


utilities for development.  Did not 


consider need for access to STH 138 


through Property Owned by Junction 


138 LLC.


MADISON COMMERCIAL


Aaker Rd 42 695,518 16,560$          Not in Urban Sevice Area Corner of 4th & 138 S


829 E Hwy 51 100 3,290,400 32,904$          Not in Urban Sevice Area Near Spring Road


314 W Main 0.51 99,315 194,735$        In Urban Sevice Area Marathon site too small to be a viable comparable


2415 Roby 1.12 609,480 544,179$        In Urban Sevice Area by Culvers too small to be a viable comparable


1701 Cedarbrook 1.11 193,000 173,874$        In Urban Sevice Area Northwest of Fastenal too small to be a viable comparable


1700 E Main St 1.55 269,900 174,129$        In Urban Sevice Area next to Fastenal too small to be a viable comparable


L1 Hwy N 22 239,000 10,864$          Not in Urban Sevice Area Edgerton


Sold Comparables


1547 Hwy 51 70 900,000 12,857$          Not in Urban Sevice Area Dvorak across from Egelsons Woods


1546 Star School Rd 69 550,000 7,971$            Not in Urban Sevice Area Rutland


400 S Van Buren 0.6 89,000 148,333$        In Urban Sevice Area Nelson Apartments too small to be a viable comparable


700 Nygaard 0.48 170,000 354,167$        In Urban Sevice Area Next to BBG'S too small to be a viable comparable


LEE & ASSOCIATES


City Owned - Land North of 


Business Park North 18.3 732,000 37,500$          In Urban Sevice Area Next to NAFA


Sold Comparables







McFarland Meadows LLC 8 776,000 97,000$          Not in Urban Sevice Area McComb Rd-Dunkirk Includes a house on this parcel?


Kwik Trip 9.45 1,271,970 134,600$        In Urban Sevice Area KPW


We need to check this because it is not 


on 9.45 acres.  It is on 2.25 acres


Key Commercial


Sold Comparables


5356 Felland Rd 42.28 460,000 10,880$          Not in Urban Sevice Area Town of Burke


Not in Stoughton Market - Not a viable 


Comparable


Main St & Grand Ave 20 5,400,000 270,000$        In Urban Sevice Area Sun Prairie


Not in Stoughton Market - Not a viable 


Comparable


Stone Quarry Rd 24.96 1,895,000 75,921$          Conservation area Sun Prairie


Not in Stoughton Market - Not a viable 


Comparable


MEICHER REAL ESTATE


Appraisel-McComb Rd property 10.68 480,000 44,944$          Not in Urban Sevice Area Sub Station property Subject Property


4 Parcels Highway 138 32 1,298,120 40,566$          In Urban Sevice Area Mabie property


Business Park Expansion 36 1,343,400 37,317$          In Urban Sevice Area Moe property City Purchased this land


1600 Williams Drive 10.11 379,275 37,515$          In Urban Sevice Area NAFA City Sold this land


West End Circle 45.018 3,750,000 83,300$          In Urban Sevice Area Verona School District


Not in Stoughton Market - Not a viable 


Comparable


Erbach Farmland 63.74 3,150,000 49,420$          In Urban Sevice Area Verona School District


Not in Stoughton Market - Not a viable 


Comparable





		15a-R-10-2019 - McComb Road Property Purchase and Sale Agreement.pdf

		15b--3201 McComb Property Sale.PDF

		15c-Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement (rev'd).pdf

		15d-Table of Comparables.pdf






Meeting of:  COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON 


Date/Time:  Tuesday, December 11, 2018 @ 7:00 p.m.   


Location:  Council Chambers (2nd Floor of Public Safety Building) 


   321 South Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin 


Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Matt Bartlett, Sid Boersma, Phil Caravello, Denise 


Duranczyk, Regina Hirsch, Greg Jenson, Kathleen Johnson,  Tom Majewski, 


Pat O’Connor, Lisa Reeves, Timothy Riley and Nicole Wiessinger 


 


CALL TO ORDER 


Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 7:03 p.m.  


 


Roll Call, Communications, and Presentations:  


Clerk Licht read the roll and noted that there were 11 alders present. Wiessinger was absent and 


excused.  


 


Clerk Licht noted that candidacy paperwork was due January 2nd. She also added that the deadline to file 


non candidacy paper was due December 21st.  


 


December 25, 2018 Council Meeting is canceled.  


 


Public Works Director Hebert presented on snow removal.   


 


Minutes and Reports: the following minutes were entered into the records.  


Library Board (10/17/18); Utilities (10/15/18); Finance (11/13/18); Public Safety Minutes (10/24/18); 


CA CP (10/2/18); RDA (8/8/18, 8/15/18, 9/12/18, 9/24/18, 9/10/18); Public Works (11/15/18)  


 


Public Comment Period:  


Kathy Kamp, 2045 Atwood Ave., Madison, spoke in support of O-28-2018.  


 


CONSENT AGENDA 


A. November 27, 2018 Council minutes 


B.  R-196-2018 – Resolution Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to issue 


Operator Licenses to various applicants.  


C.  Stoughton Utilities Payments due List Report, Stoughton Utilities September 2018 Financial 


Summary, Stoughton Utilities September 2018 Statistical Report 


D.  October 2018 Treasurers Report  


 


Motion by Jenson, second by Bartlett to approve the consent agenda. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


OLD BUSINESS 


 


O- 28-2018-Ordinance amending the zoning classification of 1125 W. Main Street in the City of 


Stoughton, WI  


 


Motion by Bartlett, second by Jenson to approve O-28-2018 Ordinance amending the zoning 


  


 







classification of 1125 W. Main Street in the City of Stoughton, WI. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


NEW BUSINESS 


 


R- 197-2018- Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to approve the Comprehensive 


Outdoor Recreation Plan 2018-2022  


 


Motion by Hirsch, second by Duranczyk to approve R-197-2018. Blake Theisen of Ayres and 


Associates presented the comprehensive plan. Motion carried 11-0.  


 


R-198-2018-  Approving an extra-territorial jurisdictional (ETJ) land division (CSM) request by 


Robert Lange for property located at 1848 US Highway 51, Town of Dunn, Dane County, 


Wisconsin  


 


Motion by Bartlett, second by Jenson to approve R-198-2018 Approving an extra-territorial 


jurisdictional (ETJ) land division (CSM) request by Robert Lange for property located at 1848 


US Highway 51, Town of Dunn, Dane County, Wisconsin. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


R-199-2018- Sidewalks for 2019 Street Reconstruction Project  


 


Motion by Bartlett, second by Majewski to approve R-199-2018 Sidewalks for the 2019 Street 


Reconstruction Project.  Bartlett said that these recommendations were made to correct design 


issues and in order to limit the removal of trees. Bartlett said that they will install sidewalks 


south of Patterson St.  


 


Motion by Bartlett, second by Majewski to amend the resolution and strike out the west side of 


Grant Street from Prospect Street to Taft St. Motion carried 10-0 with Riley abstaining.  


 


Motion by Duranczyk, second by Boersma to strike to strike the south side of Patterson Street. 


Motion failed on a vote of 4-7 with Duranczyk, Boersma, Riley and Johnson voting ‘yes’.  


 


Original motion as amended carried on a vote of 7-4 with Duranczyk, Riley, Johnson and 


Boersma voting ‘no’. 


 


R-200-2018- Authorizing and directing the proper City officials(s) to appoint Timothy Weiland 


as the agent for Ultra Mart, LLC (Pick ‘n Save #390) Located at 1750 US HWY 51  


 


Motion by Jenson, second by Reeves to approve R-200-2018 Authorizing and directing the 


proper City officials(s) to appoint Timothy Weiland as the agent for Ultra Mart, LLC (Pick ‘n 


Save #390) Located at 1750 US HWY 51  . Motion carried 11-0. 


 


R-201-2018- Confirming the Mayor’s citizen appointment of Linda Lane to the Food Pantry 


Committee  


 


Motion Boersma, second by Bartlett to approve the citizen appointment of Linda Lane to the 


Food Pantry Committee. Motion carried 11-0. 







 


R-123-2018- Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to adopt a policy relating to 


attending City meetings via remote access  


 


Motion by Reeves, second by Riley to approve R-123-2018 Authorizing and directing the proper 


City official(s) to adopt a policy relating to attending City meetings via remote access. 


 


Motion by Boersma, second by Johnson to table. Motion failed on a vote of 2-9 with Boersma 


and Johnson voting ‘yes’.  


 


Duranczyk said that the terms need to clarify for example: participation. The person who is 


participating by phone should be counted towards the quorum. Dregne said that the RDA is a 


separate quasi government body and isn’t ‘sure the Common Council can decide how the 


meetings are run.  


 


Bartlett said that at a minimum that the policy should allow for attendance via remote access.  


 


Jenson said that he doesn’t think that an absent member should be able to participate or vote.  


 


Motion by Duranczyk, second by O’Connor to table. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


R-202-2018- Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to amend the 2018 City of 


Stoughton Operating Budget  


 


Motion by Duranczyk, second by Jenson to approve R-202-2018 Authorizing and directing the 


proper City official(s) to amend the 2018 City of Stoughton Operating Budget. Motion carried 


11-0. 


 


R-203-2018- Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to engage Actuarial & Health 


Care Solutions, LLC to perform the City of Stoughton liability for other post-employment 


benefits   


 


Motion by Duranczyk, second by Jenson to approve R-203-2018 Authorizing and directing the 


proper City official(s) to engage Actuarial & Health Care Solutions, LLC to perform the City of 


Stoughton liability for other post-employment benefits. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


R-204-2018- Recommending the appointment of Finance Director Friedl as the City of 


Stoughton Redevelopment Authority Executive Director  


 


Motion by Duranczyk, second by Jenson to approve R-204-2018 Recommending the 


appointment of Finance Director Friedl as the City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority 


Executive Director. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


ADJOURNMENT 


Motion by Jenson, second by O’Connor to adjourn at 9:14 p.m. Motion carried 11-0. 








 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to issue Operator Licenses to various applicants. 


 
Committee 


Action: 


 
N/A 


Fiscal Impact: N/A 


 
File Number: R-1-2019 


 
Date Introduced:   January 8, 2019 


 


WHEREAS the City Clerk’s office has received an application for an Operator’s License from 


the following applicants: 


 


Name      Place of Business 


  Darren Dunn     American Legion 


  Gregory Werner    Rev. Jim’s  


  Melissa Huston    The Whatever Bar 


  Shane Andree     Brickhouse 


  Heather Weatherbee    Pizza Hut 


  Glen Connor     Denks Pub & Grill 


 


WHEREAS, the Police Chief and City Clerk have reviewed and approved the issuance of an 


Operator Licenses to said applicants, now therefore 


 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city 


official(s) be hereby authorized and directed to issue Operator Licenses to the above named 


applicants. 


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                       


 


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 


 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     








CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. MAIN STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Approving an extra-territorial jurisdictional (ETJ) land division (CSM) request by D and J Alme 


Partnership for property located at 2394 Leslie Road, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin. 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Plan Commission recommends Council approval 4 - 0 


 
Fiscal Impact: 


 
None 


 
File Number: 


 
R-2-2019 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
January 8, 2019 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 


 


WHEREAS, the land division request is proposed to separate the existing residence from the farmland at 


2394 Leslie Road, Town of Dunkirk; and 


 


WHEREAS, the City Comprehensive Plan is used as a guide for the general pattern of development as 


determined by the Planning Commission and Common Council. This property is within the City’s 


Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) and is beyond the planning area of the Comprehensive Plan Future Land 


Use Map.  The future use of the property is not changing from the existing residential use; and 


 


WHEREAS, section 66-602(3) requires a maximum lot size of 2.5 acres while the request is for 4.25 acres.  


Section 66-1301 allows the Plan Commission to approve an exception in the public interest; and  


 


WHEREAS, on December 10, 2018 the Stoughton Plan Commission reviewed the land division request and 


recommends Common Council approval as presented with the exception to allow the lot to be 4.25 acres; 


now therefore 


 


BE IT RESOLVED, by the City of Stoughton Common Council that the extra-territorial jurisdictional land 


division request by D and J Alme Partnership for property located at 2394 Leslie Road, Town of Dunkirk, is 


hereby approved as presented contingent on Town of Dunkirk and Dane County approval. 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       


  


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


                                                     


Tim Swadley, Mayor       Date 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote       
  


   


 


 


 


 


S:\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\D and J - Dunkirk ETJ CSM 12-18.doc 







T:\PACKETS\PLANNING COMMISSION\2018\12-10-18\Planning Info\D and J CSM ETJ Memo.doc


CITY OF STOUGHTON RODNEY J. SCHEEL


DEPARTMENT OF DIRECTOR


PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT
381 East Main Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589


(608) 873-6619 www.ci.stoughton.wi.us


Date: November 30, 2018


To: Plan Commissioners and Common Council


From: Rodney J. Scheel
Director of Planning & Development


Michael P. Stacey
Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner


Subject: Agenda Item for the December 10, 2018 Plan Commission Meeting and
January 8, 2019 Common Council Meeting.


Request by D & J Alme Partnership for an extra-territorial jurisdictional land division (CSM)
request to separate the existing residence from the farmland at 2394 Leslie Road, Town of
Dunkirk.
This property is within the City of Stoughton’s 1.5 mile extra-territorial jurisdiction and is beyond
the planning area of the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map. This request is to separate the
existing residential home and 4.25 acres from the farmland. Ordinance section 66-602(3) requires a
maximum 2.5 acre lot size. Ordinance section 66-1301 allows the Plan Commission to approve
exceptions. Due to the location of the property and the fact the use is not changing, we see no
reason not to approve the land division as proposed with an exception. The resolution, CSM and
related materials are provided. A recommendation to Council is necessary.



























Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO, USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance Survey, Esri Japan,
METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), swisstopo, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS User Community, Parcels


2394 Leslie Road


Tax Parcels
November 30, 2018


 
 


0 500 1,000250 Feet
1 inch = 400 feet



mstacey

Arrow





		05a-R-  -2019 D and J - Dunkirk ETJ CSM 12-18.pdf

		05b-2394 Leslie Road ETJ Request.pdf






T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2019 PACKETS\1-8-19\06a-O-1-2018 Plan Com Secretary - Ch. 2 2018.doc 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Amending Ordinance Section 2-376  of the City of Stoughton Municipal Administration Ordinance   


Committee Action:    Plan Commission recommends approval 4 - 0  


Fiscal Impact:       N/A 


File Number: O - 1 - 2019 First Reading:  


Second Reading:  


January 8, 2019 


   January 22, 2019 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton do ordain as follows: 


2 – 376  Composition 


The plan commission shall consist of seven members: the mayor, three city residents who are not city 


officials for three-year staggered terms (one for one year, one for two years, one for three years, and 


thereafter for three-year terms), and three alderpersons. The commission will elect an alderperson as 


vice-chair and to be the liaison with the city council annually at its first regularly scheduled meeting 


after the council reorganization meeting and an alternate liaison to the city council, if the elected 


alderperson is not available. All members of the commission shall be appointed by the mayor and 


approved by the city council. The building inspector director of planning & development and zoning 


administrator shall serve as staff to the commission and with the zoning administrator acting as its 


secretary. The mayor shall act as chair and shall vote aye, nay, or abstain. The commission shall elect a 


vice-chair annually at its first regularly scheduled meeting after the council reorganization meeting. 


 


This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its date of publication. 


 


Dates 


 


Council Adopted:   


 


Mayor Approved:             


       Tim Swadley, Mayor 


Published:    


 


Attest:              
        Holly Licht, City Clerk 







T:\PACKETS\PLANNING COMMISSION\2018\12-10-18\Planning Info\2-376 Memo.doc


CITY OF STOUGHTON RODNEY J. SCHEEL


DEPARTMENT OF DIRECTOR


PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT
381 East Main Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589


(608) 873-6619 www.ci.stoughton.wi.us


Date: November 30, 2018


To: Plan Commissioners and Common Council


From: Rodney J. Scheel
Director of Planning & Development


Michael P. Stacey
Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner


Subject: Agenda Item for the December 10, 2018 Plan Commission Meeting and
Common Council Meetings of January 8 and January 22, 2019.


Proposed ordinance amendment to section 2-376.
This ordinance amendment is primarily to change the Plan Commission Secretary from the Building
Inspector to the Zoning Administrator and to clarify the annual election of a Vice-Chair. A
recommendation to Council is necessary.





		06a-O-1-2018 Plan Com Secretary - Ch. 2 2018.pdf

		06b-Ordinance Amend Section 2-376.pdf






CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. MAIN STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Approving a request by Kevin Yeska of JSD Professional Services to extend the Conditional Use 


Permit for the project located at Kettle Park West-Lot 15 until October 8, 2019   


 
File Number: 


 
R -3-2019 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
January 8, 2019 


 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 


 


WHEREAS, on January 9, 2018 the Common Council approved a conditional use permit for 


construction of a Large Scale Commercial Service Building (Hotel and Convention Center) with 


Indoor Commercial Entertainment and Commercial Indoor Lodging uses at 2500 Jackson Street, 


Lot 15, Kettle Park West II; and  


 


WHEREAS, the approved conditional use permit will expire on January 9, 2019 if construction 


does not start on or before that date; and  


 


WHEREAS, Kevin Yeska of JSD Professional Services has requested an extension of the 


Conditional Use Permit of Kettle Park West-Lot 15 until October 8, 2019, pursuant to Section 78-


905(10) of the City of Stoughton Zoning Ordinance; now therefore  


 


BE IS RESOLVED, by the City of Stoughton Common Council that the condition use permit for 


Lot 15, Kettle Park West II be extended to October 8, 2019. 


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       


  


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


  


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote       
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


 


 


 


  


161 Horizon Drive, Suite 101 � Verona, WI 53593 � Phone:  608.848.5060 � Fax:  608.848.2255 


VERONA  |  WAUKESHA  |  KENOSHA  |  APPLETON  |  WESTON 


Memorandum www.jsdinc.com 


To: Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator / Assistant Planner 


From: Kevin Yeska, JSD Professional Services, Inc. 


Re: Kettle Park West Lot 15 – tru by Hilton – Conditional Use Permit Extension Request 


JSD Project #: 16-7181 


Date: December 27, 2018 


cc: 
Rodney Scheel (City of Stoughton); Ron Henshue, Fred DeVillers, Dennis Steinkraus (FDG); 
Dave Jenkins, Bill Dunlop, (JSD); Michael Maas (ADCI) 


 
On behalf of Forward Development Group (FDG), JSD Professional Services, Inc. (JSD) is requesting a nine-
month extension of the Conditional Use Permit for the proposed Tru by Hilton hotel and convention center located 
at Kettle Park West - Lot 15 (2500 Jackson Street).  The Common Council approved the original Conditional Use 
Permit request on January 9, 2018 as resolution File Number R-2-2018. 
 
FDG has worked diligently with Hilton and Stevens Construction Corp. to ensure this project breaks ground in the 
most efficient timeframe allowable, but due to unanticipated delays in debt/equity financing, the project’s ground 
breaking will not occur on or before January 9, 2019.  FDG secured the necessary financing to move this project 
forward in November, 2018.  The project team is planning to break ground in the second quarter of 2019 to avoid 
the expense of winter construction and target a more appropriate grand opening date (Spring 2020).   
  
Therefore, pursuant to Section 78-905(10) of the City of Stoughton Zoning Ordinance, we’re requesting an 
extension of the Conditional Use Permit of Kettle Park West – Lot 15 until October 8, 2019.   
 
 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions or need additional information in connection with this request.  
Thank you for your time and consideration. 
 
 
 
Regards, 
 


 
Kevin Yeska 
Project Consultant 













































































































































































































































































































		07a-R-  -2019 Approving a CUP extenstion for Tru Hotel.pdf

		07b-2018-12-27_KPW-Lot 15_CUP Extension Request P#16-7181.pdf

		07c-R-2-2018-Approving CUP request Kevin Yeska, JSD Professional Development for a Hotel Convention Ctr 2500 Jackson St, Stoughton-signed.pdf






CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. MAIN STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to approve the appointment and hiring of the City 


of Stoughton Utilities Director salaried at $127,150.40.  An increase to $130,145.60 to occur on 


1/1/2020.  $130,145.60 will be adjusted by the market increase percent, if approved by Council.  If 


no market increase for 2020, salary would be increased to $13145.60 on 1/1/2020.   


 
 
Committee Action: 


 
Personnel meets January 7, 2019 


 
Fiscal Impact: 


 
$127,150.40  


 
File Number: 


 
R-4-2019 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
January 8, 2019 


 


WHEREAS, the Personnel Committee received a request to approve the appointment and 


hiring of the City of Stoughton Utilities Director salaried at $127, 150.40; and  


WHEREAS, the Personnel Committee met on Monday, January 7, 2019 to review the 


appointment and hiring of the City of Stoughton Utilities Director salaried at $127,150.40, 


WHEREAS, the Personnel Committee recommends approval (X-X) to approve the 


appointment and hiring of the City of Stoughton Finance Director salaried at $127,150.40, now 


therefore 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city 


official(s) be hereby authorized and directed to approve the appointment and hiring of the City of 


Stoughton Utilities Director salaried at $127,150.40. 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       


  


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                                     


Tim Swadley, Mayor       Date 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote       
  


 





















































		08a-Resolution Personnel approve the Appoinment  Hire of Utilities Director.pdf

		08b-UTILITIES DIRECTOR APPLICATION.pdf






 


 
City of Stoughton, 381 E Main Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing and directing the proper city officials to amend the 2019-2023 City of Stoughton CIP Budget 


moving the purchase of a $250,000 high efficiency street sweeper from 2021 to 2020 to remain eligible for 


$54,464 in grant funding. 
 
Committee Action: 


 
Finance Committee meets January 8, 2019 


 
Fiscal Impact: N/A    
 
File Number:  R-5-2019 


 
Date Introduced: 


 


 
January 8, 2019 


 


RESOLUTION AMENDING THE 2019-2023 CIP BUDGET 


WHEREAS, the Finance Committee recommended the approval of the proposed 2019-2023 


City of Stoughton CIP Budget amendment to the Common Council on January 8, 2019; and 


 


 WHEREAS, an amendment was made to move the purchase of a $250,000 high efficiency street 


sweeper from 2021 to 2020 to remain eligible for $54,464 in grant funding, 


NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Common Council of the City of Stoughton, 


Dane County, Wisconsin does approve the proposed 2019-2023 CIP Budget amendment as 


presented. 


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     
 


 













































		09a-R-5-2019 - City of Stoughton 2019-2023 CIP Budget Amendment.pdf

		09b-Street Sweeper Grant Agreement.pdf






CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMOM COUNCIL 


Formally adopting the WisDOT’s procurement and contract administration manual and vehicle 


disposition guidelines as they relate to Stoughton Transit. 


 


Committee Action:   Finance Committee recommended approval 5 to 0 on December 11, 2018 


 


 
Fiscal Impact:   N/A 


  


File Number: R-6-2018 Date Introduced: January 8, 2019 


  


 


WHEREAS, Stoughton Transit Grant application requires recipients to follow the 


WisDOT’s procurement and contract administration manual and vehicle disposition guidelines; 


 


WHEREAS, the Finance Committee recommended to formally adopt the WisDOT’s 


procurement and contract administration manual and vehicle disposition guidelines as they relate 


to Stoughton Transit to the Common Council on December 11, 2018; 


 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the City of 


Stoughton formally adopt the WisDOT’s procurement and contract administration manual and 


vehicle disposition guidelines as they relate to Stoughton Transit.  


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     
 
 


 


 


 







    
PROCUREMENT 


AND  
CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 


MANUAL 
 
 


FOR THE ACQUISITION OF GOODS AND SERVICES UNDER FEDERAL 
TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION GRANT PROGRAMS 


 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 


Wisconsin Department of Transportation  
Division of Transportation Investment Management 


Bureau of Transit, Local Roads, Railroads and Harbors 
 
 
 


 Updated: September, 2018 
  







 


2 | P a g e  
 


Introduction  
 
In accordance with the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration (FTA) 
requirements, the Wisconsin Department of Transportation (WisDOT), Division of Transportation 
Investment Management (DTIM), Bureau of Transit, Local Roads, Railroads and Harbors (BTLR) has 
developed this procurement manual for all recipients utilizing FTA monies.  
 
This manual governs procurement activities under the following grant programs administered by 
WisDOT: 


• Section 5304 Planning 
• Section 5309 Major Capital Program  
• Section 5310 Elderly Individuals and Individuals with Disabilities 
• Section 5311 Nonurban Area Formula Program 
• Section 5329 State Safety Oversight 
• Section 5339 Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program 


 
The FTA Circular 4220 Third-Party Contracting Guidance (as amended), the FTA Best Practices 
Procurement Manual and the FTA program administration regulations listed below set forth the 
requirements a recipient must adhere to in the solicitation, award and administration of its third-party 
contracts. These requirements are based on the common grant rules, federal statues, Executive 
Orders and their implementing regulations, and FTA policy. 


 
• Circular 4220 – Third Party Contracting Guidance 


o https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/third-party-contracting-guidance 
• Best Practices Procurement Manual 


o https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/funding/procurement/8286/fta-best-practices-
procurement-and-lessons-learned-manual-2016.pdf 


• Master Agreement 
o https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grantee-resources/sample-fta-agreements/fta-master-agreement-


fiscal-year-2017 
• Circular 5010 – Award Management Requirements (Grant Management Guidelines) 


o https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/award-management-requirements-
circular-50101e 


• Circular 9030 – Urbanized Area Formula Program 
o https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/urbanized-area-formula-program-


program-guidance-and 
• Circular 9040 – Formula Grants for Rural Areas Program (Non-Urbanized Area Formula Program) 


o https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/formula-grants-rural-areas-program-
guidance-and-application 


• Circular 9070 – Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities Program 
o https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/enhanced-mobility-seniors-and-


individuals-disabilities 
 
When an entity applies for and accepts federal funds they also accept the responsibility of maintaining 
oversight of the procurement process and assuring its federal compliance.  
 
State and federal regulations regarding procurement of goods and services are complex, detailed, 
and often change to reflect changes in legislation. The process for each type of procurement is 
documented in the toolkits with the associated appendices: 
 


http://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/doing-bus/local-gov/astnce-pgms/transit/procure.aspx. 
 
Before procurements are initiated, recipients should review these resources and work with the 
WisDOT Transit Procurement Manager to ensure required steps are followed. Recipients are required 
to have all stages of the procurement reviewed and approved by WisDOT.  
 
There may be instances in which recipients experience procurement activities or situations not 
addressed in this manual. Recipients should contact WisDOT staff for assistance. 



https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/third-party-contracting-guidance

https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/funding/procurement/8286/fta-best-practices-procurement-and-lessons-learned-manual-2016.pdf

https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/funding/procurement/8286/fta-best-practices-procurement-and-lessons-learned-manual-2016.pdf

https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grantee-resources/sample-fta-agreements/fta-master-agreement-fiscal-year-2017

https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grantee-resources/sample-fta-agreements/fta-master-agreement-fiscal-year-2017

https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/award-management-requirements-circular-50101e

https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/award-management-requirements-circular-50101e

https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/urbanized-area-formula-program-program-guidance-and

https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/urbanized-area-formula-program-program-guidance-and

https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/formula-grants-rural-areas-program-guidance-and-application

https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/formula-grants-rural-areas-program-guidance-and-application

https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/enhanced-mobility-seniors-and-individuals-disabilities

https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/enhanced-mobility-seniors-and-individuals-disabilities

http://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/doing-bus/local-gov/astnce-pgms/transit/procure.aspx

mailto:debra.adamskipavloski@dot.wi.gov





 


3 | P a g e  
 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 


1. Overview of Procurement Requirements  
 


 1.1 General Requirements 
 


   Roles and Responsibilities 
   Procurement Duration 
   Methods of Procurement 
   Procurement Toolkits 
   Record Keeping and Documentation 
   


 1.2 Federal Requirements 
   


 1.3 WisDOT Procurement Review Process 
  


2. Recipient Procurement Process Details 
 


 2.1 To Do Before the Procurement Process 
 


   Determine the Scope of the Procurement 
   Identify Who Needs to Be Involved 
   Plan the Procurement Process 
   Decide the Method of Procurement 
  


 2.2 Procurement Packet Preparation 
   


3. Disadvantage Business Enterprise (DBE) Requirements 
   No DBE Goal 
   DBE Goal Established 
   


4. Required Federal Contract Clauses 
   


5. Contract Administration 
   


6. Miscellaneous Tools and Information 
   Procuring Agency and Contracting Officer 
   Request for Change or Approved Equal 
   Acknowledgement of Addenda 
   Offeror Service and Parts Support Data 
   Form for Proposal Deviation 
   Pricing Schedule 
   Offer and Award 


 
 


 
 
 
 
 
  







 


4 | P a g e  
 


 
 


1. OVERVIEW OF PROCUREMENT REQUIREMENTS 


1.1 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 


 Roles and Responsibilities  
 
WisDOT is the recipient authorized to receive funds directly from FTA. A subrecipient is an 
agency authorized to receive grant funds through WisDOT. The responsibility for the 
procurement process ultimately rests with WisDOT as the recipient of the FTA grant. However, 
subrecipients are obligated to follow all applicable procurement requirements and provide 
information to WisDOT demonstrating how requirements were met.  
 
For ease of use of this manual, subrecipients and WisDOT Transit Section staff are both 
referred to as a recipient. Minor deviations in the process steps for subrecipients and WisDOT 
Transit are noted throughout the manual.  
 
When a recipient conducts a procurement of goods or services funded with an FTA grant, it is 
the responsibility of that recipient to manage the entire procurement process and contract 
administration to ensure its compliance with relevant FTA requirements.  
 
If a recipient accepts capital or operating assistance, FTA requirements also apply to all 
transit-related third-party purchase orders and contracts. In addition to ensuring adequate and 
open competition for federally funded purchases of goods or services, recipients must ensure 
vendor compliance with applicable federal regulations including, developing all procurement 
documents, specifications, and contract administration.  
 
These requirements do not apply to procurements undertaken in support of capital projects 
completely accomplished without FTA funds or to those operating and planning contracts 
awarded by recipients that do not receive FTA operating and planning assistance. 
 
Procurement Duration 
 
WisDOT specifies in capital contracts that the recipient must complete all purchases within a 
period of two years. The funds will lapse at the end of the two year period if the recipient has 
not implemented all purchases. WisDOT may however exercise its discretion to approve an 
extension to a grant, on a case-by-case basis, and depending on the type of purchase (e.g. 
facility construction), if the recipient demonstrates that “reasons beyond its control” - lack of 
planning excluded - prevented compliance with this requirement and the recipient shows: 1) 
that a good faith effort has been made to complete the purchases, and 2) that it can complete 
such purchases within a reasonable amount of time. 
 
Methods of Procurement 
 
Purchases of $5,000 or less. Even though FTA considers micro-purchases as purchases of 
$10,000 or less, the $5000 threshold is unique to WisDOT and its subrecipients. Though not 
required by FTA, recipients are encouraged to solicit competitive quotes. FTA requires micro-
purchases to be distributed equably among qualified suppliers.   


o “Splitting requirements” refers to the practice of breaking down known requirements 
into two or more purchases to reduce the dollar value of each to below the micro-
purchase thresholds in order to be able to use micro-purchase procedures or otherwise 
circumvent more restrictive full-and-open competitive procedures.  FTA prohibits the 
practice of splitting requirements. 







 


5 | P a g e  
 


 
Total purchase is more than $5,000 but not greater than $49,999. If the total purchase is 
more than $5,000 but not greater than $49,999 a competitive procurement must be followed. 
The recipient must obtain quotations and signed certifications from an adequate number of 
qualified bidders, at least three.  Following delivery and recipient acceptance of the goods or 
services, reimbursement is processed and the purchase is completed.  


o “Splitting requirements” refers to the practice of breaking down known requirements 
into two or more purchases to reduce the dollar value of each to below the small-
purchase thresholds in order to be able to use small-purchase procedures or otherwise 
circumvent more restrictive full-and-open competitive procedures.  FTA prohibits the 
practice of splitting requirements. 


 
Total purchase equals or exceeds $50,000. If a total purchase equals or exceeds $50,000 
recipients must follow an Invitation for Bid (IFB) or Request for Proposal (RFP) process.  


o An Invitation for Bid (sealed bid) is used when cost is the only factor and all other 
specifications can be detailed. 


o  A Request for Proposal is a competitive proposal process in which cost is one of many 
factors and specifications are vague.  


 
For specific information on IFBs and RFPs, please refer to the appropriate toolkits on the 
WisDOT website.  
 
Design-Bid-Build – Recipients may procure design-bid-build services through means of 
sealed bidding or competitive negotiations. These services must be procured in a manner that 
conform to applicable state and local law, the requirements to Circular 4220.1F (as amended) 
relative to the method of procurement used and all other applicable federal requirements. 
 
Design-Build – Recipients must procure design-build services though means of qualifications-
based competitive proposal procedures based on the Brooks Act when the preponderance of 
the work to be performed is for architectural and engineering (A&E).  
 
Sole Source - When the recipient requires supplies or services available from only one 
responsible source, and no other supplies or services will satisfy its requirements, the recipient 
may make a sole source award. When the recipient requires an existing contractor to make a 
change to its contract that is beyond the scope of that contract, the recipient has made a sole 
source award that must be justified.  


 
o Each WisDOT Toolkit will contain a form to document any sole source 


procurements and provide additional guidance.  
 
Procurement Toolkits 
 
The total procurement cost determines the type of procurement process that must be followed.  
WisDOT has developed toolkits and appendices for each procurement type. It is imperative 
the toolkits and respective procurement steps are followed in chronological order: 
  


http://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/doing-bus/local-gov/astnce-pgms/transit/procure.aspx 
  
Recipients are required to have all stages of the procurement reviewed and approved by 
WisDOT. 


 
Record Keeping and Documentation  


 



http://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/doing-bus/local-gov/astnce-pgms/transit/procure.aspx





 


6 | P a g e  
 


Files must be maintained on all procurement actions, sufficiently detailed to sustain an audit of 
the procurement, and clearly document what goods or services were purchased with the 
associated costs.  
 
The files must document compliance with FTA and WisDOT requirements. A Procurement 
History File Checklist is included in each procurement toolkit. Recipients should use the 
Procurement History File Checklist as the framework for the procurement process and as a 
checklist to ensure completeness of procurement files.   
 
FTA requires recipients to maintain procurement files and grant files for a period of not less 
than (3) three years from the closing of the grant.  
 


1.2 FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 


The following general requirements are established in FTA Circular 4220 Third Party 
Contracting Requirements: 
 


https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/third-party-contracting-guidance 
 


Cost Plus Percentage of Cost Contracts - FTA does not allow Cost plus Percentage of Cost 
Contracts. Profit must be set at a fixed amount (the “fixed fee”) on contracts with third party 
vendors, based on the initial estimate of work. 
 
Conformance with State and Local Law - Recipients shall use their own procurement 
procedures that reflect applicable State and local laws and regulations, provided that the 
procurements conform to applicable federal law, including the requirements and standards 
identified in Circular 4220 Third Party Contracting Requirements. 
 
Special Notification Requirements for States – The FTA requires the following statement to 
be included in all solicitation documents: “Federal grant monies (insert federal grant 
agreement amount) fund this contract, in whole or in part (Section 53XX – CFDA 20.5XX). 


 
Contract Administration System - Recipients shall maintain a contract administration system 
that ensures that contractors perform in accordance with the terms, conditions, and 
specifications of their contracts or purchase orders.  A sound contract administration system 
identifies what is needed in the procurement and documents all steps in the process (i.e. 
solicitation, negotiation, and contract). Recipients should refer to the contract during the life of 
the contract to ensure the contractor is complying with all requirements. 


 
o Contract administration starts with the procurement.  Recipients should ensure all 


pertinent information required in the contract is included in the solicitation. Failure to do 
so may cause cardinal changes which are prohibited by FTA. Anything negotiated 
during an RFP should also be included in the contract. Recipients should watch for any 
changes that may not have been in the original solicitation.  


 
Written Standards of Conduct - Recipients shall maintain written standards of conduct 
governing the performance of their employees engaged in the award and administration of 
contracts and regarding potential conflicts of interest. No employee, officer, agent, immediate 
family member, partner, or board member of the grantee shall: 1) participate in the selection, 
award, or administration of a contract supported by FTA funds if a conflict of interest exists, 
real or apparent or 2) solicit or accept gifts, gratuities, favors, or anything of monetary value 
from contractors, potential contractors, or parties to subcontracts. 
 



https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/fta-circulars/third-party-contracting-guidance





 


7 | P a g e  
 


Liquidated Damages - FTA has determined that a recipient may use liquidated damages if 
the recipient reasonably expects to suffer damages through delayed contract completion, or if 
weight requirements are exceeded, and the extent or amount of such damages are uncertain 
and would be difficult or impossible to determine. The rate and measurement standards must 
be calculated to reasonably reflect the recipient’s costs should the standards not be met, and 
must be specified in the solicitation and contract. The assessment for damages is often 
established at a specific rate per day for each day beyond the contract’s delivery date or 
performance period. A measurement other than a day or another period of time, however, may 
be established if that measurement is appropriate, such as weight requirements in a rolling 
stock purchase. The procurement file should include a record of the calculation and rationale 
for the amount of damages established. Any liquidated damages recovered must be credited 
to the project account involved unless FTA permits otherwise.  


 
Ensuring Most Efficient and Economic Purchase - Recipient procedures shall provide for a 
review of proposed procurements to avoid purchase of unnecessary or duplicative items. 
Consideration should be given to consolidating or breaking out procurements to obtain a more 
economical purchase. 
 
Written Record of Procurement History - Recipients shall maintain records detailing the 
history of procurement. Appendix A in each procurement toolkit allows recipients to document 
a Written Record of Procurement History.  


 
Awards to Responsible and Responsive Contractors - Recipients shall make awards only 
to responsible and responsive contractors possessing the ability to perform successfully under 
the terms and conditions of a proposed procurement. Consideration shall be given to such 
matters as conforming to the requirements of the solicitation, contractor integrity, compliance 
with public policy, record of past performance, and financial and technical resources. All 
procurements must include a printout from www.sam.gov.The date of the printout must be on 
the bottom of the page.  


 
o Procurement Toolkits on the WisDOT website include documents on determining cost 


and price reasonableness, evaluation factors, contractor reasonableness, and 
contractor selection procedures.  


 
Advanced Payments – FTA does not allow advanced payments 
 
Revenue Contract – Contracts whose primary purpose is either to generate revenues in 
connection with a transit related activity, or to create business opportunities utilizing an FTA 
funded asset. FTA requires these contracts to be awarded utilizing competitive selections 
procedures and principals. The extent of and type of competition required is within the 
discretionary judgment of the grantee.  


 
Written Protest Procedures - Recipients shall have written protest procedures to handle and 
resolve disputes relating to their procurements and shall in all instances disclose information 
regarding the protest to WisDOT. WisDOT is responsible for notifying FTA. All protest 
decisions must be in writing. A protester must exhaust all administrative remedies with the 
grantee before pursuing a protest with WisDOT or FTA. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Written Protest Procedures for WisDOT Procurements – WisDOT’s protest procedures shall follow the 
Wisconsin Department of Administration (DOA) requirement in which the initial protest must be 
submitted to the Secretary’s Office. If the contractor is not satisfied with the response from the 
Secretary’s Office, the contractor may submit their protest to DOA. Once a decision has been made, a 
summary of the protest and decision must be sent to FTA. 


 
 



http://www.sam.gov/





 


8 | P a g e  
 


 
Changes and Modifications - Recipients shall have written changes and modifications 
procedures to handle and resolve issues, clarifications, errors and corrections relating to their 
procurements and shall in all instances disclose such information to WisDOT. WisDOT is 
responsible for notifying FTA, as needed. All changes and modifications to a procurement 
must be documented.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 


Contract Period of Performance Limitation - Recipients shall not enter into any contract 
with period of performance exceeding five (5) years inclusive of options without prior written 
FTA approval. In addition, recipients must not enter into contracts for revenue rolling stock and 
replacement parts with a period of performance exceeding five years inclusive of options, 
extensions, or renewals. 


 
Full and Open Competition - All procurement transactions will be conducted in a manner    
providing full and open competition. Some of the situations considered to be restrictive of   
competition include, but are not limited to:  


• Unreasonable requirements placed on firms in order for them to qualify to do business;  
• Unnecessary experience and excessive bonding requirements;  
• Noncompetitive pricing practices between firms or between affiliated companies;  
• Noncompetitive awards to any person or firm on retainer contracts;  
• Organizational conflicts of interest. An organizational conflict of interest means that 


because of other activities, relationships, or contracts, a contractor is unable, or 
potentially unable, to render impartial assistance or advice to the grantee; a contractor's 
objectivity in performing the contract work is or might be otherwise impaired; or a 
contractor has an unfair competitive advantage;  


• The specification of only a "brand name" product without listing its salient characteristics 
and not allowing "an equal" product to be offered; and  


• Any arbitrary action in the procurement process. 
 


Written Procurement Selection Procedures – Recipients shall have written selection 
procedures for procurement transactions. All solicitations shall: 


 


• Incorporate a clear and accurate description of the technical requirements for the 
material, product, or service to be procured. Such description shall not, in competitive 
procurements, contain features that unduly restrict competition. The description may 
include a statement of the qualitative nature of the material, product, or service to be 
procured and when necessary, shall set forth those minimum essential characteristics 
and standards to which it must conform if it is to satisfy its intended use.  


 


• Use a "brand name or equal" description only when it cannot provide an adequate 
specification or more detailed description, without performing an inspection and 
analysis, in time for the acquisition under consideration. A recipient wishing to use 
"brand name or equal" must carefully identify its minimum needs and clearly set forth 
those salient physical and functional characteristics of the brand name product in the 
solicitation.  


 


• Identify all requirements that vendors must fulfill and all other factors to be used in 
evaluating bids or proposals. 


Written Changes and Modifications for WisDOT Procurements – WisDOT’s changes and modifications 
procedures shall follow the Wisconsin Department of Administration (DOA) policy requirements. 
WisDOT will also review the FTA Best Practices Procurement Manual and the FTA Circular Third Party 
Contracting Guidance 4220, as amended for guidance. WisDOT also will consult FTA for guidance and 
document the changes and modifications in the procurement file.  


 


 







 


9 | P a g e  
 


 
Pre-Qualification Criteria – Recipients shall ensure that all lists of prequalified persons, firms 
or products that are used in acquiring goods and services are current and include enough 
qualified sources to ensure maximum full and open competition. Also, recipients shall not 
preclude potential bidders/proposers from qualifying during the solicitation period, which is 
from issuance of the solicitation to its closing date. 
 
Options – Recipients may include options in contracts. An option is a unilateral right in a 
contract by which, for a specified time, a recipient may elect to purchase additional equipment, 
supplies, or services called for by the contract, or may elect to extend the term of the contract. 
If a recipient chooses to use options, the requirements below apply: 


 
 


• Evaluation of Options: The option quantities or periods contained in the contractor's bid 
or offer must be evaluated in order to determine contract award. When options have not 
been evaluated as part of the award, the exercise of such options will be considered a 
sole source procurement.  


 
 


• Exercise of Options:  
 The exercise of an option must be in accordance with the terms and conditions 


of the option stated in the initial contract awarded.  
 


 An option may not be exercised unless the recipient has determined that the 
option price is better than prices available in the market or that the option is the 
more advantageous offer at the time the option is exercised. 


 


 At the time options are signed, it is imperative to include the updated federal 
clauses. The contractor should have signed copies of the clauses for every year 
of the contract. 


 
Intergovernmental Procurement Agreements - To foster greater economy and efficiency, 
recipients are encouraged to enter into State and local intergovernmental agreements for 
procurement or use of common goods and services. The requirements and standards of 
Circular 4220 Third Party Contracting Requirements apply to procurements entered into under 
such agreements using FTA funds. 
 
Veterans Hiring Preference - Recipients and subrecipients of Federal financial assistance 
under this chapter shall ensure that contractors working on a capital project funded using such 
assistance give a hiring preference, to the extent practicable, to veterans (as defined in section 
2108 of title 5) who have the requisite skills and abilities to perform the construction work 
required under the contract. This subsection shall not be understood, construed or enforced in 
any manner that would require an employer to give preference to any veteran over any equally 
qualified applicant who is a member of any racial or ethnic minority, female, an individual with 
a disability, or former employee. 


 
Use of General Services Administration (GSA) Schedules And Excess Or Surplus 
Federal Property - State and local grantees may use approved federal supply schedules of 
GSA for the procurement of certain goods and services, 40 U.S.C. § 481(b). Price lists will be 
available from GSA and may include an administrative fee for GSA in the price of items on the 
schedule. Recipients must contact GSA for guidance on using the GSA supply schedules. 


 
Use of Value Engineering in Construction Contracts - Recipients are encouraged to use 
value engineering clauses in contracts for construction projects of sufficient size to offer 
reasonable opportunities for cost reductions. Value engineering is a systematic and creative 
analysis of each contract item or task to ensure that its essential function is provided at the 
overall lowest cost. 


 







 


10 | P a g e  
 


Use of Time and Materials Type Contracts – Recipients will use time and material type 
contracts only after a determination that no other type of contract is suitable and if the contract 
specifies a ceiling price that the contractor shall not exceed, except at its own risk. 


 
Responsibility for Settlement of Contract Issues/Disputes - Recipients alone will be 
responsible for sound administrative and business practices and settlement of all contractual 
and administrative issues arising out of procurements. 


 
Prohibition Against Geographic Preferences – Recipients shall conduct procurements in a 
manner that prohibits the use of statutorily or administratively imposed in-state or local 
geographical preferences in the evaluation of bids or proposals, except in those cases where 
applicable Federal statutes expressly mandate or encourage geographic preference. This 
does not preempt state licensing laws. However, geographic location may be a selection 
criterion in procurements for Architectural and Engineering (A&E) services provided its 
application leaves an appropriate number of qualified firms, given the nature and size of the 
project, to compete for the contract.  


 
Architectural and Engineering (A & E) Contracts – A &E contracts should follow the Brooks 
Act, which requires the selection of engineering and design related services on the basis of 
demonstrated competence and qualifications for the type of professional services required. It 
also includes serial negotiations for fair and reasonable compensation. 


 
 
  


 


 
 
 
 
 
 


FTA Required Clauses - FTA required clauses must be included in the recipient procurement 
process. Master lists of all clauses are included in each toolkit. 


 
Construction Contracts Over $100,000 - For construction contracts over $100,000, FTA-
accepted local bonding requirements must be met. 


 
Service Contracts - Any service contracts that exceed five years in total length including base 
and options require prior written approval from FTA. Competitive procurement requirements 
must be included in the recipient’s third party contract for services funded with federal dollars. 


 
Progress Payments - Progress payments are not allowed unless the recipient has obtained 
title or possession of the property or taken alternative steps to protect the recipient's interest. 


 
Procurement of Vehicles - If the recipient is purchasing revenue rolling stock, it must make a 
determination that the vehicle has been tested as required prior to the expenditure of FTA funds 
(http://altoonabustest.psu.edu/home).  


 


• If the bus model does not require testing, the recipient must obtain a certification from 
the manufacturer (not the vehicle dealer) that the bus does not need to be tested. 
 


• The recipient must also complete the Pre-Award and Post Delivery reporting 
requirements as established in the FTA handbook: 


WisDOT A&E Procurements – Three essential steps are required: 1) Document the desired 
qualifications for the contract, 2) Contact the Audit and Contract Administration Section in the Bureau 
of State Highway Programs to obtain and document a list of qualified engineers and 3) Determine and 
select the WisDOT solicitation process. There are two possible solicitation processes, the DTSD-Bureau 
of Project Development, Consultant Services Section or DBM-Purchasing. The DTSD-Bureau of Project 
Development, Consultant Service Section process can be used to advertise the solicitation if the 
schedule matches the timing of procurement. If this timeframe is not suitable, contact DBM-Purchasing 
to post the solicitation on the public notices website. 







 


11 | P a g e  
 


 
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/regulations-and-guidance/buy-america/58191/buy-
america-handbook-rpt0106.pdf 


 
 


• Pre-Award and Post-Delivery reporting requirements are complex. Please contact the 
WisDOT Procurement Manager for further assistance. 


 
Piggybacking – Piggybacking is the post-award use of a contractual/process that allows an 
entity who was not contemplated in the original procurement to purchase the same 
supplies/equipment through that original document/process. Refer to the Piggybacking 
Worksheet for additional information: 
 


https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/procurement/third-party-procurement/united-states-best-practices-
procurement-manual-%E2%80%93 


 
 


• Any procurement where “piggy-backing” is involved shall have an assignability clause 
that provides for the assignment of all or part of the specified deliverables (base and 
option included) as originally advertised, competed, evaluated, and awarded.  The clause 
cannot be added to the contract after award if it was missing from the original solicitation. 
Bidders must be placed on notice that an assignment is likely and that they will thus be 
delivering all of the quantities called for by the contract.  
 


• The procurement documents shall contain a minimum and maximum quantity of 
deliverables.  


 


• Any contract clauses that unduly restrict competition are prohibited.  
 


• If a recipient is procuring any equipment or materials using option clauses, these must 
be evaluated at the time of the initial bid with prices established at that time.  
 


• The use of liquidated damage clauses in recipient procurements is mandatory. 
 
 
1.3     WISDOT PROCUREMENT REVIEW PROCESS 


 
WisDOT considers the recipient procurement to be a local process. The recipient is 
responsible for the procurement of goods and services under its funding contract with 
WisDOT. WisDOT follows a procurement review process to ensure compliance with federal 
and state regulations. This review process takes place at three distinct points during the 
recipient’s procurement: 


 
• Pre-Bid/RFP Review Process 


 


• Bid/RFP Pre-Award Review Process 
 


• Post-Delivery Activities 
 


The following diagram illustrates the WisDOT Procurement Review Process. The required 
forms for   recipient submittal to WisDOT are included in the procurement toolkits available on 
the WisDOT website.  



https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/regulations-and-guidance/buy-america/58191/buy-america-handbook-rpt0106.pdf

https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/regulations-and-guidance/buy-america/58191/buy-america-handbook-rpt0106.pdf

https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/procurement/third-party-procurement/united-states-best-practices-procurement-manual-%E2%80%93

https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/procurement/third-party-procurement/united-states-best-practices-procurement-manual-%E2%80%93





 


12 | P a g e  
 


WisDOT PROCUREMENT 


REVIEW PROCESS 


PRE-BID / RFP REVIEW PROCESS 


-  Recipient develops procurement packet and submits to WisDOT 


   -  WisDOT staff reviews packet for compliance with federal and state requirements  
-  WisDOT authorizes recipient to solicit Bids/Proposals 


BID / RFP PRE-AWARD REVIEW 
-  Recipient provides bid /proposal tabulation of results and selected/desired 


vendor / firm along with required documentation for WisDOT  review 
-  Following review, WisDOT notifies recipient that all documentation for a compliant  


procurement has been received. 
 -  Recipient awards the contract 


POST-DELIVERY ACTIVITIES 


-   Upon delivery, the recipient should ensure the product or service purchased complied 
with their specifications and contract; including any modifications. 


-   Recipient submits reimbursement request, reports, and supporting documentation 
  to WisDOT for payment of federal dollars 


-   If everything is in order, WisDOT issues a reimbursement check to  recipient 


LOCAL PLANNING PROCESS 


LOCAL BID / RFP PROCESS 


PURCHASE & DELIVERY 
COMPLETED 







 


13 | P a g e  
 


 
2.  RECIPIENT PROCUREMENT PROCESS DETAILS 
 
This section of the manual is intended to explain the requirements of the recipient procurement 
process.  


2.1  TO DO BEFORE PROCUREMENT PROCESS 
Determine the Scope of the Procurement 
 
To begin the procurement, recipients should first review the original grant request and determine the 
scope and budget of the procurement. The scope of your procurement should coincide with the 
approved grant agreement from WisDOT. Once the goals of the procurement are clear, detailed 
specifications and a procurement packet can be developed. The recipient should consider the desired 
goals and outcomes. Clearly stated goals allow recipients to make effective decisions regarding the 
scope of the procurement and what and how much to purchase.   


Identify Who Needs to be Involved  
 


Internal Agency Involvement 
Early in the procurement process identify the individuals involved as this will facilitate the overall 
process and save time in the long term. Depending on the procurement type, seek input from 
different functional areas in the organization.  This could include staff from any or all of the 
following areas: purchasing, engineering, legal, financial/ accounting, transit manager, drivers, 
maintenance staff or others.  
 
The following work area responsibilities should be considered: 
 


• Department initiating the procurement for items to be purchased; 
• Drivers and maintenance personnel for technical input related to vehicles; 
• Finance for invoicing and payment scheduling; 
• Legal for contracts, bonding, insurance, certification, procurement timetable 
• Areas of specialized expertise that can provide technical information on items such as 


performance standards, evaluation criteria, incentives, required forms or procedures, and 
desired timetable. 


 
External Resources 
Consider soliciting outside assistance if your agency is small and has limited procurement experience. 
This could include legal or other technical assistance in writing specifications, and/or assuring bidder 
compliance with state, federal or local regulations.  
 
Potential resources include: 
 


• Technical personnel within the community or neighboring communities; 
• Transit agencies;  
• Local, State and federal agencies 
• WisDOT   


 
WisDOT also recommends the bid /proposal packet be reviewed by your transit committee to ensure 
the type of goods or services procured meet the needs of your community. 
 







 


14 | P a g e  
 


One way to reduce the need for outside assistance is to include language in the procurement package 
which requires contractors to assume responsibility for compliance with certain process elements 
included in the bid or proposal.   
 
The recipient of federal funds as the administrator of the procurement and the contract has the 
ultimate responsibility for compliance with all requirements of the procurement process. 


Plan the Procurement Process 
 
Once identified individuals have been determined and selected, address the following items with the 
group: 


• Review agency resources in terms of managing the procurement process, and determine if 
others need to be involved 
 


• Assign specific responsibilities to each participant 
 


• Create advertising policies for solicitation or publication of notices 
 


• Review local, state and federal government requirements 
 


• Clearly identify bidder/proposer responsibilities 
 


• Establish a communication and reporting process  
 


• Identify key dates, timeline and frequency of meetings  
 


 Meet as many times as needed to complete the procurement process on time 
 


 Ensure the procurement occurs at the correct time of year. For example, if working on a 
construction procurement, the specifications should be developed in fall/winter for a spring 
solicitation, summer construction. 
 


 Set the meeting schedule to coincide with board or council meetings, if board/council 
approval is required. If possible, build in extra time if an emergency meeting is warranted. 


 


• Use the Procurement History File Checklist to ensure proper procurement documents are 
recorded and organized. 
 


Decide the Method of Procurement 
 
The process for each type of procurement is documented in the toolkits with the associated appendices. 
The total procurement cost determines the type of procurement process that must be followed: 
   


http://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/doing-bus/local-gov/astnce-pgms/transit/procure.aspx 
 
Invitation for Bid (IFB) 
The Invitation for Bid (IFB) is a sealed bid and the most common method used in the public sector to 
obtain specific goods, such as vehicles and equipment. This method is typically used when complete 
specifications or purchase descriptions are available or can be easily developed. The IFB process 
must involve two or more bidders and the award is made to the bidder who complies with the 
requirements and instructions of the IFB, and who offers the lowest total bid price while meeting all 
specifications and requirements.  
 
Request for Proposal (RFP)  
The Request for Proposal (RFP) is a competitive procurement method when a general, rather than 
specific, description of goods and/or services is used. This method allows for the procurement of 
goods and/or services in which every detail of the work to be done cannot be specified and/or when 
creativity on the part of the proposer is desired.   
 
 



http://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/doing-bus/local-gov/astnce-pgms/transit/procure.aspx





 


15 | P a g e  
 


 
Request for Qualifications (RFQ) 
The Request for Qualifications (RFQ) process provides information on the background and 
experience of the proposer. This process is followed by an RFP process, if more than one qualified 
bidder is available. Frequently, the RFQ and RFP processes are combined into a single “RFP” 
document. This is used most frequently for A & E solicitations. 
 
Request for Information (RFI) 
The Request for Information (RFI) process provides technical information on a commodity and allows 
the recipient to determine if an item is available in the market place. In instances in which information 
on commodities are not readily available, recipients may contact vendors to provide information that 
can be incorporated into the specifications.  
 
Sole Source Procurement 
When other than full and open competition is contemplated, procurement methods such as sole 
source, single bidder proposal, national emergency, etc. can be utilized. Recipients are instructed to 
follow the procurement requirements for these methods as outlined in FTA Circular 4220.  
 


2.1 PROCUREMENT PACKET PREPARATION 
 
The procurement packet is the set of documents that contains information relevant to the procurement 
and submitted to WisDOT for review before recipients are approved to solicit offers on a project. The 
packet information can be found on the WisDOT website for each type of procurement: 
 


http://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/doing-bus/local-gov/astnce-pgms/transit/procure.aspx 
 


3. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (DBE) REQUIREMENTS 
 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprise or (DBE) means a for-profit small business that is:   
 


1. At least 51 percent owned by one or more individuals who are socially or economically 
disadvantaged or, in the case of a corporation, in which 51 percent of the stock is owned by 
one or more such individuals and 
 


2. Whose management and daily operations are controlled by one or more of the socially and 
economically disadvantaged individuals who own it.   


DBE provisions apply to USDOT assisted contracts for airports, highways and transit. This includes 
the use of Federal Transit Administration (FTA) planning, capital, and/or operating funds spent on 
contracts. The FTA requires organizations receiving FTA funds to make efforts to purchase from, or 
use, DBE firms.  


As a FTA funding recipient, the Wisconsin Department of Transportation (WisDOT) Transit Section 
and its subrecpients must adhere to DBE provisions that must be addressed in the procurement 
process. These provisions include: 
 
DBE Goal Setting 
 
Three Year Goal 
An overall goal for DBE participation in FTA assisted contracts is developed by WisDOT and 
submitted to FTA for review every three years. The goal incorporates the anticipated FTA funded 
contracting opportunities of both WisDOT and subrecipients for a three year period defined by FTA.  



http://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/doing-bus/local-gov/astnce-pgms/transit/procure.aspx





 


16 | P a g e  
 


 
Information on WisDOT’s DBE goal is available on the WisDOT website: 
 


http://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/doing-bus/local-gov/astnce-pgms/transit/compliance/dbe.aspx 
 


Contract Specific Goals 
Recipients should notify the WisDOT Program and Procurement Managers of upcoming 
procurements. WisDOT will determine if a contract goal should be established based on the size and 
nature of a particular procurement as well as the type and location of work, availability of DBEs to 
perform the particular type of work, etc. Note: Vehicle procurements are not subject to WisDOT’s DBE 
goal setting requirements.  
 
 


No DBE Goal  
 


If WisDOT determines that no specific DBE goal should be assigned to the procurement, the 
Procurement Manager will work with the recipient to assign the appropriate federal clause. 
This includes eliminating the language on any specific goal since the procurement falls under 
the WisDOT overall goal. 


 
DBE Goal Established 


 


If WisDOT determines there should be an assigned DBE goal to the procurement, the 
Procurement Manager will assist the recipient in completing the additional paperwork to be 
include in the solicitation along with the appropriate federal clause.  
 
The DBE goal setting process on a procurement is technical and requires specific steps that 
must be followed throughout the procurement process and as part of contract administration. 
The WisDOT Transit Section will provide assistance for recipients whose procurement is a 
signed a DBE goal.  


 
Good faith efforts are a consideration when a contract specific goal is established. Contact the 
WisDOT Procurement Manager for procedures and methodology for determining good faith efforts. 
 
DBE Contract Clauses 
All FTA-assisted contract solicitations by WisDOT or its subrecipients must be reviewed and approved 
by the Transit Procurement Manager to ensure they contain the appropriate FTA clauses. These 
clauses contain provisions related to DBE requirements. 
 
The required contract clauses address non-discrimination, third-party contracting, prompt payment, 
Transit Vehicle Manufacturer (TVM) certification, termination, and remedies for prime contractors that 
do not comply. 


 
Bidders List  
Subrecipients with third-party contracts are required to submit a bidders list to WisDOT. A full 
description of the process used and documentation required for a bidders list can be found in the 
WisDOT procurement toolkits. 


 
Prompt Payment 
Prompt payment by prime contractors to their subcontracts is also required, including the return of 
retainage. While contract-specific goals are not required on all contracts, if a contract-specific goal is 
established, additional information must be collected from bidders prior to contract award. 


It is imperative that the appropriate federal clauses are attached whether there is a DBE goal or 
not. 


 



http://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/doing-bus/local-gov/astnce-pgms/transit/compliance/dbe.aspx





 


17 | P a g e  
 


 
 
TVM Certification 
Recipients must ensure that transit vehicle procurements using FTA funds only occur with TVMs that 
adhere to FTA requirements. This is done through the inclusion of FTA required contract clauses and 
a certification, to be completed by the TVM, in the solicitation and pre-award documents. The required 
process for handling TVM solicitations is included in the toolkits related to vehicle purchases.  


 
Transit Vehicle Award Report  
Recipients are required to submit, within 30 days of making an award, the name of the successful 
transit vehicle manufacturer and the total dollar value of the contract (49 CFR 26.49) using the FTA 
Transit Vehicle Award Report form.  The FTA report form and instructions can be found at: 
 


https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/civil-rights-ada/eligible-transit-vehicle-manufacturers 
 
Subrecipients must contact WisDOT to assist with the completion and submission of the Transit 
Vehicle Award Report form.  Completed forms are to be kept in the procurement file. 
 
 


4. REQUIRED FEDERAL CONTRACT CLAUSES 
 


The successful contractor is expected to be familiar with and meet all stated or otherwise applicable 
federal clauses and standards. FTA third party contract clauses can be obtained through 
“Procurement Pro,” an online procurement management system produced by National RTAP.  
Procurement Pro is available through the following webpage:  
 


http://www.nationalrtap.org/ 
 
Recipients are responsible for evaluating these requirements for relevance and applicability to each 
procurement. A master list of all federal clauses is included in the toolkits. Recipients should work with 
the WisDOT Procurement Manager to ensure completeness of contract clauses.  
 
Listed below is the matrix of FTA required contract clauses and federal certifications.  
 
 


Applicability of Third Party Contract Provisions 
(Excluding micro-purchases, except for construction contracts over $2,000) 


 
 


 
 


CLAUSE 


 
TYPE OF PROCUREMENT 


Professional 
Services/A&E 


Operations/ 
Management/ 


Recipients 


Revenue 
Rolling Stock 


 
Construction 


 


Materials & 
Supplies 


No Federal government 
obligations   to  third-parties 
by use of a disclaimer 


 
All 


 
All 


 
All 


 
All 


 
All 


Program fraud and false or 
fraudulent  statements  and 
related acts 


 
All 


 
All 


 
All 


 
All 


 
All 


Access to Records All All All All All 


Federal changes All All All All All 



https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/civil-rights-ada/eligible-transit-vehicle-manufacturers

http://www.nationalrtap.org/





 


18 | P a g e  
 


 
 


CLAUSE 


 
TYPE OF PROCUREMENT 


Professional 
Services/A&E 


Operations/ 
Management/ 


Recipients 


Revenue 
Rolling Stock 


 
Construction 


 


Materials & 
Supplies 


Civil Rights (EEO, Title VI & 
ADA) 


 


All 
 


All 
 


All 
 


All 
 


All 


Incorporation of FTA Terms All All All All All 


Energy Conservation All All All All All 


Termination Provisions (not 
required of states) 


 


>$10,000 
 


>$10,000 
 


>$10,000 
 


>$10,000 
 


>$10,000 


Debarment and Suspension >$25,000 >$25,000 >$25,000 >$25,000 >$25,000 
 


 
Buy America 


   


 
>$100,000 


 


 
>$100,000 


>$100,000 
(for steel, iron, 
manufactured 
products) 


Provisions for resolution of 
disputes, breaches or other 
litigation 


 
>$100,000 


 
>$100,000 


 
>$100,000 


 
>$100,000 


 
>$100,000 


Lobbying >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 


Clean Air >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 


Clean Water >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 


 
 


Cargo Preference 


  Involving 
property that 
may  be 
transported by 
ocean vessel 


Involving 
property that 
may  be 
transported by 
ocean vessel 


Involving 
property that 
may be 
transported by 
ocean vessel 


 


 
Fly America 


Involving 
foreign 
transport or 
travel by air 


Involving 
foreign 
transport or 
travel by air 


Involving 
foreign 
transport or 
travel by air 


Involving 
foreign 
transport or 
travel by air 


Involving 
foreign 
transport or 
travel by air 
 
 
 
 


 
Davis Bacon Act 


   >$2,000 
(including ferry 
vessels) 


 


 


 
Copeland Anti-Kickback 
Act 


   Section 1: All 
Section 2: 
>$2,000 
(including ferry 
vessels) 


 


Contract   Work   Hours   & 
Safety Standards Act 


  
>$100,000 


 
>$100,000 


>$100,000 
(including ferry 
vessels) 


 


Bonding   (not   required   of 
states) 


   >$100,000 
(including ferry 
vessels) 


 


 
Seismic Safety 


A&E  for  new 
Buildings & 
additions 


  New  buildings 
& additions 


 







 


19 | P a g e  
 


 
 


CLAUSE 


 
TYPE OF PROCUREMENT 


Professional 
Services/A&E 


Operations/ 
Management/ 


Recipients 


Revenue 
Rolling Stock 


 
Construction 


 


Materials & 
Supplies 


 
 


Transit Employee Protective 
Arrangements 


 Transit 
operations 
funded with 
Section 5307, 
5309,5311 or 
5316 funds 


   


Charter Service Operations  All    


School Bus Operations  All    
 
 
 


Drug and Alcohol Testing 


 Transit 
operations 
funded with 
Section 5307, 
5309 or 5311 
funds 


   


Patent Rights Research & 
development 


    


Rights in Data and 
Copyrights requirements 


Research & 
development 


    


Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprises (DBEs) 


 


All 
 


All 
 


All 
 


All 
 


All 


 
 


Prompt Payment 


All non TVM 
purchases if 
threshold for 
DBE program 
met 


All non TVM 
purchases if 
threshold for 
DBE program 
met 


All non TVM 
purchases if 
threshold for 
DBE program 
met 


All non TVM 
purchases if 
threshold for 
DBE program 
met 


All non TVM 
purchases if 
threshold for 
DBE program 
met 


 
 
 


Recycled Products 


 Contracts for 
items 
designated  by 
EPA, when 
procuring 
$10,000 or 
more per year 


 Contracts for 
items 
designated  by 
EPA, when 
procuring 
$10,000 or 
more per year 


Contracts for 
items 
designated  by 
EPA, when 
procuring 
$10,000 or 
more per year 


ADA Access A&E All All All  


Veterans Employment    All  


Special Notification 
Requirements for States 


Limited to 
states 


Limited to 
states 


Limited to 
states 


Limited to 
states 


Limited to 
states 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


20 | P a g e  
 


 
REQUIRED CERTIFICATIONS, REPORTS, AND FORMS  


(excluding micro-purchases, except for construction contracts over $2,000) 
 


REQUIREMENT 
 


COMMENTS 
MASTER 


AGREEMENT 
REFERENCE*** 


Bus Testing Certification and Report Procurements of buses and modified 
mass produced vans §17.p(4) 


Transit Vehicle Manufacturer Certification Procurements of buses and modified 
mass produced vans §13.d(3) 


Buy America Certification Projects >$100,000 that contain steel, 
iron or manufactured products (see note) §16.a 


Pre-Award Audit Rolling stock procurements §17.p(3) 


Pre-Award Buy America Certification Rolling stock 
procurements>$100,000(see note) 


§17.p(3) 


Pre-Award Purchaser’s Requirement Certification Rolling stock procurements §17.p(3) 


Post-Delivery Audit Rolling stock procurements §17.p(3) 


Post-Delivery Buy America Certification Rolling stock procurements 
>$100,000(see note) 


§17.p(3) 


Post-Delivery Purchaser’s Requirement Certification Rolling stock procurements §17.p(3) 


 
On-Site Inspector’s Report 


Rolling stock procurements for more than 
10 vehicles for areas >200,000 in 
population and 20 for areas <200,000 in 
population 


§17.p(3) 


Federal Motor Vehicles Safety Standards Pre-Award 
and Post-Delivery Certification Non-rail rolling stock procurements §17.p(3) 


Excluded Parties Listing System search Procurements > $25,000 §3.b 
Lobbying Certification Procurements > $100,000 §3.d 
Standard Form LLL and Quarterly Updates (when 
required) 


Procurements > $100,000 where 
contractor engages in lobbying activities §3.d 


  







 


21 | P a g e  
 


 
5. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 
 
After the procurement is complete, the recipient is responsible for ensuring that the product or 
services procured are actually received.  
 
The recipient should identify a person within their agency to oversee the contract and to be 
responsible for the following activities: 
 


• Understand the nature of the solicitation, what was agreed to as part of the negotiations, and 
the structure and substance of the contract. 
 


• Monitor the contract to ensure there is no scope creep, cardinal changes, or tag-ons. 
o Scope creep is when small changes in service levels or commodity purchases are 


made to multi-year agreements over a period of time, resulting in a large change from 
the original procurement. 


o Cardinal changes are major deviations from the original purpose of the work or the 
intended method of achievement, or a revision of contract work so extensive, 
significant, or cumulative that, in effect, the contractor is required to perform very 
different work from that described in the original contract. 


o Tag-ons are adding quantities on to the contracted quantities (base and option) as 
originally advertised, competed, and awarded, whether for the use of the buyer or for 
others and then treating the add-on portion as though it met the requirement of the 
original competition. 


o If modifications are required, complete the necessary paperwork listed in the 
appendices of the respective toolkit. Work with the person who conducted the 
procurement to complete the required paperwork.  


o For additional information: Page 8 of FTA Circular 4220 Third-Party Contracting 
Guidance 
 


• Track the progress of the project.  
o Document the progress, deliverables reached and decisions made. 


 If the contract requirements are not being met, document the areas of non-
compliance. Discuss areas of non-compliance with the contractor, document 
the conversations and timeframe and deliverables of corrective actions. Discuss 
and document issues such as if the project is on time and on budget? If not, 
discuss and document what needs to happen to get it back on track?  
 


o Ensure that contract invoicing is consistent and compliant with contract provisions 
 


 


o Key documents in the contract administration file: 
 Statement of Work 
 Required Reports 
 Documentation necessary to review, approve and pay invoices 


 


• Manage the project throughout the life of the contract.  
o If there are multiple years to the contract, know when the contract was executed, the 


original term of the contract (1 year or 2 years), were the options included in the 
contract, is a new solicitation needed. If it’s in an option year, there is documentation 
needed to be completed a couple of months before the contract expires. If a new 
solicitation is needed, it should be started 6-12 months before the current contract 
expires.  
 


o If the contract has an option year(s), verify and document the following: 
 







 


22 | P a g e  
 


 The price for the current year is fair and reasonable. Check the contract to see 
if there is an escalator/de-escalator based on Consumer Price Index (CPI) or 
Producer Price Index (PPI). If CPI or PPI is the only factor, and the contractor is 
willing to sign an Exercise of Options to extend the contract for another year at 
the existing price, submit written documentation supporting that decision. 
 


 If recipient does not execute an exercise of option year, then procurement must 
be resolicited. 


 
 


 Whether the contractor has performed as required in the contract. If not, 
consider resoliciting for a contractor that can perform satisfactorily. 


 
 


 The statement/scope of work for the next year. Check with all personnel that 
may be affected by the contract to verify completeness of the statement of 
work. Keep in mind, the scope of work must be consistent with the contract and 
should not include scope creep or cardinal changes. 
 
 


 Obtain signed federal clauses for each option year. 
 


o For Commodities 
 


 Verify the item received was the item on the purchase order. Complete any 
necessary paperwork and/or reporting. The recipient must ensure that the 
commodity met the specifications and document in writing any changes that 
may have been made in the procurement process. If the item does not meet the 
contract requirements, notify the contractor immediately. Payment must be held 
from the contractor until all contract requirements are met.  


o For Services: 
 


 Verify the service procured is thoroughly completed. A detailed statement of 
work must be included as part of the contract so both the recipient and the 
contractor understand the contract terms. Complete any necessary paperwork 
and/or reporting. If the service does not meet the contract requirements, notify 
the contractor in writing as soon as there is deviation from the contract. Develop 
a plan to allow the contractor to achieve compliance with the contract. A 
payment made for a service indicates acceptance that the service met all 
contractual requirements. Payment must be held from the contractor until all 
contract requirements are met. 


 
6. MISCELLANEOUS TOOLS AND INFORMATION 
 
This section presents additional templates to be used in procurements to communicate information 
between the procuring agency, prospective bidders or proposers, and WisDOT. Note: Not all 
templates pertain to all procurements. The use of these templates are not specifically required by 
WisDOT.  
 
The templates are presented in the order shown below: 
 


 Procuring Agency and Contracting Officer 
 Request for Change or Approved Equal 
 Acknowledgment of Addenda 
 Offeror Service and Parts Support Data 
 Proposal Deviation 
 Pricing Schedule (provided to the procuring agency) 
 Offer  
 Award 







 


23 | P a g e  
 


 
Procuring Agency and Contracting Officer 


 
Applicability: This template is provided for your information as a suggested template.  Its use is not 
specifically required by WisDOT. 
 
Summary Description: The "Procuring Agency and Contracting Officer" template provides prospective offerors 
with important information regarding the procurement including the agency’s name, address, phone number, 
and the contact person or contracting officer.  This template describes the type and scope of the procurement, 
and gives dates for communications with the agency, including pre-bid/proposal conference and proposal/bid 
due dates. 
 
How to Use This Template: The procuring agency provides this information to offerors in the solicitation package 
and copies are kept in the agency's file for each procurement 
 
 


 
Proposal/Request Number:  


 
Procuring Agency  


Name of Contracting Officer  
Address  


Phone   
Email  


  


Scope 


Example--Procuring Agency requests proposals for the 
manufacture and delivery of transit buses/spare parts in 
accordance with the terms and conditions set forth below. 
The Contract shall be a firm-fixed price Contract. 
 


 
 


 
 


Solicitation Schedule 
 
 


The following is the solicitation schedule for Offerors: 
 


Pre-Proposal Conference  Insert Date and Time 
 


Offeror Communications Request 
 


 Due at least 15 days before proposal due 
date 
 


Proposal Due Date  Insert Date and Time 
 


 
 
Pre-Proposal Conference 
 


A pre-proposal conference will be held by the Procuring Agency at location following 
locations as specified in the “Solicitation Schedule”. 
 
 


Address of Pre-Proposal Conference 
 
 
 







 


24 | P a g e  
 


 
Request for Change or Approved Equal 


 
Applicability: This template is provided for your information as a suggested template.  Its use is not 
specifically required by WisDOT.  It is to be filled out by prospective offerors only if they need clarification of 
the solicitation specifications or if they want to request changes or substitutions in completing the bid/proposal 
package regarding the items being purchased. This template is identical for both the IFB and RFP procurement 
methods. 
 
Summary Description: Prospective offerors have until the time indicated in the "Solicitation Schedule" to request 
clarification of specifications or addenda items, or changes or substitutions of brand names in items being 
purchased by the agency. The requests must be made in writing on the attached template as far in advance of 
the proposal due date as possible, and made only to the "Contracting Officer" of the procuring agency. The 
requests must include technical data to support any changes in the solicitation package.  Verbal communication 
between the procuring agency and prospective offerors is to be done at the pre-bid/proposal conference. After 
that, all communication will be in writing only. 
 
How to Use This Template: This template is to be sent in the bid package by the procuring agency with the IFB 
or RFP numbers included on the template.  If prospective offerors submit the template to the procuring agency 
for changes or clarification, copies of the completed template must be kept in the procuring agency's file for 
each procurement. 
 
 


 
Proposal/Request Number:  


 
Offeror Agency Name  


Contact Person  
Phone  
Email  


 
  


Solicitation Reference  
Page  


Section  
Questions/Clarifications or 


Approval Equal 
 


 
 
Procuring Agency Response: 
 


Procuring Agency Response Indicate either Approved or Denied  


Comments 


 
 
 
 
 
 


  


Name of Contracting Officer  
 


Date:  
 







 


25 | P a g e  
 


 
 


 
Acknowledgment of Addenda 


 
Applicability: This template is included as a suggested template and is not specifically required by 
WisDOT. It is included in the solicitation package to prospective vendors. It should be signed by offerors and 
returned to the procuring agency to acknowledge any addenda to the bid or proposal specifications made by the 
procuring agency during the solicitation process. If an addendum is not acknowledged in writing on this 
template, the bid or RFP process may be considered nonresponsive and possibly rejected. This template is 
identical for both the IFB and RFP procurement methods. 
 
Summary Description: The procuring agency may modify the solicitation document at any time.  The 
"Acknowledgment of Addenda" template is a signed acknowledgment by the offeror that he/she has received 
any amendments made by the procuring agency. Changes made in the contract specifications will not be 
considered official unless they are made in writing by the procuring agency and acknowledged by the soliciting 
contractor on this template. The bid/proposal deadlines and bid opening dates may be affected by an addenda 
revision. The procuring agency may have to change the deadline to allow offerors time to revise their 
bids/proposals.  The final deadline and bid opening date should be at least five (5) days after the last 
addendum. 
 
How to Use This Template: Copies of this template returned by vendors must be kept in the procuring agency's 
procurement file for each procurement. 


 
 
 
 
 


The undersigned acknowledges receipt of the following addenda to the documents: 
 


 
Addendum No.   Date  
Addendum No.   Date  
Addendum No.   Date  
Addendum No.   Date  
Addendum No.   Date  


 
 
Offeror:  
 


Contact Person  
Address  


Phone  
Email  


  


Date  


Signature  
 


 
 
  







 


26 | P a g e  
 


Offeror Service and Parts Support Data 
 
Applicability: This template is included as a suggested template, not specifically required by WisDOT.  It 
should be filled out by all -prospective offerors as an informational piece for the procuring agency.  This template 
is identical for both the IFB and RFP procurement methods. 
 
Summary Description: This template is for prospective offerors to use in providing the procuring agency 
information regarding parts and services for the equipment to be purchased.  The offeror will name the 
representative responsible for assisting the procuring agency in the area of service, as well as providing a listing 
of the names and locations of the nearest distribution and service centers to the procuring agency for parts and 
repair services. 
 
How to Use This Template: Copies of completed templates must be kept in the procuring agency's file for each 
procurement. 
 
 
 
Location of nearest Technical Service Representative to Procuring Agency 
 


Name  
Address  


Phone  
Email  


Description of technical 
services available 


 


 
 
Location of nearest Parts Distribution Center to Procuring Agency 
 


Name  
Address  


Phone  
Email  


Description of Parts Available at 
Distribution Center 


 


 
 
Policy for delivery of parts and components to be purchased for service and maintenance 
 


Regular Method of Shipment  
 


Cost to Procuring Agency  
 


 
  







 


27 | P a g e  
 


 
 


Template for Proposal Deviation 
 
Applicability: This template is suggested, but not required, by WisDOT.  It is used by the offeror when 
submitting any deviations to the original proposal when using an RFP Procurement method. 
 


Summary Description: An offeror may submit to the procuring agency a proposal containing exceptions or 
alternative measures to the original procurement package with an explanation for each deviation and how it 
will meet the specifications. This alternative proposal will not be submitted in place of the original bid or 
proposal specifications, but in addition to it. For each alternative proposal, a Template for Proposal Deviation 
will be submitted along with a separate Price Schedule following Price Proposal Requirements. 


 
How to Use This Template:  
Copies of this template completed by the Contractor must be kept in the procuring agency's file for each 
procurement. The template shall be completed for each condition, exception, reservation or understanding 
(i.e., deviation) in the proposal. One copy without any price/cost information is to be placed in the technical 
proposal and a separate copy with any price/cost information placed in the price proposal. 


 
 


 
Proposal/Request Number  


 
Deviation Number  


 
 


Offeror Agency Name  
Contact Person  


Phone  
Email  


 
  


Solicitation Reference  
Page  


Section  


Complete Description of 
Deviation 


 
 
 
 
 
 


Rationale  
(Pros and Cons) 


 
 
 


 
  







 


28 | P a g e  
 


Pricing Schedule 
 
Applicability: This template is suggested, but not required, by WisDOT. It is to be filled out by all prospective 
offerors and provided in the bid/proposal to the procuring agency. This template is identical for both the IFB and 
RFP procurement methods. 
 
Summary Description: A breakout of the price of equipment of the goods and equipment being purchased must 
be provided by prospective offerors. The price schedule will include applicable local and state taxes as well as 
the delivery costs of the goods and services. The procuring agency may provide prospective offerors with a list 
of applicable local and state taxes for use in the price schedule. 
 
How to Use This Template: Copies of this completed template must be kept in the procuring agency's file for 
each procurement. 
 
 
 


Proposal/Request Number:  
 


Procuring Agency  
Name of Contracting Officer  


Address  
Phone   
Email  


 
 
Procuring Agency to insert Pricing Schedule developed in solicitation 
 


Pricing Schedule 
 


 
 







 


29 | P a g e  
 


Offer 
 
Applicability: This template is suggested but not required by WisDOT.  It is to be filled out by the offeror 
when submitting a proposal or bid to the procuring agency. This template is identical for both the IFB and RFP 
procurement methods. 
 
Summary Description: When this offer template is signed and submitted to the procuring agency, the 
proposing/bidding contractor offers to provide the goods and equipment specified in the solicitation documents. 
The proposing/bidding contractor also agrees, that if selected, it will execute the three templates 
(pre-award audit, post-delivery audit and overall federal regulation compliance) the procuring agency is 
required to send to WisDOT. 
 
How to Use This Template: This template is included in the solicitation package to prospective offerors with the 
procuring agency's name and IFB or RFP numbers inserted. Offers made on this template by offerors are to be 
kept in the files of the procuring agency's file for each procurement. 
 
 


 
Offeror Statement 
 
By execution below the Offeror hereby offers to furnish equipment and services as specified in the 
Proposal/Request number listed below. Offeror also certifies that, if selected, it will execute the (3) 
three templates required by WisDOT.  


 
Proposal/Request Number:  


 
Procuring Agency Name  


Contact Person  
Phone  
Email  


 
 
Offeror  
 


Contact Person  
Address  


Phone  
Email  


  


Date  


 
Signature 


 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


30 | P a g e  
 


Award 
 
Applicability: This template is suggested but not required by WisDOT.  It is to be signed by the procuring 
agency when accepting and offer by a vendor. This template is identical for both the IFB and RFP procurement 
methods. 
 
Summary Description: The formal acceptance of a vendor’s offer by the procuring agency is done by signing the 
Award template. The award is either delivered in person or mailed to the successful contractor. 
 
How To Use This Template: The signed Award Template must be kept in the files of the procuring agency's 
procurement file for each procurement. 
 
 
 
By execution below, the Procuring Agency accepts the offer of the Offeror.  


 
Proposal/Request Number:  


 
Date of Award:  


 
 
 


Procuring Agency  
 


Name of Contracting Officer  
 


Address  
 


Phone  
Email  


Signature of Contracting Officer 
 
 


 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


R10/28/2016 


Vehicle Disposal Guidelines  


WisDOT is responsible for approving the disposal of a subrecipient/organization’s federally funded transit assets.   
 


Federal rule allows the disposal of an asset which has not reached the end of its useful life, subject to prior WisDOT approval, 
under the following conditions: 
 


(1) it is no longer safe to transport passengers and cannot be repaired in a satisfactory manner 
(2) it is not in a safe operating condition and estimates for repairs are high in comparison to the value of the vehicle 
(3) the estimate for repairs considerably exceeds the value of the vehicle 


 


Step #1: Disposal Requests are processed through the BlackCat System.   
 
What you will need to do: 


• Open your organizations BlackCat Inventory 
• Select the vehicle you wish to dispose of 
• Fill in the “Condition” information - condition, mileage and mileage date  
• Scroll to the top of the page – hit “SAVE” 
• Then hit “Dispose”   - complete any information that is requested and then “SUBMIT” 


 
The BlackCat System will then send the Asset Manager an e-mail to approve the disposal request.   
Once the disposal has been approved the BlackCat System will email the person who submitted the disposal 
request with the approval and instruction.  
You MUST log back into BlackCat download your lien release.  


• Go to your agency inventory list 
• Click on “Dispositions” 
• Find the vehicle by the VIN, click on “VIEW” – at the bottom of that page you will find the lien 


release has been uploaded. 
 


Note: You must wait for WisDOT approval before proceeding to step 2!  
 


Step #2: Sell/Dispose the Vehicle Using a Public Sale Method 
 


Upon WisDOT approval of the subrecipient request, WisDOT sends an email to the Subrecipient granting 
approval to dispose the vehicle/equipment. For vehicles, WisDOT will send the subrecipient/organization the lien 
release receipt, which releases WisDOT’s interest in the vehicle.  
 


Vehicle disposal options vary and are dictated mainly by vehicle condition and local government preferences.  
The vehicle(s) must be sold using a public sale method. For instance, a vehicle may be offered for bid in a local 
public auction sponsored by the subrecipient or other licensed seller, or it may be advertised by soliciting bids in 
a local newspaper.  If the vehicle has been involved in a collision and has been declared a total loss, it may have 
to be sold as scrap. Using retired vehicles as ‘back-up’ or selling to a preferred party is not allowed. 
 


Step #3: After completion of Steps #1 and Steps #2, the subrecipient will log onto BlackCat to complete the vehicle 
disposal process.  
 


• Go to your agency inventory list 
• You will need to Click on “Dispositions” 
• Find the vehicle click on “VIEW” 
• Complete the Disposal Completion items. Disposal date, Disposal Method, Disposition Mileage, Sold 


to, Proceeds Amount, and Proceeds Use.   
• “SUBMIT” 


Please note:  If the disposed asset has a fair market value of $5,000 or more, the Federal share of the proceeds must be 
returned to FTA via WisDOT. This will be 80% of the total proceeds from the sale of each vehicle; the payment will be made 
through a reduction in your next reimbursement request for your next new vehicle.   


 


Step #4: Maintain records of the asset disposal and proceeds use for at least three (3) year.  
  







 


R10/28/2016 


 


 


Useful Life Standards 
 
Useful life of rolling stock begins on the date the vehicle is placed in revenue service and continues until it is removed 
from revenue service. The useful life in miles refers to total miles in revenue transit service; non-revenue miles do not 
count towards useful life. Depending on the funding program, minimum useful life for buses, vans, and trolleys is 
determined by years of service and/or accumulation of miles. 
 


Vehicles  
 


Public Transit Vehicles (5311, 5316) 
 


Vehicle Type Useful Life 
Vans, autos, station wagons,  
body-on-chassis buses 


100,000 miles 


Small heavy-duty single unit transit buses  
(up to 35') 


10 years 


Heavy-duty single unit transit buses 
 (35' to 40') 


12 years 


 


Specialized Vehicles (5310, 5317, 5339) 
 


Vehicle Type Useful Life 
Other light-duty vehicles 
(small buses, regular or specialized vans) 


4 years or 100,000 miles 


Medium, light-duty transit buses  
(approximately 25’-35’) 


5 years or 150,000 miles 


Medium, medium-duty transit buses 
(approximately 30’) 


7 years or 200,000 miles 


Medium heavy-duty transit buses  
(approximately 30’) 


10 years or 350,000 miles 


Large heavy-duty transit buses  
(approximately 35’-40’, and articulated buses) 


12 years or 500,000 miles 


 





		10a-R-6-2019 - Adopting WisDOT Procurement and Vehicle Disposition Guidelines.pdf

		10b-WisDOT Procument Policy.pdf

		1. Overview OF PROCUREMENT REQUIREMENTS

		1.1 General Requirements

		1.2 FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS



		2.  RECIPIENT PROCUREMENT PROCESS DETAILS

		2.1  To do before procurement Process

		Determine the Scope of the Procurement

		Identify Who Needs to be Involved

		Plan the Procurement Process

		Decide the Method of Procurement



		2.1 PROCUREMENT PACKET PREPARATION

		3. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (DBE) REQUIREMENTS

		4. REQUIRED FEDERAL CONTRACT CLAUSES





		10c-WisDOT Vehicle Disposal Guidelines.pdf



